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INTRODUCTION

-If I were asked why I had decided to write my Memoirs I would say for
two main reasons. Firstly I did actually have quite an interesting time in
the Royal Navy and thought an account might possi®ly interest my family as
well as some friends. Secondly I was spurred on by my wife, Una, to write
down some of the more interesting parts of my life. Apart from my Midshipman's
Journal I have never kept a diary. I have, however, throughout my life, kept
rhotographs and these have aroused my memory. Coupled with these I have had
a nﬁmber of Shib's Magazines such as H.M,S.Tenacious ~ Her Story, Horizons,
the Journal of H.M.S.Newfoundland, H.M,.S.Trafalgar, and "N' Class, a magazine
ﬁ£oduced aft;r the war about the Australian '"N" Class Destroyers, to which

I am indebted.

I am grateful to many who have helped me to produce these Memoirs.
In particular I must mention Miss Fay Gordon Hill who not only typed the main
draft but also made some sensihle suggestions. She has been a great help to
ve. The comments of Peter Colclough, now a close Australian friend, who served
with me in “oth the Australian destroyers Nestor and Norman, were invaluable.
Ted Tooley who was with me in the Walpole also was very helpful. Miss Claire

Norman kindly agreed to produce the necessary prints of the photos for which

I an so grateful.

These Memoirs are dedicated to my two sons Patrick and Roger and

their families,

George Crowley



CHAPTER I

A CLOSE SHKHAVE

The story goes that the casualties in the First World War were so
great that my Mother and Father, who already had four children, decided
that they should have anpother child and 50, on the Gth of June 1316 at
15 South Park Hill Roag; I was born. Thus I was the youngest of five and
oy brother John who was pearest to me in age was about four years my senior.
The house, I have since discovered, was one of the ugliest Victorian horrors
in existence., Try as I will I do not remember much of my early life but
I can, however, recall being sent to a kindergarten two doors down from
my home and, what was far worse, on my first day getting lost on the way back.
I shall always remember too, Chan, our dear old Nurse who was with us for
years and years. Her real name was Camkin and she had a sweet sister callcd
Mrs. White who lived somewhere near the Zoo. My Father was a brewer who wrs
in partnership with his brother Cyril and my Grandfather who also lived
in Croydon. This was a family business and had been so for a very long
time, I think I was always a bit frightened of my Grandfather Crowley
and really preferred my Mother's father, Grandfather Hooke., I always
remember my own Father telling me that Grandad Hooke called a meeting at
Birdhurst where he lived, to tell his relations that he had decided to
marry again, his first wife having died some years previously. He said
he was now going to marry Miss May Bird. Uncle Joseph, who was really
rather funny as well as being clever, whispered to my father '"This has
really knocked me off my perch" whereupon there was a great gust of raucous
mirth and the more they laughed the worse it became. Everyone I am sure
wondered what all this hilority was about. All the relations wondered
what on earth would now happen to Birdhurst but in fact she was the nicest
possible person and everything went on just the same. Though she was my

step-grandmother she was onc of the sweetest people I ever knew.

At 15 South Park Hill we used to have a Christmas tree every year and
theoretically the present on the top of the tree was given to each of the
children in turn. I can always remember waiting year ofter year for ay

turn, but, strange to say, I cannot recall ever having it.

Though I was bornm in June in 1916 there was, I suppose, the
inevitable problem of who were going to be my godparents. It was decided
to ask Cyril, my uncle, and George Dibden, always known as Teddy, both of

whom had heon in the territorials with my Father in the Qucens at Croydon.



CHAPTER I

A CLOSE SHAVE

The story goes that the casualties in the First World War were 50
great that my Mother and Father, who already ﬁad four children, decided
that they should have another child and so, on the 9th of June 1916 at
15 South Park Hill Road, I was born. Thus I was the youngest of five and
my brofher John who was nearest to me in age was about four years my senior.
The house, I have since discovered, was one of the ugliest Victorian horrors
in existence, Try as I will I do not remember much of my early life but
I can, however, recall being sent to a kindergarten two doors down from
my home and, what was far worse, on my first day getting lost on the way back.
I shall always remember too, Chan, our dear old Nurse who was with us for
years'and years. Her real name was Camkin and she had a sweet sister callcd
Mrs, White who lived-somewhere near the Zoo. My Father was a brewer who w-s
in partnership with his brother Cyril and my Grandfather who also lived
in Croydon. This was a family business and had been so for a very long
time, I think I was always a bit frightened of my Grandfather Crowley
and really preferred my Mother's father, Grandfather Hooke. I always
remember my own Father telling me that Grandad Hooke called a meeting at
Birdhurst where he lived, to tell his relations that he had decided to
marry again, his first wife having died some years previously. He said
he'was now going to marry Miss May Bird., Uncle Joseph, who was really
rathér funny as well as being clever, whispered to my father "This has
really knocked me off my perch" whereupon there was a great gust of raucous
mirth and the more they laughed fhe worse it became. Everyone I am sure
wondered what all this hilarity was about. All the relations wondered
what on earth would now happen to Birdhurst but in fact she was the nicest
possible person and everything went on just the same. Though she was my

step~grandmother she wes onc of the sweetest people I ever knew.

At 15 South Park Hill we used to have a Christmas tree every year and
theoretically the present on the top of the tree was given to each of the
children in turn. I can always remember waiting year after year for my

turn, but, strange to say, I cannot recall ever having it.

Though I was born in June in 1916 there was, I suppose, the
inevitable problem of who were going to be my godparents. It was decided
to ask Cyril, oy uncle, and George Dibden, always known as Teddy, both of

whon had been in the territorisls with my Father in the Qucens at Croydon.
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They were now both in the Middle East and 2 telegram was sent to which the
reply came back, "Bob delighted, which was correctly interpreted as "Both
delighted”. It was not long after this that Cyril was killed. Thia was a
sad hlow as he was the one in tﬁe Crowley family who was a go-getter and

I relieve that if he had lived the Prewery would never have heen sold. What
actually occurred was that as the war went on it hecame more and more
difficult to get transport to move the reer to the pubs. Another brewery,
Fremlins I telieve, proposed that they should deliver their beer to some of
our pubs if we did the same to some of theirs thereby cutting down the
transport problems. After a good deal of discussion my Father and Grandfather
decided to sell. This was not only sad but really rather silly as no
provision was made for either my Father, or any of his sons, to have access

to becoming a director.

I think I must have been about six or seven when we heard we were going
to move to Hartfield in Sussex. By this time my parents had bought a motor
car, a Morris Cowley, and they were both taking driving lessons from
Mr. Wadham, John and I used to sit in the back seat and it was not too long
before we both knew quite a lot ahout driving. Soon we paid our first visit
to our new house, Cotchford Wood, which was quite attractive and fairly large.
It had a big sitting room, quite a reasonably sized dining room, as far away
from the kitchen as it was possible to be and two smaller rooms. One was
allocated as a study for my parents and the other was a nursery. There was
also & good sized kitchen with a pantry, scullery and larder all leading out
of it. Upstairs there was a nice bedroom for my parents, a reasonable room
for Ghan, two double bedrooms, quite a nice single room for my sister plus
a room at the back with a bathroom and tiny dressing room 2longside. The
garden was, to my mind, large enough being two acres with two acres of
woodland. We looked out towards the South and could see Gills Lap in Ashdown
Forest most clearly. Cotchford Wood was a mile and a half out of the village,
down a small not very well made up private road. There were originally not
many houses in this private road and we loved it. We all went to different
schools. Mary went to Woodford in Croydon and was at school with Dorothy
Cox, who later became Diana Winyard, and Peggy Ashcroft. Peter went to
Blundells which I do not think he liked all that much; Michael went to
Easthourne College and John to Fradfield. Both Peter and Michael were good
at games but John, to be honest, was less good. On the other hand he had the
beat education of us all, finally going to St.John's College Camhridge to

read modern languages.



John and I were sent to Eversley at Tunbridge Wells. This meant
bieycling, largely down hill, to catch the 8.31 train and then walking from
Tunbridge Wells West to Frant Road which took ten minutes. We would catch
the 6,10 back and then-have the tedious and exhausting problem of biking up
hill all the way home. Not too bad in the summer tut ghastly in winter and
even worse if one had not remembered to refill the carhide bicycle lamp.

I rememher once tiking up the first hill and, in order to make the climb
easier, I started to zig-zag across the road; down came a working man on a
bike and he ran straight into me. I was knocked out and woke up in bed at
Cotchford Wood; furthermore I was entirely to blame. My Father paid for the
repairs to his bike and as far as I know that was the end of this stupid
episode.

When I first went to Eversley the headmaster was Mr.Hill who had a
Norwegian wife. In those days X stammered_a bit. After each meal a boy was
called on to say the Latin grace and, althoﬁgh I always looked away, I never
got away with it. The worst thing was that because I was nervous this tended
to make me stutter more than usual. It was not too long after I first went
to Eversley that we heard that the Hills were leaving and in due course Stéphen
Goldring took over as Headmaster with his wife Joan, He was a much younger
man of about twenty-eight or twenty-nine. The school was small and existed in
two houses, Eversley and Beverley, and though I do not think I was taught very
well I did enjoy this Bchool very much. There was a very nice master called
Mr.Mathews who was a superh hockey player of almost international standard
and also a very good boxer. The two forms of sport I have always enjoyed most
have been hockey and boxing., I remember not too long after coming to Eversley
when I was changing from my outdoor to my indoor shoes I was suddenly attacked
by a boy called Molesworth, This fight was soon stopped. However, in the
break Molesworth and I were told to go up to the top room and put on boxing
gloves and then told to box it out, I was s0 angry that I practically slew
Molesworth. I learnt later that a senlor boy had persuaded him to attack me.

In due course it became clear that I wanted to join the Navy, Though
I have frequently been asked why, it is in fact a difficult question to answer.
We lived in the country well away from the sea and, apart possibly froam the
odd Navy Days at Chatham, we had very little contact with ships at all. I do
hovever remeaber the "Dick Valiant" series of books. These were all about a
young chap called Dick Valiant and how he joined the Navy and all the
terrifying and exciting things that happened to him. It is always possible




in a curious way, that becouse I was born due to the casualties in the First
World War, this had some sort of effect on me. 1In due course I went to London
for the interview for Dartmouth and passed and later went hack for the exam
which, if I passed, would mean I would go to Dartmouth. I did not pass -

I failed. After a lot of discussion it was decided that I should go to the
Nautical College Pangbourne. I believe the secretary to the owner, Sir Thomas
Devitt, was a friend of my Mother, I was supposéd to have an interview but

this never in fact took place.

Pangbourne was a Nautical College started by Sir Thomas Devitt I think
about 1917 and was basically to train boys for the Merchant Navy although there
were opportunities to get a Navy nomination at about the age of seventeen
and a half and this was the object of my going there. During my time we all
wore the usual cadet's uniform except that we had a dark blue tab on the
lapels of our collars while the Dartmouth product had white tabs. Looking N
back over many years I am extremely grateful to Pangbourne. It ftaught me to
do as I was told; encouraged us to have good manners and helped us to be
sportsmen. Ve all had special lockers for our clothes and we all had to make
our own hunks; not only that, if the bunks were poorly made we were punished.
What it did for me was to teach me to look after myself. Once I had a minor
complaint and had to spend a few days in the Sick Day in a ward with some
more senior cadets. I never was a great singer and when I was invited to sing
at some stage the results were disastrous. "Sing God Save The King'" they cried.
You must believe me when I tell you that I could not even do that., This
resulted in my being taught to do so and it would be quite true, I think, to

say that I can now sing it quite well.

In due course I was confirmed and the preparation feor my confirmation
was extremely well done. I can always remember that the priest who prepared
us said to me one day, "You know, Crowley, what you have got to remember
through life is to be loyal'. I am not sure that I was in those days a very
loyal person so this warning has been a great help to me. As far as gares
are concerned I played for the first eleven in hockey, the second eleven in
cricket and the third fifteen in rugger. Probably my real strength lay in
Yoxing at which I was very cood. I used to go down to the gym most evenings
in order to practise. Later on I also took up fencing and became quite good
at that too. I was in Farbinger Division, probably the one division I would

never have chosen, but despite this I enjoyed it very well. We used to have



a2 whalers rowing race every spring term and the Chief Cadet Captain, Adsworth-
Jones, was determined that we in Harbinger should win. We practised and
practised and because our morale was high we did well. I was the bowman and

we not only won bhut romped home miles ahead of all and sundry.

T mentioned earlier about the Chaplain reminding me of the importance
of loyalty and I said that perhaps I had not always been as loyal as I ought
to have been. When I was a Cadet Captain I had a habit of criticising others
including some of the Chief Cadet Captains. I was severely hauled over the
coals by the Chiefs and, on reflection, rightly so. In order to obtain a
Navy Nomination the entrance consisted of an interview followed by an
examination. The interview carried a lot of marks and one of the methods of
improving oneself was to attend interview practices, These were arranged by
the Executive Officer, Commander Jackie Blair, together with all those likely
to take the interview. Thef-were extremely helpful as, after a duﬁmy run,
you were told what you did poorly and thus by degrees could improve. It was
an extraordinary thing becouse I failed the first exam having had good marks
for the interview. My birthday was such that I was allowed one more shot and,
being so keen to get into the Navy, I took it and believe it or not I actually
passed in bottom. The really extraordinary thing was that David Forbes, much
hrighter than I, failed. Wis father was dead but his mother asked the
fAdmiralty for a copy of all the marks and when these arrived checked them
discovering to her delight that they had been added up incorrectly and that
David should have had a further two hundred marks. She had this corroborated
by her neighbours and then wrote to the Admiralty pointing out their error
and asking for a Navy Nomination for her son. This, of course, was granted
her byt I often wonder what would have happened to me if someone had not made

this clerical error. It was indeed a Close Shave.

I had passed into the Navy by inches after my third shot and was I
pleased... So in due course I caught the appropriate train to Chatham all
dressed up in my brand new uniforn. People have often said to me that if you
enter one of the services as an officer it is dead easy compared with entering
as a rating. T doubSt this and especially as a result of my own experience in
the Navy. Almost before the train had stopped at Chatham there was a bellow
from the Cadet Cunner, Mr.Gridhon, "Get moving, get your trunks out, don't
dawdle, hurry up'". Vvefore we knew what had hit us we were dou%vling here there
and everywhere, lugging our trunks out, and heaving them into a waiting paval

lorry. No taxis for us as we had to pile into the same vehicle.




It was blatantly clear that by the time we had arrived on board H.M.S.
Frobisher, the Training Cruiser, life was not going to be all that easy and

it certainly was not., We did three cruises in that ship, one to the
Mediterranean, one to the West Indies and one to Scandipavia. We had to turn
out every morning except Sundays at 5.30 a.m. and scrub decks for one hour
starting at 6 a.m., On Fridays, the worst day of the week, we had to gét down
on our hands and knees and holystone the decks, and on Sundays we had to turn
to at .30 a.m. to mop down the decks. Another thing we had to do was to live
on a Froadside Mess and one of us was detailed off daily as '"Cook of the Mess"
which meant he had to lay up, clear away and finally sweep up after the meal.
If this was poorly done then he was for the high jump. We were thus living in

very similar conditions to the sailors at the other end of the ship.

During my year in Frobisher I learnt everything a sailor had to do and
when I left I knew it all. I could splice,rope, wire, row, sail, deal with
anchors and cables, climb the masts, scrub decks, work in the engine room and
goodness knows what. In this fraining ship there were those who joined from
public and grammar schools and those from Dartmouth and, though I suppose it
was logical, there was always a battle between the Pubs and the Darts.
Invariably the Pubs won simply because we were much keener than the Darts who

had been doing naval instruction ever since they were thirteen years old.

The cruises were fun. Though we were supposed to have shore leave
expiring at 7 p.m. in the evening there were exceptions and, when at
Alexandria, we were allowed to have three days in Cairo. I went and stayed,
I think, at the Mena House Hotel. We saw the great Pyramids, the Sphinx and
the wonderful Museum. We also saw at least one night club. The cost of the
hotel was, as far as I know, paid for by our parents. When we went to
Stockholm we were all given leave to 11.30 p.m. I went with some others to a
restaurant where we had a rattling good meal and then weat on to the Tivoli
Gardens which was really super fun. We did have so much fun that I have never
forgotten this wonderful evening. In the West Indies I cannot remember any
special late leave that we were given. I do however remember the rmost

wonderful swimming in the most glorious hot weather.

Looking through my photograph altum of my group with whou I joined the
Frohisher the casualties in the war were substantial. Many lost their lives
in suhmarines, somc perished in destroyers, Godfrey Style lost an ara and soze

did not get *eyond the rank of Licutenant Commander. Against this, a number
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reached the rank of Captain but, apart from a Canadian, I think I was the only
one to reach Flag Rank. There was however one exception and that was a Bengali
called Chatterji. We all nicknamed him "Chatterbox' and he finally finished
up as Head of the Indian Navy.

Probably due to the fact that I had written to Admiral Henderson, whose
son Tan was with me at Pangbourne, I was appointed to H.M.S.Berwick, due to
sail for the Far East in three months' time. There is, as you probahly know,
no peace for the wicked h“ecause in the meantime three or four of us were sent
to H.M.S.Parham, She was one of those great big hattlewagons and I was not
over thrilled at the thought of two months in this great ship. We joined and
found we were in the Gun Room with a very large number of midshipmen. For the
first time I discovered that senior midshipmen could be és beastly to their
juniors as anyone else. I gathered that, on the cruise before I joined, the
senior mids damn nearly killed a junior mid by hoisting him up the mainmast on
a sort of lanyard afféir. I did not care for the sub-lieutenant but I did like
the paymaster sub-lieutenant called Stanning. In those days it was customary
for the Captain of these great ships to have the midshipmen to breakfast and
in due course two of us were invited., In fact it was really guite a pleasant
occasion, When at Invergordon one of the steam pickets under a Senior Mid
made a bad error going alongside the jetty and drove such a large hole in the
side that it sank. Some of the stories I relate sound a bit absurd but when
they sent in the second steam picket boat it made an equally silly manoeuvre
and sank alongside the first ome. We all then had to write in our journals
how to save the day. It was in this ship that I first encountered "Dogs of
War, One day in the Gun Room the cry went up "Dogs of War - out Jason\"

This was a means of ousting someone from the mess for one reason or another.

At this cry everybody was supposed to mass round Jason and literally chuck

him out of the Gun Room., Needless to say the Jasons of this world resisted

to the very best of their ability. It seemed to me that a person removed unde-

this arrangement often got quite severely hurt.

Joining the Berwick at Devonport was a very different affair. She was a
County Class Cruiser of around ten thousand tons and so, in comparison with
the Barham, was tmuch smaller. The Gun Room too was small and we oaly had
eight seamen midshipzen anc one, or was it two, paymaster midshipmen. The
sub lieutenant was a very nice young man called Alexander Sinclair and later
we also had another called Henley. Life on board compared with the Barhaa

was, as far as I was concerned, almost like Heaven. We had Chinese cooks and

Lty



stewards who were really excellent and though they probably made some money
out of us they did in fact feed and serve us well. The captain of the Rerwick
was Eric Ritchie Pent who was & pleasant man and also a keen games player.

The commander called Cather was, or looked, elderly and was, I believe, a torp. o
and anti-submarine expert. As I think I said previously I always wanted to
join the Navy and, though I was to a certain extent halted in my tracks, it
was crystal clear that Berwick, for me at any rate, was going to be right up
my street, We sailed from Devonport and made our way towards Gibraltar.

In those days all midshipmen had to keep a journal which had to be presented
to the '"Snotties' Nurse'" about once a fortnight I think. In this journal we
had to recount what we had done, with special emphasis on the ship and our
part in it. Looking through my journal for this period I see that I had
included'ﬁany plans of places we visited, examples of certain facets of

seamanship and pictures or even photographs of foreign ships and so forth.

Though many men, even the great Nelson, suffer dreadfully from sea
sickness and the majority of my group suffered lixewise, I have never ever
been seasick. It was the same story as we sped southwarda towards Gibraltar,
the majority of the Gun Room was far from well. Though the movement of a ship,
I suppose, has a direct effect on how you feel, I always believe that smells
such as cooking and fuel oil have a great tendeucy to make one seasick. We
only had a short stay at Gibraltar, a place I have always liked. There is, or
was in those days, plenty to buy at a fairly cheap rate and hundreds of cafes
and bars, There were three clubs; one for the officers of wardroom rank;
one for the Warrant Officers and one for the Gun Room. They were nicknamed
NOP (Naval Officers Pavilion), WOP (Warrant Officers Pavilion) and GOP (Gun
Room Officers Pavilion). In all these clubs there were facilitieg for eating,
drinking, changing and, I suppose, resting. I have never been very lucky at
gambling but I do remember one of those machines into which you put money,
twist some knobs and either you get nothing at all or a small pay out but,
once in a blue moon, the machine throws out every penny it has. We were
playing with one of these machines and I was the chap involved when the lights
went out to indicate that the Club was about to close. I put in my last coin,
twiddled a knob, and believe it or not the machine spouted out the lot. Was I
lucky, or dare I say fai‘ly lucky, as &1l my friends then sald I was to buy
them all a drink on the way back.

The seamen mids were all attached to a Division in the ship and to a

certain extent we came under the Divisiopal Officer. I was attached to the



Foretop and my immediate senior was a lieutenant called Hopkins. He was very
kind to me and I liked him very much. He gave me a book when I left two years
later. We steamed out of the Mediterranean and through the Suez Canal having
spené-a lot in Alexandfia; on through the Red Sea and believe me it was hot -
I thought I would expire. The one or two small naval sloops stationed in the
Red Sea had a special evening rig called, strangely enough, "Red Sea Rig'.
This was a white open necked shirt, blue trousers and a black cummerbund.

Then a short stay in Aden and on to Colombo where we stayed long enough to
play some hockey and tennis. It was not too long before we arrived at
Singaporeé. This really is an Eastern city where the shops are full of "mpot
too good" bargains. Here we all played games, all went shopping and some of
us penetrated some of the less ordinary places. I always remember one of the
senior mids having a meal in some posh restaurant and all he had to do was to
sign a chit., He said after we left Singapore that he had got away without
paying a sou. He goﬁ a very nasty shock because some months later when we
came back there was a caller who demanded the money then and there or he would
go and Bee the captain. Eventually we were off to ﬁong Kong. Now we were
really on the China Station and most of us weré very excited about it. We
arrived off Hong Kong and passed through the Lymun Strait into the harbour.
The flagship was H.M.S.Kent; another County Ciass cruiser; and the Commander-~
in-Chief China Station was Admiral Sir Frederick Dreyer, a tall, highly
efficient and rather frightening man. Years later, when working for his son
also an admiral, I said to him, "You know, I was a midshipman on the China
Station when your father was Commander-in-Chief and we were scared stiff of

him". He replied, "I bet you were not as scared of him as we were."

A midshipman in my day did two years and four months of which three months
or so should if possible be spent in a destroyer. It was in a way a strange
life because though under instruction you were also an officer. This meant
that there were times when you were actually being taught and then times when
you were in charge of a team of sailors. The more senior you hecame the greater
the responsibility you were given. Instruction fell really into two parts.
There was the academic side when we did so many hours a week with an Instructor
Officer who would teach us physics, a language and ships' construction froo
the theoretical point of view. The object of this was to ensure that we would
not be too rusty when we went to Greenwich, the aim of which was to bring us
vack to reality and instruct us in all these subjects. It also included a
short War Course, covering staff work, lectures and discussions. The other

part of our instruction was levelled at the professioral side of our duties.
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We would spend a certain amount of time with the Gunnery Officer, Torpedo
Officer, Navigator and Signals QOfficer. We would also do a few weeks in ths
Engine Room. There we would do pipe tracing and clean the boilers, a ghastly
joh, at any rate as far as I was concerned. We would spend a period in each
main part of the Engine Room Department and learn how to operate the
manceuvring valves etc, It taught us to appreciate just what the engine rocx
staff had to do when given orders from the bridge. Instruction meznt that we
would have to run motor boats, sail whalers, work on the forecastle and tals
part in the many duties that came under the heading of General Drill. An
important part of a midshipman's training was learning the duties of the
Officer of the Watch at sea and in harbour. He was required to understudy Soe
Officer of the Watch at sea and learn how to keep station, follow in the wal=
of the next ahead and be able to move the ship as required by manceuvring
signals, During his time as a midshipman he had to learn how to navigaic vl
ship both out of sight of land aé.well as when coasting. This meant that Lo
hod to take sun, moon and star sights accurately and satisfy the authorifiase
that he could, unaided, fix the ship accurately. Likewvise in harbour re -.az
expected to learn his duties including investigating offences and dealing
with emergencies such as fire, weather and so forth. This really would ke ni-
last chance to learn these duties and yet still be under instruction. Fununii:
enough a midshipman of the watch in harbour could be quite useful. Tre Signal
Officer of the Kent made a signal to a Sub-lieutenant in another cruisasr tc
this effect "To Sub-lieutenant Smith from C-in-C China Fleet: Repair on loure
at 0900 tomorrow Wednesday. Dress frock ccat and sword". The great pian wox
that the Signal Officer in Kent would be the Officer of the Day and ke wuas
going to have the laugh on the frock coated Sub-lieutenant. Alas, the Corziiic
came up and took the Officer of the Watch away. The keen midshirman on viio
tookk the froclk coated Sub-lieutenant down to the Admiral who was not plenscc

The Signal Officer had his leave stopped for six weeks.

Reverting back to our arrival at Hong Kong. All ships entering the inntro
harbour had to pass through Lymun Pass. This was a narrow entrance with gui-:
steep rocky slopes on each side. From the Pass inwards there scemed to te
nothing but junks, sampans and other water craft woving in all directicns.
Trade, irrespective of what the relations were tetween the Chinese and Mriton:
governments, continued by sca between China and Hong Kong and vice versa.

The mozent we had secured the ship was wore or less invaded by Chinese. v -
were looking for their friends and relations and possibly some hoping to

collect items bought in the so-called "rici West. It took some tize t¢ jut



- M -

things more or less straight. Finally, I gathered, the Commander gave
authority for a few firms to trade on board thereby exerting some form of
control. One of the extraordinary things that would occur was when we were
bound for other ports up north in China, including Weihaiwei, the number of
Chinese would increase substantially and believe me it was difficult to control

the import of people.

We had, like the Wardroom and the Warrant Officers' Mess, Chinese cooks
and stewards., The Gun Room Mess Head Steward was Ah Ling, rather fat with a
large and cheerful grin on his face. Then we had Wong Tai, the Leading
Steward, equally cheerful, Wongz Tai looked after the wine and kept a record
of what we all consumed. Then there was Fok Ai who I suppose was a Steward.
‘He was rather thir and wizened but quite nice. I cannot remember now the names
of the two cooks. These were what I would term the Official Chinese, but as .
they all seemed to have their wingers or ''makey-learny" it was not too easy

to know how many Chinese there were working for us.

Our pay as midshipmen was five shillings a day or seven pounds odd a month.
Cut of that we had to pay our mess bill and our wine bill which was restricted
to fifteen shillings a month. I suppose our mess bill would run to about
four or five pounds a month. I was really very lucky because my father gave
me forty eight pounds a year which was credited to the Hong Kong and Shanghai
Bank. This was really spending moncy. I forgot to say that, over and above
our five shillings a day, there were a few allowances such as Tropical
Allowance which might give us another one pound ten shillings or one pound
and fifty pence in new money. At least one midshipman, who was the son of a
priest, had as far as I know no money from his family at all. This meant that
he was invariably short. Later in the war he was killed in a destroyer in the

Mediterranean.

The China Fleet consisted in my day of about eight or nine cruisers, two
carriers, two and sometimes three flotillas of destroyers, and a host of
sloops. In addition there were & number of submarines and a depot ship.

In the Yangtse and West rivers there were quite a nunber of gunboats waich
were responsible for policing these rivers..In the Yangtse there was also a
Flag Officer Gun Boats complete with staff. These small vessels usually had

three officers - a captain who was norzally either a senior Lieutenant or
Lieutenant-Commander, a First Licutenant and a Doctor. I have always gathered
that they really rather liked their role. In addition we always kept n Bloop_
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at Weihaiwei throughout the winter and in mid winter it would be frozen in.

I understood that this job was pretty popular too.

Briefly, we would be in the scouth during the winter months and sometimes
we would be iucky enough to get down to Australia. When it began to get hot
we would move northwards calling at many ports on the way until we finally
arrived at Weihaiwei. There we would have our rowing regatta and also have
a concentrated period of exercises., From Weihaiwei some ships might go further
north, others could go to Japan, that is if relations were satisfactory. Let
me first tell you about Shanghai. This great city lies on the Wang Po ﬁhich
is off the Yangtee and it is quite exciting going up this mighty river. From
the seaward side it is possible to see the mud from the river forty or more
miles out. In those days pilots were essential. Evidently only the pilot
would know the exact state of the river and all the way up there would be many
junks, large sampans as well as quite a number of steam ships leaving the river.
One could see trees, people fishing and many living on board their junks.

As we turned into the Wang Po the ebb or flood tide was very strong. Great
care had to be taken to arrive at Shanghai at slack water so that it was easy
to turn round to face to seaward. All the way up you would see a large number
of bodies floating down stream. So many people lived afloat, living was hard
and so the death rate was enormous. On arrival we steamed past all the
warships present. These included Chinese, Japanese, American, Portuguese,
Italian, French and British. A little beyond the main mooring point there

was space to turn, which we did as quickly as possible. Then we made our way
dowﬁ towards our berth. Here we secured to head and stern buoys. The aim

of course was to do all this before the tide turned and we suffered from the
effect of the flood or ebb which was very substantial indeed. Shanghai was in
those days an international city where there was great wealth and prosperity
alongside dire poverty. There was a British part, French section and American
area and so on. There was nothing you could not buy if you had the money.

One could travel by taxi, rickshaw or walk. Nearly all the rickshaws were
pulled by men who, I understood, never lived to a great age. We were young
and used to have rickshaw races which, on reflection, could not have been very
pleasant for the '"puller'",

We used to remain about six weeks at Shanghai before we were relieved by
another warship. As midshipmen we used to look at the shops and occasionally
buy sooething. In the evenings we went to some form of night clud, and in some

of them you paid a small fee to dance with a Chinese girl. I remember on onc
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occasion having moored up the motor boat I climbed down the toom, got & sampan
and went ashore to some night haunt or other. To nmy horror whom did I see Lut
the Gunnery Officer, but he merely said "Good evening'. Alas, in the morning
I was sent for and my‘leave was stopped for a week. Colours in the morning
was a pretty exhausting affair, as not only did the Royal Marine Pand play
"God Save the King" but also all the other national anthems of all the foreign
warships present. Thus we were at the salute for quite a long time and were

pretty worn out by the time the “"Carry on'" was sounded.

After leaving Shanghai we went up the Yangtse to Nanking where we stayad
for a few days. Three of us went sacoting which meant we had to grease our
feet to make sure we did not get one of the many terrible dis2ases. I cannot
now remembef how many snipe we shot when our varty was rudely interrupted by
three Chinese who said we had shot one of their friends. Having looked at the
body it was more than clear that he had been dead for several days. The story
of our visit to China would not be complete if I did not meniion Weihaiwei.
This was further up north from the Yangtse and not too far from the peninsula
jutting out eastwards from the area of Shantung. It was a small island and was
well fitted out with games facilities. There was a club for the officers ani
one for the troops as well. There wac a small hotel, a golf course and many
other countryside attractions. It was the one place where we were allowed to
eat strawherries as they did not usc human manure here. Ve loved it. One day
when we were weighing anchor we found that we had picked up the anchor lost
many years previously. I always rementer leaving my Rolex watch to be rapaired
when we were despatched at onc2 to the Mediterranzan for the Abyssi-ian War.

A year later when baclt at Weihaiuei I went to collect it and there it was
waiting for me. We moved westwzrds a% high speed refuelling at various places;
then up through the Suez Canal, 2nd finadly to rest at Alexandria which had
incidentally only one entrance. We loved Alex as it was not too exgensive,

we were members of the two clubs and there wore good games Tacilities,
furthermore meals were not too expensive, We exercised froa tice to tine bat
inevitably spent a lot of time in hirbour. Finally we were recleased and back

we went to China.

As the end of our two years and four conths approached we had to take
the dreaded Seacanship examination. Ye were exazined by a Poard who had
nothing to do with our ship and there were many subjects. In due course it
was over at last, Only two rirst Class Certificates werc gaired, onme bty
Ronald David and onc by mysclf. Before this a few of us had applied to trevel
back homa by the Trars-Siberian Railway. The Commander-in-Chief referred this
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to the Admiralty who said this would be inopportune so we all went back in

H.M.S.Kent which was very similar to the Berwick.

We arrived safely in.the United Kingdom and all went on leave, Meanwhile
we got our uniforms changed and a gorgeous gold ring put on our sleeves. The
courses consisted of about six months at the Royal Maval College at Greenwich.
Héré one did instruction in such things as ship construction, English, Naval
History, Physics and, of course, the Junior Officers' War Course. This course
was really excellent as it taught us to think. Not only did we have some first
class lectures about the world situation but we also had a lot of problems
to solve, Some were of the kind when after the question had been asked you had
to give your views in two minutes, later explaining the reasons for your
decision. Others were far more complicated than that and required much thought
and study. It was really an introduction to a'baby" Staff Course. On completion
of our time at Greenwich we all moved down to Portsmouth where we did courses
in gunnery, navigation, signals, physical training, torpedo and anti-submarine
warfare and a short divisional course, After each course there was of course
the dreaded examination. These exams, and how we did, decided how long we
would remain as a Sub-lieutenant before being promoted to Lieutenant, I got
a First Class in Seamanship and Gunnery and Second Classes in all the other
subjects. Finally we completed the courses and I was appointed to H.M.S,
Wellington. I should perhaps just mention that many of us had a car of sorts.
The wealthy subs had super cars, the less wealthy had old crocks. I had a
dilapidated M.G. It was a two-seater with a dicky. It was red and silverine.
I sold it to another sub called Douglas Woolf and I gathered that shortly after
the purchase it blew up. I got a note saying "You will never ever sell me

another car"... and I never did.

I had now finished my basic training andydport from getting my Watchkeeping
Certificate, was a fully qualified junior officer. In all it had taken me not
mich less than five years to reach this stage. Apart from the professional
side it pave me a first class lead into the field of leadership - a quality

80 important to all officers.
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CHAPTER = II

NEW ZEALAND AND THE PACIFIC

When I was busy doing courses at Portsmouth in 1936 I wrote to Admiral
Henderson, who was now Second Sea Lord, asking him whether there would be any
chance of my going East égain once I had finished my courses. He replied that
he would see what he could do. Thus after completing my courses, with a First
Class in Gunnery and Second Class Passes in the others, I was appointed to
H.M.S.Wellington, a Royal Navy sloop stationed in New Zealand. I was instructed
to take passage in the one class liner Matororoa. I arrived on hoard and I
suppose to tell the truth I was a little bit lonely. Finally we sailed away
hound for Panama and onwards to New Zealand. The ship tended to be rather full
of New Zealanders all of whom seemed very friendly so it was not very long
before I found my feet. There was one very nice pair called Vogel who I
believe heralded from the Wellington area. When we arrived at Panama they

very kindly gave a super supper party ashore to which I was invited.

Though I had been through the Sﬁez Capal several times, this was my
first time through the Panama Canal. Whereas the Suez Canal had a drop in
levels of only a few feet, here the drop was substantial and there was a large
number of locks to pass through and the forests sometimes came right down to
the banks on both sides, It was a fascinating trip and one I shall always
remember. One day I gathered there was to be a Fancy Dress dance and my great
problem was to decide what on earth I was to wear. The harber said to me '"Why
don't you go as Adolf Hitler ?", This was before the Second World War,
concentration camps and torture. I decided to go as he suggested and for a
small sum he made me up. All I did on the great day was to march around,
holding my right arm at an angle, and saying "Heil Hitler". Don't laugh
please but I won the first prize! One of the people I remember is Miss
Ricketts who was much older than I was but very kind indeed. She in fact had
several bottles of booze delivered to my cabin and it took me quite a tine to

discover who the very kind donor was.

On New Year's Eve 1937 we arrived at Auckland and I was met by the man
I was relieving, Lieutenant Vincent-Jones, a large man who was, I felt, very
happy to think he was on his way home. He had very kindly arranged a girl
partner for the New Year's Eve "do'" but this was not really my evening
although I seem to have survived. The Wellington was only about a thousand



tons with a tbtal complement of ninety-nine. The officers consisted of
the Captain, Commander Loriston-Clarke; the First Lieutenant, Lieutenant
Commander Harry Mellor; Lieutenant Nigel Willmott, the Navigator and also
borne for Supply Duties; 'myself, a very young and pink Sub-Lieutenant; my
great friend, Chief, a commissioned engineer, Bertie Hodge; the Gunner,

Mr.Mott and of course a doctér, Surgeon Licutenant Vaughan-Jones.

Auckland, which is situated in the north east of North Island, is the
largest city in New Zealand and, being in the north of the country, does get
pretty hot in the summer, which incidentally is our winter. The Naval Depot
was across the water in a place called Devonport where the depot ship lay.
She was an old hulk called the Philomel but some years later she was scrapped
and a decent shore harracks was built in her place. One normally crossed from
the Devonport area to Auckland by ferry some of which carried cars, lorries
and other vehicles, While I was out there there was a terrihle accident with
one of the car ferries which resulted in several cars going over the front
edge causing a number of deaths. On our side of the water there were some
quite good games facilities. One rust rememter that in those days the New
Zealand navy was tiny. The New Zealanders partially manned only two cruisers
and a sweeper and they had a small shore based group. The officers were
trained largely by the Royal Navy, Those who had wives usually found
accommodation at Takapuna which was not more than a few miles out of Devonport.
It is perhaps interesting to note that the British Isles, New Zealand and
Japan are all more or less the same size. Today, give or take a small error,
the population of the British Isles is in the region of fifty-five million,
that of Japan is well over a hundred million while that of New Zealand is
really small, being only about three million. Both the British Isles and
Japan have to trade to live while New Zealand may need trade but can largely

loak after herself without mich trouble.

I am often asked what the country was like around Auckland. To tell
the truth I never travelled very far out of the general area, but as soon as
you got away from the city and all its buildings you ran into farming country
rather like our own in Englaczd. Though it is easy to ask what on earth did
you do when at Auckland, the fact is that we were not there very ouch as we

were moving round the coasts training.

One of the first things I discovered was that though the Wellington was
stationed in New Zealand this was only part of her duties, She was used for



five months of each year training the New Zealand Naval Volunteer Reserve,
followed by two cruises in the Pacific taking round the High Commissioner for
Western Pacific, first to the eastern islands then back to Suva and Fiji before
doiﬂé the western group. Finally we had two months refitting in Australia.
One of our first tasks was to go up to Canton Island in the Phoenix Group

in order to plant many thousand coconut trees, and I went ashore to the
Agricultural Department in Suva to ask how we should do this. There were
virtually no trees on Canton Island at all, yet Hull Igland, only a hundred
miles away, was covered with trees and had as a result quite a substantial
rainfall. The Agricultural Deportment had said that there was nothing easier
than to scoop a hole in the ground and put in a coconut seed. What they did
not tell me was that although the rainfall in Suva was substantial, in Canton
Island it was almost nil. We planted them as I had been told., Delieve it or

not the result was disasfrous as only about five ever emerged.

Most of the Polynesian groups of islands were similar, except that some
had a lot of trees, while a few such as Canton Island had almost none. They
were all coral islands and there was in almost every case an entrahce into
the lagoon. Scmetimes it was pbssible to sail through the entrahce and anchor
inside. Sometimes the water through the entrance was too shallow for entering
in which case it was necessary to anchor outside. Care had to be taken, as
coral at the bottom of the sea in these areas was not goqd holding ground, and
this meant keeping steam at fairly short notice. Apart from fishing there was
swimming, but there were of course sharks and barracuda which to the swimmer
were almost as dangerous as sharks, Ashore there were turtles. Mrs., Turtle
would go round scraping holes in the sand and sifting in each hole. She would
then cover the hole with sand. In fact she only laid her eggs, a large number,
in one hole all the others heing a blind. The eggs would remain cooking for
some time hy “eing, I suppose, baked in the sun. Eventually the eggs would
nreak and the haby turtles would emerge. They then had the dangerous jot of
getting down to the sea. During this perilous journey they were attacked by
birds and other turtle-eating creatures. Once they were in the &ea they were

safer except for attacks by barracuda. The casualty rate is substential.

Cne of the most interesting things is that trees bring rain. An island
with almost no trees will get almost no rain, on the other hand an island
like Hull which is well wooded secms to benefit substantially from rain, which
is so important to those who live on a coral island. In almost all these

islands the coconut tree is of great importance as it is the staple diet.



The trees are basically owned by families who look after them most carefully
and to steal another man's coconuts is a crime of some importance. The wmost
attractive thing about the Polynesian Islands was that all the natives appeared
to be so happy. There were a few occasions when some of the natives were, in
a manner of speaking, sent to jail, and then they wore odd skirty things with
broad arrows on them. In some islands there was an Administrator.who offered
the services of some '"canvicts'" to do such things as washing the ship's side,

which they 211 seemed to enjoy.

In those days the object was to occupy as many of these little islands
as possible which meant having one official on each island more or less for
ever. UWe used to erect a board stating that this island helonged to His
Rritannic Majesty. However these notices were useless unless the islands werc
occupied as well, What we were doing was laying a stake for future air bascs.
T rememher on.one occasSion our representative on Canton Island complained of
toothache and a decision had to be taken whether to alldw our doctor to remove
the tooth or not. After a considerable amount of discussion it was agreed that
he shbuld remove the offending tooth. This he did, or thought he did. Imagine

the horror when it was discovered that he had removed the wrong tooth.

When we went on these cruises we embarked His Excellency the High
Commissioner of the Vestern Pacific, Sir Harry Luke, his ADC, a very nice young
man called Joss Nicholls, and sometimes the Secretary, Mr.Vaskess. In many of
the islands the High Commissioner would land in plain clothes but in some of
the larger and, I suppose, more important islands he would land in full dress

uniform, cocked hat and all, with all the ceremony to which he was entitled.

Usually there was some sort of leave for the ship's company at the various
island stops. Frequently there was a dancing display in the local hut known
as the "miniapi". If, when watching these dances, a native girl came and
danced in front of you, you were then expected to dance to her to the bhest of
your atility in thanks to her. Frequently various chiefs and high-ups would
be invited on board and sometimes a few would be allowed to fire the saluting
gun. It was usual to approach the islands not too early in the morning with
many look-outs in position, thus enabling us to have as good a chance of
spotting shoal water as possible. When the Wellington was able to enter into
the lagoon it was wise to send in one of the motor boats first, sounding &£ll
the way. One of the great occupations for the ship's company was fishing.

It was extremely easy to catch fish, as sometimes all you needed to do was to

-
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put a nice clean hook into the water and, before you could say '"Jack Rohinson'
you had hooked a fish. Tropical fish straight out of the sea were delicious;
they did, however, deteriorate from the taste voint of view very quickly.

One of the major catcﬁes would be sharks, You could only catch a shark if

vou had a rcasonahle hunk of raw meat as bait and it depended on the hutcher
how much he would spare. If you did hook a shark it was a gquestion of "Clear
Lower Deck" to get the beast out of the water. Once above the water the usual
procedure was to shoot it with a2 303 btullet.

Many of the smaller islands would be occupied only by natives, but in
each group there would be an administrator who would get around his islands

fairly frequently.

A typical cruise would be as follows:

Arrive Place Depart

Sydney Friday 10th June
Saturday 18th June Suva Monday 20th June
--------------------------- Cross Date Line-—we——mmr—mmmm el
Friday 24th June Phoenix Group Saturday 25th June
Wednesday 29th June Nieu Saturday 9th July
e ———— e C;oss Date Line-meeum e e
Monday 18th July "Suva & Fiji Group Saturday 30th July *
Tuesday L4th August Ocecan Island Monday 8th August
Tuesday 9th August Gilbert Isles Monday 22nd August
Tuesday 23rd August Ellice Isles Tuesday 30th August
Wednesday 31st August Rotumah Friday 2nd September

+ Embark His Excellency the High Commissioner for the Western Pacific

-

Discmbark His Excellency the High Commissioner for the Western Pacific

What the High Commissioner did was to inspect the island and ceet the
various chiefs, and at certain islands he would also meet the white
Administrator. Our doctor would, as far as possible, treat the sick and
render & report on the redical state of the island. Leave, which really
reant rathing and picnic parties, was allowed,as wecll of course as games.

In most of the islands we visited there would be football and frequently
cricket tcams, and the Wellington was expected to provide her own teams. It
nlways amazed me how the natives would play a very good game of football in

At —
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bare feet. A kick from a bare-footed native was really not very funny,

To start with I was a bit frightened of the First Lieutenant, Harry Mellor,
but as time passed I got to like him very much indeed. He was undoubtedly a
very good Number One and ran the ship exfremely well. From him I learnt
a great deal., DNot only did I learn the actual professional side of my duties
but also how to lead, a quality which I have found to be a real asset in my
naval life. Harry was good at games, particularly cricket and hockey, he was
also a horn actor and was always the life and soul of every Concert Party we
ever did. Not only was he good at it but I too was made to perform, which I
did at first rather incompetently, but later I got better and better, provided

I did not forget my words.

The islanders were really divided into three groups. Tﬁbse who came
from the islgnds lying to the east of Australia who were a happy and cheerful
lot, brought ﬁp largely on coconuts and fish, and were as far as I gathered
never cannibals. It was those from Polynesia who eventually moved south to
form the Maoris in New Zezland. Then there were the Melanesians who came from
the islands more to the north of Australia. They were darker than the
Polynesians and had frizzy hair. These were purported to have been cannibals.
In our visits it was not possible to know whether some were cannibals or not.
Certainlt some natives and possibly the odd white did disappear altogether.
Finally there were the Micronesians who came from the islands to the north and

west of Australia. They were a smaller race, darker and almost certainly
cannibals in their time.

The High Commissioner Western Pacific, who for most of my time was Sir
Harry Luke, was also the Governor of Fiji. He was really a nice man who was
blessed with a great sense of humour. He also, so I gathered, rather liked
his food. In thosc days of piring peacec a lot used to go on in the wardroonm
at nights and particularly so at sca. In those good old days Bertie Hodge,

a great friend of mine, who was the Chief Engineer of the ship, was a great
hula-hula dancer. Complete with grass skirt and bare bosom he would appear
from time to time, a record would be put on and Chiefy used to do the most
superb grass-skirt dance. Years later I insisted in ships under my command
that thpfe was to be no drinking at sea, but in those days the situation was

a bit different. We had some really rowdy and, dare I say, lovely parties in
the mess at sca. They were invariably run by Harry Mellor. One of the terrible

»

snags was when we heard that His Excellency wished to come down to take part




in these misdemeanours. Sooner or later we knew this would happen and indeed
it did. A party was going well when suddenly the door opened and in walked
Sir Harry. After plying him with drink the party did, after a fashion, get
under way again and we hoped that he had enjoyed it. Whether he approved or
not we never actually heard. Often we would pick up a Colonial Administrator
for a trip fo another island or possibly back to Fiji. Inevitably these young
chaps who had been, if anything, lonely in their islands would be tcuopted to
have the extra duty free drink. I can remember when we had an unexpected visit
from Sir Harry who was evidently far from amused. Rather a narrow and silly
view I-thought. Young men who have been sepdrated from the outside world, when
tzking passage in an H.M.ship with duty free drink, are more than likely to

have an extra one occasionally.

When one is visiting south sea island after south sea isiand it is
difficult to describe every visit as each one has a similarity with the others.
The first thing we did was to arrange to arrive at each island not too eéfly
so that good look-outs could report shoal or shallow water. Many of the charts
we were using had not been checked for meny years, and of course coral is alive
and growing so constant checks had to be made. There were one or two occasions
when we ourselves carried out what one might describe as a quick sketch survey.
On arrival at the island we usually anchored and then streams of boats arrived.
Where there was a white Administrator he would invariably be the first to
board and pay his respects to the High Commissioner. One very interesting
thing to sce on many of the islands was the effect that Roman Catholic
nissionaries had had on the islanders. I am a member of the Church of Ergland
and am sometimes a little bit suspicious of the Roman Church. Not so in these
islands. Many rissionaries had built churches and schools and were carrying
out a very active and good programme, They were keen to show us everything
and I personally was highly impressed with what I saw. They were teaching
their religion most ably, The usual food for most islanders was based on
coconuts and fish. However, when we visited some of the islands we were
offercd "millionaire's salad", This meant cutting down the coconut tree and
using the centre of the top as a salad. It was quite excellent, but when one
realises that once the tree is cut down that is the end of it, perhaps the

nane "millionaire's salad" has the ring of truth about it.

Some of the islands were ruch more sophisticated than others. There were
two such islands, Ocean and Nairu, Both abounded in phosphate and I can

reoember that Ocean Island was producing something in the region of half a
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million tons a year, The water was very deep and there were enormous buoys
to which we secured. If the wind shifted so as to blow us towards the land
then we had to slip and get to sea. In order to mine, and that is exactly
what the phosphate authorities did, one required in addition to a certain
amount of what one might call "slave labour' a fair number of engineers and
other technical white personnel. Most of these had wives and children which
led firstly to adequate medical facilities including a hospital, and then of
course schools for the children, Then shops with food more suitable to the
western palate were needed. In fact there was a thriving community which,
unfortunately, also required the necessary police and courts. Going to these
two islands, Nauru being the biggest, was fun. There was always plenty to do
and many visitors, and the people loved having a warship in and were very
hospitable, Because of the large amount of phosphate mined each yéar there
was a steady flow of shipping in and out. In those days I do not think it
ever crossed my mind that the western world was really taking a lot from these
islands and paying very little in return, During the last couple of years
(1980-2) .2 fairly satisfactory action has been brought against the companies

concerned and it looks as if considerable compensation has now been paid.

I think some of the more interesting islands were the Solomons, as the
natives were far more primitive and warlike than the relatively quiet and
p.aceful Polynesians. When we arrived off a Solomon island great warlike
canoes would come out to meet us with the natives or Melanesians all chanting
together. Many of these islands were high and wooded and it was thought that
some cannibalism went on in these higher plains. Many of the men had what I
would call a short wooden peg through the piece of flesh joining the two
nostrils and several of them had a safety pin through the lobe of an ear.

Much of the dancing was a more pugilistic form of that which we had seen
elsewhere. Some of what I would term totem poles depicted the male organs

and I remember one, presutably very old, head mask., It was made of clay and
grass and was worn by witch doctors in the old ceremonial dances. Furthermore
these werc the first islandzi~ where we had actually heard of witch doctors,
and I think it was for this rcason that the missicnaries made very little
progress. I remember a Mrs.Xooper, wife of a Gerwan, who, we understood, had
lived in this area for over forty years. Though I never thought of it at the
time, I now wonder whcther the German hkad not been planted many years earlier,
The extraordinary thing about these visits was that none of us had appreciated
that this was a likoly area for war in a few years' time. I do however

remember that no British ships were ever allowed to viait the Marshall and
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Caroline Islands which were occupied by the Japaness. The High Commissioner
and, strangely enough, the Gunner were carried ashore in a native canoce and
put gently down. At one island there was what was-termed a "tame" shark kept
in a peol. The shark to my way of thinking did not look too friendly, On a
number of visits we were often given a present of a whole cooked ?ig. As far
as I can recall w2 never actually ate these as they did ndt on close

examination look all that attractive.

When we visited Roturmah Island there was a dance planned by the
rmissionaries. Painted on the ground was the outline of a Union Jack and the
hoys and girls, all clad in skirts and, I dare say, white blouses, would dance
along the lines marking out the flag, This was I think a regular '"do" as we
had the same dance oﬁ our second visit. In the afternoon we had loads of

children on board escorted by a missionary.

Though we did two éruises of about five months in length and we met many
administrators I can only remember a few. There was a very nice man at Ocean
Island called Arthur Grimhle who wrote a lovely book called "A Pattern of
Islands'" which told the story of his life in the South Pacific. It covered
a great deal of the beliefs and customs of the various islanders. It is a
book well worth reading and I was very pleased to hear many years later that
the author had been knighted. Another great man we met was called Garvey.

He was not only very nice but alsc highly intelligent. Many years later he
became the High Commissioner of the Western Pacific and I should imagine a

very good and human one too. Looking back, I often feel how lucky I was to
serve in the Wellington as I got an idea of just what the Colonial Service

did, not only in these islands for the natives, but when one rememhers that
money was not exactly plentiful I feel that great credit is due to the many
administrators who were responsible for doing so much with so little.

One may well ask what did a sub-lieutenant do in a sloop. Well I kad
the forecastle division and thus was the Cable Officer. I can rerember once
when we had to moor - that is with two anchors down - which, as far as the
Navy was concerned, meant inserting a swivel so that as the ship swuug round
the swivel took the turn out of the cable., There is nothing really difficult
about putting in a swivel but one must think carefully when doing it. It means
inserting the swivel into the weather cable and then bringing the inner end of
the lee cable round into the weather hawse pipe, securing it to the inner end
and then hauling tha whole cable and swivel back through the lee hawse pire
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and connecting it. We had in those days a superb chap called Able Seaman
Vickery and he was really my right hand man., Having got the swivel partially
in he then said '"Just knock off that skip, sir, and everything will be fine',
Luckily enough I hesitated and then said "No, Vickery, if we do that we shall
lose not only the swivel but both anchors and cables too". I was right and
thank God so; .hadrI rmade this error I do not think I would have besen at all
popular. o

I was also the Signal Officer which did not in fact mean very much.
I looked after all the coanfidential and signal publications which were kept
locked up in safes in the captain's cabin. This was not really very onerous
work except that it did involve all the cyphers and codes. You can laugh, if
you must, because one day I thought I had locked up thé books safely. Imagine
my consternation when I was sent for Wy the captain who pointed out that I had

left one chest unlocked. I do not believe that he ever forgave me.

I enjoyed our visits to the islands very much. In some of the larger ones
we used to put on a Concert Farty. Here Harry Mellor was basically the life
and soul of it. T used to do quite a funny piece entitled "Cooking the Dinner'.
The doctor, strange to say, used to do a couple of violin solos. There was

plenty of singing and jokes and generally these shows went down well.

Another job I had to do was the catering for the Wardroom food, This
wvas not too difficult except that as soon as the High Cormissioner came on
board my difficulties increased. With the help of his ADC, Joss Nicholls,

I seemed to get on fairly well,

Though we spent five months each year cruising round the Pacific Islands
we also spent a similar period training the New Zealand Volunteer Naval Reserve.
This meant sailing right round New Zealand and giving instruction to the various
units. HNew Zealand is a great place because there is little that you cannot
do there. You can play any gaze you like, sail, ski, climb, shoot and goodness
knows what. Most pcople who have met New Zealanders in England say how nice
they all are. This is true, although in New Zealand there is a tendency for
then to look and think locally. They tend to be rather inward-looking people.
We in the wardroom used to divide theno up into two groups. The ones we liked
best did not have such a pronounced accent as many did. Then we had the others
who were ouch core down to earth and usually had a very strong accent, but on
balance we liked them all. This reminds me of a story about a British Army
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officer who was severely wounded and was in due course picked up by some
Australian nurses. As he regained consciousness he asked "Did I come here to
die, nurse ?'" To which he got the reply "Oh no, you came here yesterday'.

I enjoyed ny time in New Zealand as we more or less circumnavigated both
islands, stopping at dozens of small places, and of course some of the larger
ones too. I think one of the most popular was Gisborne. I can remember one
of our visits, when the Mayor and Corporation came on board and included in
the parfy was a young girl who could not have been more than fourteen, if that.
Drinks were offered and there was a tendency for mdst of the guests to ask for
whisky, The captain then asked this young girl whether she would like an
-orange or lemon squash. '"No thank wvou, I would prefer whisky please she said.
We enjoyed Gisborne “ecause it was a basically farming area and everyone gave
us such a great welcome, and the ship's company were entertained to the full,
We loved it. I can well remember too when we went to Christchurch for the
Race Week. Two or three of us went to the rather swish club before the races,
and I offered the others a drink which in due course arrived. I then asked
the waiter whether I could have the account. "Oh no sir, we never take the
money here - just sign this chit and it will be forwarded to you". I have
never been a racing man but I must record that on my first day at this Race
Week I actually won quite a reasonable amount of money. We never went to
Dunedin,unfortunately, which is a great Scots stronghold. I have heard that

even after such a long time the Scottish accent prevails.

_ To the South-West of the South Island are the Sounds. Here there are
the most glorious fjords with high steep cliffs rising straight upwards. Often
there is an attractive waterfall tumhling down the cliff side. Probahly the
biggest sound is Milford which is a most picturesque place. We had a few days
in thede sounds and had quite a numter of walks. I reomember one peak, Mitre
Peak by name, which is depicted on a number of bank notes. Oa one occasion
when therec was not a great deal of room, we secured our stern to two trees

with manilla hawsers having anchored first.

My knowledge of the interior of New Zealand was a bit limited. I did go
with Harry Mellor to Rotorua and the first thing we noticed on arrival was the
strong smell of rotten eggs., This smell comes from the many hot springs and,
though you cannot fail to notice the stink, after a few hours it seems to
becooe absorbed. The hot springs are really rather fun and every &0 often they

spout out a great stream of scalding water and steanm. If you chuck a stone
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down into one of these geysers it -will be thrﬁwn up with all the steam a few
minutes later. We liked Rotorua very much, It has a superb golf course and
the hotel in which we stayed was really good. Trout fishing abounds too,
I also went and stayed wifh my distant cousins, the Seavills. Hany years ago
my Father!'s first cousin; Walter Seavill, emigrated to New Zealand and had,
I think, five children. They lived at Ngarawahia, not tooc far from Hamiltoa.
Here I stayed firstly with Geoff, the younger of the two farmers, and secondly
with Jim, the elder, I had to work for my keep and this was, when I arrived,
mostly sheep dipping. Oﬁ Sundays it was a day ©f rest and we were taken over
to meet some other Seavill relations and to watch polo. The country was rather
typical of West Sussex and it was clear that most of the farmers we met Qere
pretty flat out. DPefore I ever went to New Zealand, Walter's widow and daughter,
Ethel - who preferred to be called Judy - came to see us and weé had liked them
both. The third son, Frank, also came over to England to join the Royal Air
Force. He married Helen and they had cne son before he was killed in %he
Second World War,

Eventually all good things come to an end and I was relieved in Fiji,

though my relief would not join the ship until she returned to Auckland. I had
to wait the best part of a week before embarking on a liner bound for Vancouver.

My final parting was when I gave the Wardroom supper at the Grand Pacific Hotel,
It sounded very grand but in fact it was not all that grand and neither was the

bill. I was put up in the Government House for about six days which was really

heaven. I had Joss Nicholls as a friend, the meals were excellent and above all
there was really nothing to do. I saw more of the country round Suva than I

had ever seen before. I was evidently on good terms with Sir Harry Luke, who

used to call me Msub" even though now I was a lieutenant.

Finally the great liner arrived and I embarked as a first class passenger,
all paid for by the Admiralty. On my way up to Vancouver I met many Canadians
and got soome really excellent advice on how to créss Canada by train in order
to see all I could. I was told that I must have at least a day in Vancouver,
then I must go through the Rockies by day. This meant that I must stay one
night at Sikhamoos which is about half way through. I was also told to have at
least a day, or possibly two, at Banff and advised to sleep as we crossed the
central part of Canada. A day in Quebec was essential and then, of course,

a day in Montreal, where I was to embark in & liner for the final part of the
journey. Alrrady many were talking of the possibility of war with Germany aad
it scemed fairly certain that, unless there was a change of heart, war was

incvitahla. T asked a conrle of Canadians how I would fix breaking my journey
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at the many places suggested. A1l I had ftc do was to go to the booking officer
in Vancouver and they would arrange it all. How did I book a bed at Sikhamoos,
Banff and Quebec ? Here again all I had to do was to go to the Information
Desk at the station and they would fix everything. I was also told that it
would be sensible to have a seat booked in what they termed the Observation Car.
For quite a small sum this could be arranged through the Booking Office. It
usually takes three and a half days to cross Canada by train and I had nine, so

there was oodles of time available.

What was the trip like ? It was in fact great, and so comfortable.
The Rockies were simply wonderful and one could not help looking at them for
rost of the time. I sat in the Observation Car gazing at the superb views and
sights. I got out at Sikhamoos for the night, going on next day. I quite
enjoyed Banff but it was, to tell you the truth, a bit touristy. The middle of
Canada was one blaze of wheat., Euebec was fun, though to get the best out of it
it is an advantage to speak French well. Finally I arrived at Montreal and
emharked in the Duchess of York for the final crossing. The ship was very empty
as war seemed to be just around the corner, Half way acrass the Atlantic war

was declared. We spent much of our time sticking paper on the portholes.

In the space of two years I had travelled cut to New Zealand by liner,
through the Panama Canal arriving on New Year's Eve. I had spent many months
both in New Zealand and in the South Pacific Islands with two reasonable periods
in Australia. I left the ship in Fiji and travelled in extreme comfort all the
way home. How lucky I had been.

~00000-
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CHAPTER IIT
W_A R

I arrived back at Liverpool a few days after the start of the war and
had to make my way down south. I finally reached London in the evening and
caught a train for Hartfield. It was then quite dark and, as far as I can
remember, there were only shaded lights in the carriages and all the hlinds
were down. ‘Hhen the train stopped at a station you could hardly see where you
were. In due course I arrived at Hartfield to be met by my parents whom I had

not seen for, I suppose, rising two years.

The Admiralty rang me and said that I was due my foreign service leave
and would not be required for at least six or seven weeks. One never knows
how thesc great organisations work hecause it was, I tﬁink, only a week later
that I received an appointment to join H.M.S.Kashmir which was'building at
Woolston, near Southampton. I and two others were put up at a rather nice pud
a few miles out. This pub was well known in naval circles as it was, in those
days, first class for suppers which consisted of a choice of turkey, chicken,
ham, tongue, guinea fowl and Heaven knows what. The owners were very nice and
we soon léarnt that provided we helped clear up after the bar had closed, we
would be rewarded with a superb free supper. It was here that I learnt just
how hard publicans work. They were open seven days a week and, after hours,
had to clean up, get up new stock, order more stock, decide what food to give
and indeed cook it. One of the snags was that, if the landlord got someone in
so that he and his wife could have a holiday, it was not a cheap operation.
Furthermore this hired man might do him down and lose him customers, which of
course was not a good thing at all., We used to go into the dockyard by bus
and it was not very long tefore Commissioning Day ceme. My captain was a man
called "Hetty" King who was, I gathered, an expert on gunnery, particularly on
the experimental side. The first lieutecnant was Jack Scatchard and there were
many others. The Captain (D) was no less a man than Captain Louis Mountbatten
who was in H.M.S.Kelly. I understood that he was at first appointed to H.M.S.
Jervis and while she was building he had quite major changes made to his cabin,
bridze and so on. Strange as it may seem he was reappointed to Kelly which was
so advanced that it was too late to make any alterations. During my service
career I served under Mountbatten three times and I got to like and respect Lin
very ouch. Hc was, ncedless to say, a very able can. A man who had married an
extremely wealthy wife, he was of royal blood and used all his assets to full
advantage.
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The story goes that, when he was a Rear Admiral, he asked the Admiralty
if arrangements could he made for the Queen to visit his squadron at Portland.
In answer to his request he was told that the Navy had had its quota of Royal
Visits that year, and that he must make further application the following year,
Many would have accepte& this, bﬁt not Mountbatten who then wrote a letter to
the Queen in the following sense -

"Dear Elizabeth,

I am writing to ask you if you could find time to come down to my

Flagship for lunch when there would, of course, be an opportunity

to look at the squadron.”

So the Navy had an extra Royal Visit that year.

- He had a great knack of remembering names and on top of this he was
always highly briefed. Even in those very early days, when he came to Kashmir -
he seemed to know all the officers by name. There is also the story when
Mountbatten, as a Rear Admiral, was with his squadron at Malta when he was
invited to go to sea in one of America's largest carriers. Imagine his wrath
when he came on deck to find that the carrier had sailed, All Hell was let-
loose on the Flag Lieutenant,who was instructed to go on board the carrier the
moment it arrived back and apologise personally to the American Admiral. When
the Flag Lieutenant made the apology all the American Admiral replied was
"No worry at all, we will go to sea again tomorrow especially for Admiral

Mountbatten". Needless to say, Mountbatten was delighted.

Mountbatten had specialised in communications, and in his time wroté an
excellent book on wireless which held its high place for a very long time.
He also became interested in playing polo, and had a wooden horse made at
Bfoadlands and got little boys to throw tennis balls at him. He soon became
good at the game. He then wrote a book on how to play polo which was an

astounding success.

Kashmir was one of the destroyers forming the S5th Destroyer Flotilla
which had as its motto "Keep on", which I always rather liked. We had an
unusual gadget termed the 'Mountbatten Station Keeping Gear'. Theoretically
this was a sound device as it was linked to the revolutions ordered, and if,
for instance, you were say 150 yards astern of station (Heaven forbid), all
you had to do was to turn up the machine to plus 150 yards; this meant that
the engine room then opened the manoeuvring valves to give this correction.

It could be a slow, pedium or fast operation. Ia fact I never 1iked it much,
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and the fact that it did eventually die a natural death indicates that my views,

on this occasion,were shared by others.

I was the navigator of this ship, and as such had to ensure that the ship
steered the mosit sensible course and that the charts were kept up to date. It
alsc meant that T had to take morning and evening sights with a sextant. To tell
the truth I was always a bit nervous, at any rate to start with, but in due

course I hecame used to it and, I dare to say, hetter at it.

The Captain, who had been a highly gqualified gunnery expert, was not
good at ship handling. ThuS we had a number of somewhat alarming manoeuvres,
but as time marched on so he became bhetter and better, One of the more
interesting things that happened in this ship was that while we were on patrol
somewnere to the North we made a contact. The Torpedo and Anfi-Submarine
Officer said that he thought it was a submarine, and the Captain decided to_
drop one charge. Much to our amazement up came a U-boat. DBelieve this or nof
the cruising watch gun was, to my horror, sponging out at this moment. However,
acting with great alacrity, they managed to fire a shell in approximately the
right direction, and we captured the whole crew of U 35. In those days the news
of concentration camps, torfure and 1l the other horrors was still "hush hush”,
Our First Lieutenant said to the Captain of the U boat that, although he had
been an enforced visitor, he might like to sign the Visitors' Book. In the
remarks column he wrote "Wish you all the best of luck except against German
U Poats'!

Some naval officers have a silver napkin ring on which they have engraved
the names of all the ships in which they have served. Just before I left to
join H.M.S.Wellington my Father gave me a plain silver napkin ring, and from
time to time I had it engraved, When I joined Kashmir the ring went with me.
It so happened that, when manoeuvring at night, the destroyer astern of us hit
us on the starboard quarter and everything was washed out of my cabin and out
of the wardroom. We managed to get into Lerwick in the Shetlands for some
teoporary repairs. Imagine my survrise and delight to find that the only thing
left in the wardroom was my ring, which had caught up against an angle bar on the
deck and had become tightly jarmed; my ring was landed after that and I am
happy to say I have it to this day.

My tize spent in Kashmir was very valuable to me. Although we were now

at war and very busy, the frustrations and risks of war had hardly sunk in.



In fact we all, I dread to say, fook life too easily. Apart from this, I had
suddenly become responsible for the navigation of the ship and had to deal with
the Q Message organisation by which the promulgation of war hazards such as
mineg, swept channels and so forth were made. This was something I do not
remember having been taught. I reéall on one occasion, returning from way out
in the Atlantic when I was Officer of the Watch, suddenly seeing land ahead.
Being the navigator I knew we were miles from Scapa Flow, and after thinking
for a few minutes I called the Captain. He came up and looked ahead through
his binoculars. He then said "You're quite right, George; it looks rather
close doesn't it ?" He decided to stop engines and we then looked at the chart.
I was confident that we were at least twenty miles from Scapa and said so. This
was of course before the days of radar, but the echo-sounder showed us to be

in deep water. It is laughable now, for we were at least that distance from

Scapa and it was only a trick of the light that had given us 5 few anxious

moments.

I did not stay very long in Kashmir as I was taken out and sent to one
of the Free French ships, Chaser 41. This was a small light wooden coastal
craft with a crew of about twenty, Strange things happen in war and even in
the Navy. Apart from myself as Captain, I had one other officer, a very nice French
Canadian who was, I suppose, the First Licutenant. Almost incredibly he could
hardly specak a word of English but he did manage to learn very quickly. I also
had three Free French ratings on board, none of whom could speak much English.
They had all been given, for the time being, straightforward English names.
Chaser 41 was my first command and although only a tiny little craft I was very
proud. She was a diesel driven craft and you could only get about eight
movemnnts of the engines, that is to say, ahead or astern about four times tefore
the starting air ran out., You then had to wait until the air compressor had
produced sufficient air to enable you to do another eight movements of the
engines. This was not really a very important matter once you knew the craft,
but to start with it was just a little alarming. I had quite a nice small
cabin - T hesitate to say fitted with a double bunk - but certainly larger than
a single one. There were two revolvers lying about and quite a lot of wine.
Stortly after a so-called “comnmissioning" we were all moved over to the
Submarine Headquarters at Blockhouse where we caze under the Captain of that
Establishment, In thesec ships we had, of course, French machinc guns but they
wore somewhat similar to our own. I do however remember one of the Chasers,
vhile lying alongside an inner jetty, trying to discover just how thesc
machine guns work - and he did., Suddenly with & burst of fire the gun went off
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and some of the bullets hit the outer windows of the Captain's office. He was

not amused.

I was only in this ship a short time before I was removed and sent with
many other officers and men to Halifax to collect one of the lecase-lend American
destroyers., Before we leave Chaser 41 entirely, I must recall how this craft
was on patrol in the Channel when she was attacked, perhaps by E Boats, and
was lost with all hands. A sad story indeed and, bwt for the grace of God,

I nmight well have gone down in her. So in due course we embarked in a great
liner and made our way to Halifax. On our way across the Atlantic we were busy
drawing up plans for manning these ships. This meant getting out what is termed
a "Watch and Quarter Bill", and allocating duties to the Ship's Company.

My Captain was an RNR Officer by the name of Lieutenant Commander Stannard who
had won a VC when captain of the trawler Arab which was involﬁed in the battle
of Narvik. I had been a sub-lieutenant and a lieutenant in Wellington, and a
lientenant in Kashmir and captain of the French Chaser, but I had never been a
first liecutenant. In the trooper I met a nice man called Brown, nicknamed
"Bruno'Brown. He had already been a First Lieutenant and was able to give me
some excellent advice. We arrived at Halifax and I learnt that we were to take
over USS McCalla. The routine was that we met our American opposite numbers
and then went to sea with them. It was a little odd for us to hear such wheel
orders as ""Left 15, Centre, Right 20". The McCalla was clearly old, and I
could not help wondering just how good she was going to be. Scon after this

we took over from our American friends and went to sea with a small US nucleus,
It did not take long to master the main methods of operation, though some
doubts were expressed by the Chief (Engineer). After a few days we were ready

to sail.

Most of us thought that we ought at least to have a look at Halifax and
I romember that T went with one or two others to what I suppose you would call
a "swish'" restaurant. As we crossed the threshold the door swung open
automatically., 1In a large tank were a fair number of lobsters swimming about.
I soon discovered that one could choose one of these lobsters, after which it
would be cooked for you. There is a little saying that goes like this "You
can love a little owl but not a roasted fowl". Despite this saying I think
I oust adnmit that I do "love' lobster. We all chose lobsters and off they went
to be cooked, It took at least an hour and so inevitably we all had, dare I
say, a number of drinks which I can assure you did not spoil the taste of our
chosen main dish.



Finally we sailed away bound for St.John's,Newfoundland, My Captain
always seemed to wear plain clothes whichis, to say the least of it, a hit
unusual in the Royal Navy. One day on our way to Newfoundland I reported to
him that Defaulters and Requestmen were ready. He thanked me and started to
come dbwn'to take these in plain élothes. I s2id "I am sorry, sir, but you
cannot possibly take defaulters and requestmen in plain clothes'. "Why not ?

I always did in the Arab." T explained that in the Royal Navy this was simply
not permitted, and that if he insisted I would immediately fall the men out,

He did accept this to some extent and put on a monkey jacket and cap. We arrived
at St.John's and much enjoyed our stay. I was given a lovely turkey. To
complete the story, it did not look too good to me when we got back to England
so I put it in the dust bin. The Chief Cook came to me and said there was in
fact nothing wrong with it at all. All it needed was a decent wash. So I
retrieved the fturkey and it was washed and eaten at home to e#eryone's delight.
On our passage across the Atlantic we had a terrible shortage of water, and
finally the Captain and Chief decided to turn one boiler-into a distillery, This
did in fact produce fresh water but it more or less wrecked the boiler, We
finally arrived at Belfast on Saturday with a heavy list and, for reasons which
defeated me, nothing could evidently he done until Monday. Existing in a ship
with a substantial list is, to say the least of it, decidedly uncomfortable.

At last we arrived at Devonport and a refit was started. Shortly after the
start of the refit I was relieved and appointed to H.M.S,Ashanti, a Tribal

Class destroyer which was at Newcastle-on-Tynme being repaired after an accident.

I joined Ashanti, if you can call it joining, as I had to go into digs
as the ship was uninhabitable, I soon discovered that there were some much
nicer digs not far away and as soon as a vacancy occurred I moved. There is
not a great deal to tell about my time in Ashanti except for two things. I went
by service car right across Yorkshire and through the Lake District, or at least
part of it, to Birkenhead where our main guns were being completely overhauled.
Apart from the thrill of seeing how an efficient Gun Mounting yard was undertaking
this work I thoroughly enjoyed the trip and the country. The other, perhaps
less interesting, was that in my new digs I became friendly with the Chief
Engineer of another destroyer and he and I had many & run ashore. On one
occasion we arrived in Edinburgh, parked the car up a side street and, despite
the fact that we had no pyjamas or anything like that, we persuaded one large
hotel to give us a double roon, In the morning,when we were feeling a little
the worse for wear, all our efforts to find the car failed. In the end, by

sheer luck, I did finally discover it, so all was well again.
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I was only standing by the Ashanti for a short time when I was rung up
bty the Admiralty and told to join H.M.S.,Nestor at Scapa Flow forthwith.
I packed my kit and got a train going to Thurso. After a long and tedious
journey I eventually arrived and got a boat.to Scapa Flow. By this time I had
discovered that the Mestor was in fact an Australian destroyer. When I arrived
on hoard I was met by a fair haired Lieutenant. I asked if I could see the
Captain and hc replied that unfortunately the Captain was under close arrest
in H.M.S.Dunluce Castle. 1 then asked to see the First Lieutenant, to which
he replied that he also was under close arrest. I then asked what on earth
was going on in this ship. He then explained that both the Captain and First
Lieutenant were in the habit of drinking to excess until finally, when ordered
to sea, the Ship's Company refused fo move. In other words there had been a
kind of mutiny. -A few hours later the new captain arrived, his name was

Rosenthal and a very nice man he was.

I thought at first that the Admiralty ought to have warned me of the
mutiny but, on reflection,.I decided that it was better for me to take over as
First Lieutenant of the ship as I found her, What I gathered had occurred was
that both the First Lieutenant and the Captain were heavy drinkers,and possibly
egged on hy the First Lieutenant, drinking set in in a hig way. It appeared
that lunch was seldom before about 4 p.m. or even later. The evening meal
could go on until all hours. The story goes that when the Captain finally
decided he must go to bed he would ascend the ladder from the wardroom and go
aft towards his own flat. Next to his day cabin was a double cabin shared by
the two sub-lieutenants. He would draw back their curtain and haul them into
his cabin for more drinks. Having been caught twice they made a plan with the
Quartermaster who, hearing the Captain ascending the ladder from the wardroom
almost certainly sloyly, would nip down, shake the two sub-lieutenants who
would then hop into their wardrobe. The Captain would pull aside the curtain
and seeing no one visible would mutter to himself "I suppose they are ashore",

and march out.

It was really comparatively easy taking over this ship which only really
wanted to live a normal life. It scemed that the new captain was teectotal, but
I personally doubted this very much, The Chief was an 0ld and Pold and had no
purple tetwcen his stripes. I had only been in the ship a short time when a
"J''Class destroyer berthed alongside and the Chicf turnped out to be my old
Chief from the Wellington. He very kindly asked me for the evening meal which
I very such enjoyed. I left quite early and made ny way back to Nestor to be
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given a signal from Dunluce Castle which read like this: "Please send for your
Chief Engineer who is now under close arrest'. I went down to the Captain and
showeq‘hiﬁ the signal and he told me to go across and see what had happened.
This I now did, When I‘afrived on board I found the ship alive with drink and
when I was taken down to the Captain's cabin I found the Commander and two or
three others pretty high. The Commander offered me a drink which I refused.

I then said that we had received a signal and I had come to find out exactly
what the trouble was, When I continued to refuse a drink he asked me what I
proposed to do, to which T replied that I was going to ring up Rear Admiral
Destroyers and report the matter, He did not believe I would do this and pushed
the telephone towards me. I lifted the receiver, got through and asked to speak
to the Duty Staff. After I had briefly explained the situation he told me to
hold on. A minute or two later he said a party was on its way and very shortly
after, a boat arrived alongside with three officers and a team of ratings. I was
sent back to Nestor, when I reported to the Captain what had occurred. Later ,
there were, I understand, three courts martial and not two. Soon after this
incident a new Chief called Roger Parker arrived. He had been standing by

another Australian destroyer and I immediately took a distinet liking to him.

Nestor was still at Scapa Flow on the 21st May when British Air
Reconnaissance reported the presence of the pride of the German Navy, the
battleship Bismarck and the cruiser Prinz Eugen, in an unfrequented fjord near
Rergen in Norway, and it was clear to the Admiralty that the Germans' intention
was to attack all Allied shipping crossing the Atlantic. Admiral Sir John Tovey,
Commander~in-Chief Home Fleet, took immediate action to concentrate Tritish
forces. He immediately diverted his Battle Cruiser Force of the Hood and the
Prince of Wales, escorted by six destroyers, to cover the Denmark Strait which
covers the area from the Greenland Sea to the North Atlantic. The next day
he sailed his main fleet in order to sink the Bismarck. This force consisted
of his flagship, the King George V, the carrier Victorious, cruisers Ganmbia,
Aurora,Kenya and Hermione, and destroyers Inglefield,Somali,Active,Intrepid,
Punjab,Windsor and liestor. On board Nestor there was tremendous excitement as
we were the Australian component of what could be a great naval engagement.
This is not the place to describe in detail this great battle. Sufficient to
say that we were all profoundly shocked to learn of the sinking of the Hood,
one of the most beautiful of British ships, with alas hardly any survivors.
Mestor in due course was sent back to Iccland to refuel and we énly resained
in port long enough to replenmish. We then immediately sailed south-east in a

heavy running sca. It secemed at first fairly certain that Bismarck had slipped
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through the British screen as our plot showed most of the Allied ships but no
enemy units., Although we were not likely to play a decisive role in this
engagement if it took place, we were nevertheless playing an important part.

I always believe in letting the ship;s company know as much about an operation
as possible, and so from time to time they were informed either by me or from

the Operations Room. It is a strange thing that although we all hated war we
still wanted to play our part in bringing it to a satisfactory conclusion. On the
morning of the 25th May it seemed evident that the Bismarck had in fact been
cornered, if not sunk. Our ship's company was thrilled to hear the signal of

the Fleet "I cannot sink Bismarck by gunfire', Finally a signal was received
from Dorsetshire saying "Bismarck sunk, an picking up survivors'". This news

was received with great excitement and relief. Nestor thea had two more duticc
to perform: escorting the Prince of Wales to Scotland and later the King George V

and Rodney to Scottish ports.

Largely hecause we were so seldom in company with the other ships of the
Flotilla I have hardly mentioned them, Our Captain Destroyers (Captain D) was
Steve Arliss, I think he was really quite a good (D) and the Flotilla Staff,
when we saw them, were very helpful. An Australian term of endearment for a
Briton was a '"Bloody Pormy'', another less pleasant name scmetimes used was ''a
Pommy Bastard', At a fairly early time in Nestor we were all fitted out with
a loud hailer. This was a pretty effective means of speaking over, say, fifty
to seventy-five yards (with the wind). The story goes that in HMAS Napier,
(D}ts ship, this was fitted on the bridge and Steve Arliss said to his
Australian First Lieutenant "I will go aft (to the stern end of the ship) so
that I can judge just how effective this new loud hailer is". As soon as he
was in position he and the whole ship®s company heard the cry'You Pommy Bastard".
This brought up (D) to the bridge when he accused the First Lieutenant of making
this remark, but he was told quite politely that the hailer was so sensitive
that it was guite impossible to know who had said it. History does not say
whether Steve Arliss knew who had shouted the insult. My guess is that in fact
he did know.

July saw a change for Mestor when she was sent down to Greenock where
they removed her after set of torpedo tubes, replacing them with an anti-aircraft
4" cun and tying it into the control system. This was quite a wise idea since
the pain armazent only elevated to about 40 degrees. On the 13th of July, in
company with the battleship Nelson and destroyers Cossack,Maori, Sikh and
Lightning, we sailed with a convoy bound for Gibraltar. Malta was suffering
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from the usual shortages and the Admiralty decided to relieve her from the
west, aﬁd-accordingly Operation "Substance" was planned. The idea was to run
six fast merchant ships plus a troopship heavily escorted, with Admiral
Cunmingham making a diversion with the Mediterranean Fleet. Force H, under
Admiral Somerville, now consisted of Ark Royal, Renown, Nelson, Edinburgh,
Arethusa, Manchester, the fast minelayer, Manxman and destroyers Cossack,Maori,
Sikh, Nestor, Lightning, Farndale, Avondale and TFridge. Admiral Somerville
warned his captains that they must expect severe enemy attacks from aircraft,
suhmarines and E hoats, also the possibility of intervention by the Italian
surface fleet could not be ruled out. To guard against this latter threat

eight British submarines were placed on patrol to cover their exits.

The convoy sailed in the early hours of the 21st May and very soon
suffered the loss of the troopship, the Leinster, which ran aground at the
entrance to Algeciras Bay and it was decided to leave her behind. Nestor was
on the screen when the hydrophone effect of torpedoes was heard at about 2300.
Sub Lieutenant Peter Colclough, the second officer of the watch and also the
ship's anti-submarine officer, reported that a torpedo was approaching. This
not only enahbhled Nestor to stem the tracks but also to raise the alarm to the
convey and heavy escort which undoubtedly saved them. It also enabled Nestor
to gain A/S contact and to carry out several attacks. Though there was a strong
smell of ¢il there were no other indications of a kill, Full credit for this
action lay with Peter Colclough and, I am delighted to say, resulted in his
heing awarded the Distinguished Service Cross. I think it is worth recording
what Admiral Somerville, & great leader, said in his report - "The successful
avoiding action taken by the heavy ships at 2315/22 was only rendered possitle

by the prompt action taken and the quick and accurate report from Mestor',

I think it is true that all the Malta convoys up to about mid 1943 were
heavily attacked by air and frequently alsc by E boats as the convoy passed
Pantellaria and this convoy was no exception. Air attacks not only caused the
loss of the destroyer Fearless but also severely damaged the cruiser Manchester.
When we were only about eight miles off Pantellaria an E boat flotilla attacked
and the merchant ship Sydney Star was hit, We went alongside, the main object
being if possible to rescue about four hundred and fifty officers and men bound
for Malta. Since the Sydney Star had already got some toats down and one was
still lying hetween her and the Nestor this looked like being a difficult task.
Bowever, thanks to two gallant Nestor seazen who went over the side to drag
the boat clear, we came alongside and with planks were able to rescue the troops

quickly.
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For their courageous action bofh members of our crew were awarded the Distinguished
Service Medal. The whole E boat attack lasted about an hour and it was a

confused affair as it was dark. With the roar of the high-powered E boat engines,
plus the crack and bangs of both large and relatively small arms it was indeed

difficult to appreciate what was happening,

While the embarkation went on Commander Rosenthal appreciated that speed
was vital as we were still very close to Pantellaria and, as soon as dawn broke,
the air attacks would concentrate on us. In the meanwhile the Sydney Star had
not been idle. Damage had been restricted to Number 1 and 2 holds and, though
the ship had takern in a2 lot of water, there was no danger, as yet, of her sinking.
The responsibility rested heavily on Rosenthal's shoulders as, not only had we
now about scven hundred and forty people on board, but the Sydney Star had many
valuable supplies sorely needed in Malta. Nestor then set course for Malta
with Sydney Star following. It was not long before some torpedo bombers were
sighted on the port bow and the captain, thinking they were about to attack the
Sydney Star again, made a "Help" signal. Admiral Syfret then made a bold move
by depleting the escort of the convoy by detaching the cruiser Hermione to
assist us. It was not long before the Sydney Star, Hermione and Nestor were
attacked by eight German dive-bombers as well as two high level bombers. God
must have been on our side as we were straddled several times and the ships
appeared to disappear in a huge cloud of water and spray. The two warships
fired everything they had, and this probably assisted us as we were not really
damaged at all. It was not too long before the Sydney Star signalled that her
pumps were no longer holding back the water in MNumber 1 hold. Our captain's
reply ran something like this, "I would hate to lose you now. Am conmsidering
possible beaching sites in case flooding becomnes really dangerous'. FBut somehow
she managed to keep afloat and we finally entered Grand Harbour at about 1400
on the 24th July, to the checrs of crowds of Maltese manning the jetties and
prominent points., It was a stirring sight and a great achievement so well
earned by Commander Rosenthal. It would be pertinent, I feel, to record an
extract from Admiral Somerville's report which read:

YHermione, Nestor and Sydney Star, having taken the route north

of Malta, arrived at 1400. The safe arrival of Sydney Star reflects

great credit on the Commanding Officer of Nestor, Commander

A.S.Rosenthal, R.A.N. who showed judgement, initiative and good

scananship in handlingz a delicate situation so close to the enemy's

coast and in the presence of eremy E boats. It was appropriate that

the Companding Officer and most of his crew should be Australians."
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Finally T think I should like to quote thorsignal Admiral Somerville made to
Nestor after we had arrived at Malta:
"T hasten to add my congratulations and those of all in Force H.
. Another piece of good work by Nestor. You have done so much for

the common weal of Substance.!
Although Substance was successful it was not a hundred per cent so, and it
was decided to have another fast run consisting largely of fast warships
which was successful. It was, however, on the 6th of August that Nestor was
moved to escort Conveoy 0G70 bound for the Cape onwards. All was quiet for ths
first few days. On the fourth day the Officer of the Watch, Lieutenant Dovers,
sighted a submarine on the surface. Course was altered to stem a torpedo track
and the alarm was sounded. As soon as the torpede had passed we altered back
and headed for the last known position of the submarine. Contact was gained
but though three attacks were carried out there was no positiﬁe evidence that
the U boat had been destroyed. Shortly after this Nestor escorted another
convey back to Gibraltar.

On the 6th of September Nestor was involved in escorting a convoy hound
for the Middle East. Owing to lack of facilities it was necessary for her to
proceed to Pathurst and luck must have been on our side because we arrived there
with only fifteen tons of fuel left. Coming out of Bathurst down a narrow
channel a submarine contact was made and we attacked at once with depth charges
set shallow., After this attack it was found that several of the turbine feet
had been cracked and the ship was suffering from minor leaks. As the ship was
now due for boiler cleaning we went to Freetown and secured alongside the depot
ship, H.M.S.Vindictive. Here the ship received her boiler clean and attenmpts
were made to repair the damage to the turbine feet. There is not much to say
about our visit to Vindictive except that the Chief, Roger Parker, and I went
ahoard for some sort of party which no doubt we thoroughly enjoyed. The brov
was from our forecastle across to the Vindictive. On our way back, and having
arrived on Nestor's forecastle, Roger turned left and walked on - he had
forgotten that the forecastle ended in a few yards and there was a ladder dowm
to the iron deck. There was an almighty crash and he fell about ten feet to
the deck. He hroke a leg but evidently he was lucky as the break was not too

serious. He was put in plaster and all was well after a few weeks.

It was originally the Admiralty's plan to scnd Nestor to the eastern cnd
of the Mecditerrancan, but on account of the damage to the turbine feet it was

decided to send her back to Devonport. After only a brief stop at Gibraltar
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to refuel we proceeded direct to Plymouth arriving there at the cnd of
Septamber, We soon learnt that repairs would take at least six weeks, so
three weeks' leave was granted to each walch and opportunities were taken to

give a numher of key personnel somes short specialised courses.

Ty this time I had teen in Nestor for some five months and, though this
was basically an Australian ship, I was very happy in her. I liked and
respected my Captain, who was nicknamed Rosy, and made excellent friends with
the Chief, Roger Parker, and got on exceedingly well with both Sub-Lieutenanis
J.P.Stevenson, usually referred fto as Steve, a regular officer whe was
exvceedingly pleasant, and Peter Colclough who was a reserve officer. He was

rot only a splendid chap but one who seemed full of inexhaustible energy.

I think the highlight of our stay at Devonport was the announcement that our

Captain had been awarded the Distinguished Service Order,

We spent about two months in dockyard hands, during which time good
repairs were made not only to the turbine feet but also to the hull, machincry
and so forth, Our armament was increased by the fitting of four ocerlikons ent
two twin 0.5" machine guns. Finally we did trials and, after embarking a larz>
quantity of air force stores and ammunition, as well as about six R.A.F,0ffices:
and twelve other ranks, we sailed to join convoy WS14, Nestor was Senior Officcr
The weather deteriorated and after a few days when visibility had dropped to o
mile or possibly less, contact was lost with the convoy. Nestor, Ghurka,
Foxhound and Chrome were steaming in line ahead when one of Nestor's lookouts
reported a submarine on the surface about seven miles away. Ve turned tojeris
the position and immediately increased speed. When the range wos decreased %o
ahout 11,000 yards we opened fire. Soon after this the U boat submerged. Tiv
Captain then reduced speed and in a few minutes asdic contact with the U tezt
was obtained. Ve immediately attacked and drepped a pattern of depth chorges,
and soon after were able to make a second attack. th ships heord a maricad
explosion and it was at first thought that this was a delayed depth charge. Cin.
had to appreciate at this stage of the war that U boats, whken under attack, o7 ..
discharged pieces of flesh and various objects in order to deceive the attacker.
Soon after this Chrome also cade contact, but there was still no eviderce of o
kill. As she was now short of fuel Chrome tca ordered to procced te Gitraltors
to replcnish. The remaining destroyers thea sarried out a squate search to
establish whether there were signs of oil or other wreckage. We were rewarded
as we found large slicka of oil and then a substantial quantity of wreclage.
Much leter some of the flesh picked up proved beyond doubt that we had
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successfully destroyed a U boat., It appearced that Nestor had destroyed U 127
and this was confirmed some time later when the Admiralty signalled stating

thaf this Qas in fact the case. We were all delighted to hear in due course
that our Captain had been awarded a Bar to his DSO, Dick Fennesy, the Plot
Officer, a DSC, a Mention in Despatches to Peter Colclough and a DSM to the
lookout who had first sighted the U boat. Nestor and the convoy arrived at
Gibraltar on the 16th December, and to our delight Admiral Somcrville came on
board to inspect the spoils of our attack on U 127. After looking round he took

Rosy back to his flagship, no doubt for a celebration.

Admiral Somerville was a great leader and an admiral we all admired. Not
only was he an astute Commander but he was alsc blessed with a sense of humour,
A few dajé later Nestor in company with Ghurka, Zulu, Foxhound and Arrow and
the cruiser Dido sailed for Malta. By hugging the french Tunisian coast we
all arrived at Malta safely. Though there were dive bomber attacks on arrival,
no damage to the recently arrived warships occurred. Christmas Day which was
celebrated alongside Canteen Wharfe in Malta was really rather a pleasant
occasion. We had Pivisions followed immediately by an air raid. After this
all the Officers went round the mess decks to wish the troops good cheer. All
the messes were decorated with flags and the tables were attractively prepared
with Australian foods. At noon all the Chief and Pet%y Officers were invited
to the Wardroom and given drinks until about 1300 (i.e.1 p.m.) It was a splendid
party which I believe was enjoyed by all., I was amazed at the morale and
friendliness of the whole Ship's Company.

Finally we 21l sat down to an amazing Christmas Dinner, considering the
time available in which to prepare it. The Staff did wonders. We had Turkey,
Christmas Pudding, Fruit, Nuts etc. in fact it was a great feast enjoyed by all.

After a ruch needed rest I went and had a game of squash with Peter Colclough.

On Boxinz; Pay we werc off again but this time bound for Alexandria.
Although we were straffed reavily by the Luftwaffe no damage occurred. As we
got close to Alexandria we were reinforced by some units of the Mediterranean
Fleect including Napier and Nizam. Needless to say news between us and our
Australiar sister ships was exchanged to the full. At last on the 29th
December the convoy arrived at Alexandria. The last part of 1941 was not very
exhilarating for the Mediterrancan. The Queen Elizabeth had been sunk at
Alexandria, or at least was resting on her bottom in shallow water, after an

Italinn fromman attuck while the Valiant was in dry dock, haviag been severely
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damaged and recently the PBarham had also been sunk. Coupled with this was the
fact that the enemy air effort was substantial, Thus the year 1941 came to a

rather alarming end.

Pefore leaving 1941 it is worth mentioning that on New Year's Eve we were
of f he harbour of Bardia, where the army were beginning their push into the
town. Tt was an emazing sight from the sea to see the tracer bullets and shells
all over the town. After a fairly formidable fighter escort joined us we closed
to bomvard. We crept up the coast with Ajax bombarding all the time. On
returning to the east, Nizam and Lingston joined us. We finally returned to

Alexandria just in time to see the Hew Year in.

One of the things that always amazes is how buzzes seem to swarm through
a ship - sometimes those in authority in a ship know what our next move is, but
more often we do not have an inkling of what is afoot. Frequently, by some
most remarkable means, the local buzz is right, but often it is way off course.
Thus when we sailed early in the New Year with a farewell signal from the
Mediterranean Fleet, buzzes were rampant, Some said we were on our way back to
Australia, while others said,perhaps more wisely, we are on our way to Singapore.
After a brief stay at Aden, in company with Nizam we joined the carrier Indomitahle
After a short stay at Trincomalee the aim of this operatien emerged. We were to
escort the carrier close to Singapore with R,A.F.Hurricanes on board, and these
were to be flown off so that they could boost up the air defences there. Vhen
some sixty or so miles from the area, the carrier increased speed, and with a
good head wind the Hurricanes were flown off. BNestor at this stage was the
emergency destroyer and was stationed on the starboard quarter of the carrier.
The R.A.F.Hurricanes had no hooks and so it was essential that all should get
away without a hitch. Alas, one Hurricane had engine trouble and it was clear
that it would have to land baci on the carrier, despite the fact that it did not
have the usual aids of Fleet Air Arm aeroplanes, The corrier increased speed to
maximun and we were all alerted to malie a rapid rescue if necessary. Down came
the Hurricane crashing into the harrier, largely wrecking the plane - but the
pilot was safe. It was a wonderful perforzance and we were so relieved that
the pilot had saved his life.

After this operation we made our way tack to Trinco and the destroyers
were refuelled from Applcleaf and Indomitahle. Nestor had to get her oil fron
the carrier, and unfortunately an error was made as the carrier connected us

up to a tank full of water instead of oil. Both toilers were put out and itwos
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some time before we actually got replanished. We usually got bread when we
replenished from a large warship and there was a temptation to say '"Thank you so
much for bread and water'. All this time the Japanese were profressing fast in
the Pacific and Far East, and furthermore Japanese bombers had attacked and
severely damaged Darwin in Australia. While the Japanese were going from victory
to victory the Far East Fleet was growing fast. We now had four hattleships

of the Royal Sovereign class; the carriers Indomitable, Formidable and Hermes,
seven cruisers and sixteen destroyers, plus seven submarines and a number of
minesweepers. On the 16th February Indomitable, Napier and Nestor sailed for
Port Sudan. It was a tragic time because we learnt that Singapore had fallen.
This rapid advance by the Japenese was having a direct effect on Australia and

many feared it would not be too long before there would be another thrust towards
Australia and New Zealand.

Port Sudan was reached on the 2hth of February and at once Indomitable
enbarked about fifty Hurricanes and crews and, as soon as they had loaded, we 2ll
sailed again for Ceylon via Aden., After fuelling at Aden we set forth at high
speed for Ceylon, both destroyers refuelling off Indomitable., Bad news was
received when we learnt of the lozs of Perth in the Java Sea and, not long after,
we also heard that Yarra, after a sterling fight, bhad been supnk in the Java area
by superior forces. As we approached Ceylon a large number of Hurricanes were
flown off, first to the Colombo area and then in the vicinity of Trincomalee,
These aircraft arrived in the nick of time because a few days later the Japanese
launched a major attack against Ceylon. Although the Allies were grossly
outnumbered the attack was thwarted at a loss of about nineteen or so of our
aeroplanes, All this time the strength of the Far East Fleet was increasing.
This expanding flect met at Addu Atoll and from there it carried out a patrol
between Addu and Ceylon. Though there were signs of our meeting a strong
Japanese fleet, and we did pass within nirety miles of them, the Japanese
decided to withdraw to the cast. The fleet then moved on into Bombay before
finally retiring to Kilindini in Kexzya. As time coved on it was decided to
reinforce the Mediterrancan again, and Group 2, consisting of the cruiser
Newcastle with the destroyers Napier, Nestor, Inconstant, Paladin, Hotspur and
Griffin kad an uneventful voyage back to the Mediterranean, arriving at
Alexandria on the 8th of June,

It was at this time that things were not going well for the Allies. The
war in North Africa was hecading for a rotreat, Malta was crying out for supplies,
Admiral Cunninghan was appointed as head of the Rritish Naval Mission in
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Battle of the River Plate. It was decided to run a convoy from east(Harpoon)
and west (Vigorous). There were to ve six ships in the western convoy and
eleven in the eastern under Admiral Vian. The enemy reconnaissance soon
discovered the eastern cﬁnvoy, and.it was not long before two of the convoy were
kit and were ordered to return to Alexandria, Next day a Dutch ship of the
convoy was also damaged and sent back to Alexandria. She, now defenceless, was
attacked by a strong force of enemy bombers and sunk within sight of Alexandria.
Meanwhile the Vigorous convoy was proceeding when Admiral Vian was asked by the
C-in-C the state of the escorts and how much ammunition they had. When he
replied that the escorts only had about a third of their ammunition which was
rapidly being used up, the C-inC decided to turn the convoy back to Alexandria.
At about 1800 Nestor was straddled by three 1000 lb.bombs, one only missing by

a few feet on the port side, At this time I was on the port éide of the iron
deck, and on the oerlikon gun was a sailor I did not much care for. He was a
dirty and lazy fellow and I did not think he pulled his weight in the ship. When
I heard the noise of the bomb falling I fell flat on my face, but this young man
stuck to his cerlikon and I had to admit that he had more guts than I. The whole
S?'g raised itself and shuddered as these bombs exploded and blew a large hole
in the port side. The worst hit area was MNo.1 boiler room. All power was lost
and the rudder was hard over. Several men were killed. The ship had already
taken a heavy list to port, which was to some extent alleviated by turning out
the boats on the starboard side and lightening the ship of all heavy weights on
the port side. Our leader ordered Javelin to stand by us. It was now clear that
there was a raging fire in a compartment next to a magazine, and I knew at once
that we must clear that magazine immediately otherwise the ship would be doomed.
I called for three volunteers and down the magazine vewent. I myself was as
frightened as the others, and I can tell you now that never had we worked so
fast, but with many willing hands up top we soon had the magazine eapty. The
ship had virtually no lights at all. The main reason for this was that the main
electric gencrators had Leen wrecked by the explosion and the emergency
generator, believe it or not, was in the boiler rooam which was, of course,
flooded. Whatever one may say about British ship construction this was a very
gtupid place to site the emergency generator. A a result of this terrible
situation all destroyers similarly constructed soon had another generator placed
well aft in the ship. WNestor was stopped with a heavy list and it was, to say
the least, unpleasant below decks in the dark. It was then decided to get
Javelin to take us in tow. From our point of view this was quite a major jobd,
as there was needless to say no power on the capstan,and cable is extremely

heavy. In due coursc the tow was passed and we let out about three shaclles of
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cable as well. The tow started. Because the ship had such a lot of water in
her plus a heavy list she was a dead weight to tow. Things were made no easier
since the rudder had about 30 degrees of helm on it, We tried to put the rudder
to midships but this by hand was a very tedious affair. To cut a long and rather

dreary story short, the tow in due course parted. We then had to struggle very
hard to get cut another towing wire and cable.

After a long haul the second tow was passed and in operation, but by this
time Nestor, though not by any means sinking, was very much down by the bow and
with a heavy list to port. It was not too long before the second tow parted also
and it became clear to the Captain and myself that towing was simply not going
to succeed without the use of a strong ocean going tug. We were in what was
termed "bomb alley"' and I knew that we would never get our ship home. I discussed
this with the Captain and we hoth agreed that as soon as daylight emerged we
would be 2 sitting target. I honestly believe that our ship's company were proud
of their ship which had fought so well and so hard, and I know it was a sad
moment when they knew that, very reluctantly, we had decided to scuttle. As soon
as we saw the first glimmer of light I got as many hammocks as possible and
gecured them over the side to act as fenders, and when they were ready Javelin
came alongside and we simply stepped into her. OShe cast off Nestor and swept
past her dropping a pattern of depth charges. Though this shook the "grand old
lady' she still remained afloat, but when this was repeated we knew the end had
come. Slowly and with a degree of dignity she reluctantly decided to leave us,

and there were few of us wio were not saddened by her loss,

It was not easy to know who had played the major part in dealing with the
situation once we were hard hit. We did lnow, however, that Surgeon Lieutenant
Watson played a brave and significant part in courageously entering No.1 boiler
room in order to try and rescue some of the team there. Only those who have had
first hand experience of a ship hard hit, listing to port and ia fact wallowing
in the swell, will appreciate that only with considerable comrage will an officer
or rating enter a flooding hoiler room gushing out steam. Ia all, two
Distinguished Service Orders, four Distinguished Service Medals and eight Meatiors
in Despatches were won by men who had the honour and privilege to serve in His
Majesty's Australian ship Nestor. Great credit is due to Cormander Rosenthal.

He took over a ship which had had a bad start and welded her into not only an
efficient ship but a happy one. Nestor played a very full part in the war and
the credit is largely due to her Captain. I,myself, not only respected Rosy as
a most able captain but one who was a leader as well as beirg a kind and

conziderate ran.
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We arrived back at Alexandria.and the officers were lodged in a local
hotel and the ratings accommodated in a camp a few miles out. Strange things
happen in war., Though we had lost a ship there was quite a party on the night
of our arrival, and no doubt guite a lot of "booze" was consumed, The first
lieutenant of H.M.A.S,.Norman was'iﬁ fact run over by a garry, -three ribs were
hroken and it was clear that he would be out of the running for some time. What
do vou think happencd ? I will give you one guess. I was immediately appointed
to Norman as the new First Lieutenant. This was even before I had any clothes

to wear other than those I was wearing when I left Nestor.

Before we finally leave Nestor I must just record onc small episode. HMost
of our ship's company were being sent back to Australia, and I thought I should
go and say goodbye to the Chief and Petty Officers. Another officer and I went
out by service car and met them all, and it was great fun to see them all again.
I was offered a drink and a glass of what I thought was "grog'(rum and water)
was givenh to me., I had a sip and te my amazerent and Lhorror I realised it was
neat rum, I suppose I should have asked for some water but it is easy to be wise
after the event. Anyway I did not and before long I had drunk the lot. That
is the last time I have ever had rum. I got back to my hotel by the skin of my
teeth and slept for avout twenty hours. This I feel was the final lesson I

learnt in what was probably my most favourite ship.

Thus I hecame the new First Lieutenant of H.M.A.S.Normar, a sister ship
of the Mestor. Her Captain was Commander Henry Burrell who had specialised in
navigation and dome a lot of staff work. I asked Peter Colclough, who was the
anti-submarine officer in Nestor, whether h2 would like to come with me to

Norman and he very Kindly said he would.

The first operation in which we were involved was that of the invasion
of Madagascar. This compared with Malta Convoys was a mild affair, though we
did not, of course, know this would be the case until we actually did it. The
rain part of the assault in which Norman was involved was that against Tamatave.
The plan was a bold one. It was for the main force to stand off and as daylight
energed to close in and call for & surrender. Norman was specially detailed to
anchor in a leading position as a guide rark for the main force. To the high
indignation of the navigator of the Norman, a non-specialist, a qualified
navigator was sant on board to cnsure that we did in fact anchor in the right
spot. Everything went according to plan except that rifle fire started up as

the boat went in. Then the order to open fire was given and in a very short
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time a white flag was shown. An envoy boat was sent out showing a white flag

but since there were insufficient signs of a full surrender, the main force of
Birm}ngham, Mauritius and Napier opened fire, and very shortly white flags were
strung up arnd they sufrendered. Shortly after this three destroyers secured
alongside and a Commando was landed. To compléte the story of this attack, I had
forgotten the name of the qualified navigator who was sent on board Norman. Sonme
thirty-nine years later, when I was living in Sﬁroton not far from Tlandford, =
man named Commander M.Webster bought a house in the village and I knew him quite
well:. It so happened that one day he told me that he was involved in the assault
on Tamatave. I then asked him which ship he was in. He replied that he had in
fact been lent to the Australian destroyer, Norman. I asked "Do you remenmber

the First Lieutenant of that ship, rather a good-looking young man, I think} 2¢
"No, I can't remember him" he‘answered. Myell,Malecolm'’ I said, "I was the

First Lieutenant of the Norman at that time". We bwoth laughed.

Life in the Norman was quietish during the invasion of Madagascar. I do,
however, remember that when we were supposed to be bombarding the coast I said
to the Captain '"We really cannot open fire, sir, all the children on the jetty
are waving!'. Thank goodness we did not fire on them. We were in dry dock at
Diego Suarez over Christmas and I can remember quite clearly that towards evening
on Christmas Eve quite a large quantity of beer arrived on board. This was the
first time we had received beer to sell to the ship's company. Tecause it was
getting dark I rather stupidly decided to cover the beer with an old awning and
strike it down in the morning. Imagine my horror to find when morning came that
all the beer had disappeared. What was even worse was that painted on the port
side in large white letters was "Happy Christmas George'". I searched high and
low for that beer and never found it. I also had to apologise to the Captain
and say that I could not turn the ship's company to on Christmas Day to paint
out the slogar on the port side. After the war, when I was captain of H.M.S.
Tenacious, I was walking down a street in Melbourne and a man came up to me
and said "You don't remeaber me do you,sir?" I had to confess that I did not.
After telling me his nanme he said "You never found thqt beer did you?' I said
“No, despite looking thoroughly, we never did find itV He said"You left it on
deck and a few of us pinched it and dropped it over the cassoon, pulling up six

cases a night". 1 had to adzit that they deserved to get away with it,

Tine marches on, and in the carly spring of 1943 I got a signal froz the
Admiralty saying that I had been sclected to do the long guanery course in a feu

montks' time, unless I would prefer to be given command of a destroyer.
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The latter was my imnediate choice and I signalled back to say so. I was
relieved at Durban for passage home. When I landed at Durbanl was sent for hy
the Naval Officer in Charge and told that I was to become Naval Provost Marshal
(MPHM) for a few weeks. I asked why and was told that the present NPM was under
close arrest for heing drunk aznd disorderly. Thus I became for about six or
seven weeks the Naval Provost Marshal. In that short time I did in fact malke
quite an impact. I reorganised nmy small staff and quickly found out that when
troopships came in there were always a number of deserters. They usually went
up to Johanneshurg where they got good johs and were well paid. I discovered
that they used to remain on the line, remote from the platform, and just as the
train was akout to move off, they leapt ahocard. I soon got the measure of this
one. I sent a patrol to each end, that is to say one at the front end of the
train and one at the back. The patrol at the front end would move down and the
deserters, seeing them coming, would retreat only to find that they were all
arrested by my second patrol, I remember also, when walking through the town

in the morning, I saw a sailor with his cap flat-a-back and his sleeves partially
rolled up. I stopped him and told him to put on his cap and roll his sleeves
down. I then asked him what his name was and he answered "&mith'', I then asled
for his cap which he gave me, and while I was looking at it seeing that his name
was not, of course, Smith, he started to run. Unfortunately for him I outran

him and brought him back to headquarters. He was a deserter.

Finally I was relieved amd weni by train to Capetown. There were three
others in the carriage and I was acked if I would play bridge. I was not keen
because I wanted to look out of the window to sec a bit of Africa., They explaired
that unless I played they could not play, so I gave in. There is always a penalty
for such things. The only verson who made any money at all was me. We arrived

at Capetown and I went home in a trooper.

In all, I spent two years in the Australian Navy, and though like cany
others I hate war, I must admit that I did really enjoy my time in these two
ships. I made many friends and I like to think that Nestor and Norman were well
run. Furthermore I learnt a lot and consider that I was extremely lucky to serwveo
under Rosy. Peter Colclough is a great friend of mine to this day, and needless

to say has done extremely well in civilian life.
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CHAPTER 1V

FIRST COMMAND

ﬁfter an uneventful voyage back home and a short leave I was appointed to
H.M.5.Walpole and giveﬁ some courses. This was really my first real command.
Though I had now spent about six years in small ships my experience of handling
destroyers was very limited. I was allowed to herth Nestor once at Gibraltar
hut no matter how much you have been instructed, first hand experience is what
is really needed. I joined H.M.S.Walpole at Harwich towards the end of Octoter
1943, She was a First VWar destroyer of the V and W Class and s0 was getting
rather long in the tooth. She was a member of the 16th Destroyer Flotilla and
was employed basically on anti-E hoat work, and as an escort for the many convoys
of merchant ships which ploughed south full and returning north largely empty.
We had a crew of ahout ten officers made up as follows - ﬁysalf as captain,
a first lieutenant as second-in-command who was a RNVR officer, a Chief Engineer
who was a commissioned Warrant Officer, a Warrant Officer Gunner, a Lieutenant
BNVR, four Sub-Lieutenants (some were RNVR) and a Surgeon Lieutenant. We came
at first under a Commander (D) but later on he was relieved by a Captain (D) in

the leader destroyer.

The plan was roughly as follows - the sea running from Rosyth to Southend
and on to Portsmouth was largely buoyed and swept hy minesweepers. It was also
divided into patrol areas. Snips of our Flotilla and those of the 21st Flotilla,
based at Sheerness, were detailed for these patrols. Usually we had to te on
station by dusk. Patrols depended to some extent on the weather and there were
many occasions when one was resting quietly, and I suppose hoping for a quiet
night, when out of the blue came a signal ordering you on patrol at once, and
you then had to weigh anchor and take up your position. The swept channels were
marked by buoys which were generally very dimly lit. One must have no illusions
a-out the navigational and pilotage risks which were considerable. The tides
and currents were suhstantial and the weather very variahle, sometimes foggy,
often rough and sometimes teeaing with rain. Furthermore we were oD night patrol
so the officer-of-the-watch and his "winger" had to be ready for immediate action.
Decause we tended to be basically night birds I used to have the armament manrc”
on a two watch basis at night, and a four watch basis when at sea by day. In the
event of an alprn or the suspicion of an approaching E toat the officer-of-the-
watch immediately pressed the "Action Stotions" bell and the whole ship turned
to at the double. Two things were essential. The first, that all the officers
knew exactly what their duty was, and secondly, that they did not tale over unt’

their eyes were acclimatised to the darkness. People sometimes ask how much you
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can see in the dark. The answer is, more than you would think. If your eyes

are accustomed to the dark and you have your biﬁoéulars focussed to your grading
it is possible on many nights to see quite a lot. All the destroyers were fitted
with asdic and, one must have no illusions, because even if E boats came over
fairly slowly, a listening watch would invariably give you a warning. Vhen T

took over the "wallop'', as she was affectionately known, we had a sort of

bedstead radar aerial which gave one a reasonahle cover over an area of about

140 degrees, that is to say 70 degrees on each bow., In addition to this we had
what we called a "Headache Chap'. He would be tuned into the wavelengths usually
used by the E hoats and, though they did not always have anything useful to report.

there were certainly occasions when they were invalualle.

Thougﬁ I was not experienced at sﬁip handling I knew all the ropes. I had
some good standing orders which made it crystal clear what the officers had to do
when we. were out. One of my main orders was that, when on patrol a buoy was
missed, I was to be called immediately. There was one occasion when for sone
obscure reason I woke up and decided to go up on to the bridge. The First
Lieutenant was officer-of-the-watch and I asked him where we were. It transpired
that he had missed a buoy and was just hoping it would turn up. I immediately
stopped engines and, after getting the forecastle party, anchored at once.
Believe this or not, had we gone on another few hundred yards or so we would
have been high and dry on Haisborough Sands. I practically ate the First
Lieutenant for breakfast. It was very interesting that, while a number of
destroyers in my group did run aground, some more seriously than others, and
even the great (D) got his screws round the moorings of a buoy, by sheer luck
and possihly hy being careful, we had no mishaps - we did however have a few

near misses.

There were two main convoys to protect., Those leaving the Rosyth area were
known as the FS when going south and the FY whea going north. Then there were
the Channel convoys that used to run from Southend to Portsmouth known as CV
going west and CE going east. Usually the 16th Destoyer Flotilla was employed
on a patrol but exceptionally we would have to fora part of the close escort of
the CE/CV convoys. Yhen doinz the Channel convoys we used to attend the Convoy
Conference which was held at the outer end of Southend Pier, which was the
longest pier in Britain. Froa time to time we used to have a few drinks at the
large hotel which was very near the inner end of the pier, This hotel had six

hars, or so they said.
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The procedure in the East Coast area was for the destroyers or frigates on
patrol to drive off the E boats which would be endeavouring to destroy shipping
either by torpedo or by laying mines in the most focal areas. The E boats would
normally came over in groups and sometimes they would encourage the destroyers
to give chase, so that another section could 5lip past into the searched channel
now left empty. As either an I'S or FN convoy arrived so the destroyer on patrol
formed part of the escort of the convoy so long as it was in his patrol area.

It would be mistaken to imagine that E hoat attacks always came from seaward,
furthermore they often lay close to a buoy in the hope that their presence would
be missed, at least by radar, and the fact that they were stopped would deny
detection by the anti-submarine listening device. It was well to remember that
an E boat had effective weapons and if there were, say, a group of three, a

destroyer would be unlikely to te able to take them all on single-~handed with any
confidence of success. '

During my time in Walpole we had many actions against E roats and, although
we were fairlv certain we had got in some useful hits, it was noi easy to produce
actual evidence of damage unless of course we actually sank one of the enenmy
attackers. GQuite soon after I joined, our foremost gun was removed and replaced
by an excellent quickfiring twin 6-pounder gun which proved a first class weapon
for the task. I thought it might be interesting to record one action in which
we were involved. At 2047 six E boats were illuminated by starshell at a range
of about 3100 yards (a mile and a half) and were engaged with all guns, and some
hits from the twin 6-pounder were observed. Shortly after this the E boats -
withdrew. On resuming course to the eastward, when still about three and a half
miles from the shipping channel, contact was regained hut some doubt existed as
to whether this contact was the enemy unit or not. Course was altered to c¢lose
when the radar indicated that there were several echoes which we believed to he
another group of E htoats. Speed was increased and, when the raage was down to
atout 2100 yards,the target was illuminated hy starshell. It was then clear that
this contact was in fact a different group and we opened fire with everything
we had, and hits were observed from the Pom poms and particularly from our twin
f-pounder. Though so often in this kind of warfare it is difficult to know just
tow well you have done, there was in this case no doubt at all. OQOae E roat was
clearly sunk and another shortly after “lew up. In all it was a most satisfactory
action from our point of view. It was rather nice to learn later that Lieutenant
C.E.Tooley, for his most distinguished conduct was awarded the Distinguished
Service Cross and I was awarded a Bar to nmine.

Lt At o
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From time to time certain towns and their districts were asked whether they
would like to adopt a warship., It sSo happened that Ely and District were asked
whether they would care to adont H,M.S,Walpole. This offer came ahout as a result
of Ely having contrihuted in Warship Week the sum of £269,000and they were
thrilied at the thought of adopting a destroyer. Apart from the exchange of a
plaque from them and the gift of the ship's crest from us the matter appeared
to have died a natural death, This was not so, howesver, as I and the Wardroom,
in consultation with the ship's company, agreed that we should ask for a small
team from Elyv, possibly led hy the Tishop or the Dean, to come and visit the
ship, talk to the ship's company and stay to lunch. I first of all asked
Captain (D) if it would be possible for the Walpole to be in on a certain date
and he assured me that, provided there was no dire emergency, this could be
arranged. ‘e then sent the invitation which was accepted with alacrity and in
due course the great day arrived. Led by the Dean a party of ten came to Harwich
and were welcomed on board. The ship was at Divisions and the Ely team were
first of all led round the Divisions and at each stop the Dean gave some stirring
words of encouragement and thanks. After this there was an opportunity for our
visitors to loolt at the ship more closely and there was a demomnstration of gun
drill and suchlike. The Chief Boatswain's Mate - a Petty Oificer - then gave
the Dean a boatswain's call which I really helieve he was delighted to receive.
Then, after half an hour or so, we gave the party drinks in the wardroom, but how
we all got in I cannot think, followed hy what in those days was a very nice
buffet lunch. After lunch, as always I suppose, I did say a few words of thanks
and appreciation. Finally the party ¥Yroke up and we wished our guests great

good fortune.

In these older ships it was necessary t¢ have the boiler cleaned fairly
regularly and on these occasions we were berthed alongside at Parkeston Quay.
Here every opportunity was taken to give leave in two groups, much of the actual
cleaning being undertaken by a shore team borne for this duty. Most ships,
including Yalpole, kept the Chief (Engineer) in the ship for this period, leavin;
him behind for a similar veriod when the cleaning was completed. It also gave us

an opportunity teo have a lot of minor defects corrected.

Facilities ashore at Harwich were on the whole quite good. There was a
cinema, one or two bars, a junior ratings cluh, something similar for the senior
rates and a kind of club a few miles away for the officers. I can well rezeoher
the dropping of a deptk charge off the Fast Coast which we were allowed to do
everv 5ix months. I thought it would *e a good idea if we could manage to get
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; a few really fresh flsh“on thla occa51on and so I selected where we. would go to

let off our 51x-monthiy cha;ge w1th Bome cares. God must have-bheen.on .our side

because we kllled more cod than I had ever seen before. Ve 51mp1y ralked them in

_ 1 and though many would say that cod is a dull flsh all I can say- is.that when

“1t comes stralght fron tne sea and 1nto the pan . it tastes delicious and quite

dlfferent from t e usual cod bought fron a. flshmonger which may- well have spent

3

. many weecs 1n tran51t Ue had 89_many cod that We were able to.give a large
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As we ventured 1nto 1944 the pOSSlbllltj of a future 1nyaslon of. nurope

omr s oer

e o

seemed nore and more llkely., As we were nore or, less permanently on.the eastern

S0

'iDSLde o; the Unlted Klngdom nany of us teran to Wonder what the greal masses of

N

extraordlnary looklnv floatlng concrete boxes could:be fory: and . .all sorts of

oo

suggestions were made, As summer began to approach and stacks of.books and

documents arrived, all sealed and not to be opened until ordered, the possibilityv

.. of an_ 1nva51on became, at least to.me,.a certainty,.Finally I was ordered to

open some;. .of the 1nvas1on orders which showed quite.glearly where.the invasion

was 501ng to take place. It was interesting to note:that, even:if: the enemy did

,get hold of,tbe Pl?PS;I had, it would not have been;possible:for.him to have knova

wheo the.intasion.was going to_be-mounted- Furthermore.there was a.great deal

iof evldence that 1t was lzkely to take place in an-area qulte different -from the

one shown on the plans The amendments to these plans were:.substantial .and I had
to get one or two offlcers, who were sworn to secrecy, to help me carrv out the
necessary corrections.

-. L - R o, * L2

When the 1nva510n started Halpole was due to escort a convoy on the beaches

on D + D As we were to start fron the HarW1ch area this rpeant we had teo sail

at least two days before. The routes were all clearly laid down-and those leadir-
towerds theulanding areas were slightly different from those leading away. Thic
was to reduce the risk of collisions, since the volume of shipping both inmards
and outwards would build up significantly, Despite a slight weather hitch which
postponed the starting date the invasion was on and, once the signal was made
initiating the start,any chance of arresting it was impractical. The routine

was that we eseorted the convoy keeping the ships moting togethef‘aaqc;osely as
possible. I can remember quite clearly one American ship badly hehind station
and, after chivvying him up, he made a signel back saying "Don't ke too kard on
ce - I've only done a correspondence course on this htusiness". On arrival at

our “each the control of the shipe was taken over by the landing orgaaisation, th~

escorts 'eing required to report to a particular unit. We were then told where




- Sk -

to anchor and when we would be required again., Usually this would be about
1600/1700 on the same day. On arrival we could see the initial steps taken to
build part of a prefabricated harbour - this at last explained what the floating
concrete boxes were for. All would he fairly quiet during tﬁe day except for

the odd air alert. As w2 now had definite air superiority over that part of the
Channel and over the landing “eaches, interference at least at first was 1 :wor.
Then when zero hour arrived we weighed anchor and started to round up our outwar:
tound convoy for the journey btack, On arrival off the eastern end of the Isle

of Wight those ships hound for Southampton/Portsmouth and the west were detached
while we turned eastward with those hound for the London area. Although I had
expected that all shipping hcund for the landing heaches would be attacked by
gvery means possihle, so far this was not so. At the same time it did mean that
we had to keep ourselves on the zlert for attack from the air, E hoats, submarine=
and, not to he forgotten, mines. Though the work for the escorts was hard it wzs
the greatest possible satisfacticn that the worm had at last turned and we were

on our way bvack, not only to Lurope, but to victory.

There were three specific episodes that I can well remember, The first was
the effect of almost dense low-lying fog. Visibility was down to a few hundred
yards or even less in some places, and thoughwe all by now had radar the density
of shipping was such that it was of limited value., The extracordinary thing was
that our aircraft flying overhead could see the shipping clearly yet we could not.
However, thank goodness, fog seldom lasis long and it was soon quite clear again.
Some say that it is seldom really rough in the Channel. Believe you me this is
simply not true, and it was not long after the initial landing that the weather
hlew up to gale force winds, and it hecame s0 rough when we were anchored off
the eaches that it was quite impossihle to get on to the forecastle to weigh
anchor. All we could do was to raise steam and keep the ship as steady as possi>ls

Fair weather did eventually arrive and things then went on more or less as usual,

The third strange thing that occurred was when we were proceeding in the
Channel. To my acazement I saw a geeat ball of light looking like an aircrait
on fire rushing through the sky towards the English coast. When I saw another
and then another I realised that these were a form of enemy rocket or what ws
eventually called the “doodlebug! which, when the engine cut out, dived down ox
to the land exploding in a terrific shattering bang. I reported this but it

vas clear soon afterwnrds that the authorities knew all akout these fdoodlebuszs.



In addition to my sister Mary, the eldest of five, I also had three Wrothers
Peter, for years a favourite friend, Michael and John. We 2all went to different
schools -~ Peter going te Blundells in Devonshire, Michael to Eastbourne College
and John to Bradfield. WUhile Peter and Michael were good at games, John, I think
nost would agree, w&s less so. On the other hand John was, in my view, the bhest
educated having gone to Cambridge to read modern languages. All three brothers
fought in the war. Peter joined the Royal Air Force on the administration side
and spent a lot of his war days in North Africa. Michael was a territorial as
a Guerilla and was in this regiment the whole war, never leaving India. John,
who worked for Dunlop's, was in London and hecame a territorial in the Finshury
Rifles. His regiment was overnight transferred to Anti-Aircraft Command and
he thus spent the whole war as an AA gunner. He asked me whether there would
be any chance of his coming over to the invasion teaches in the '"Wallop'.

I said there would %e no difficulty although I could not guaréntee he would
necessarily get back in my ship. He accepted with alacrity and we took him
over. He landed soon after we had anchored and spent the whole day prowling
around looking at what was going on and generally seeing another side of life

at war. Strange to say, just as we were weighing anchor, a boat arrived
alongside and John stepped on board. He had had a great day and seen so0 much.
The funny thing was that though I had been over to the invasion coast many times

I never had the opportunity to land.

Looking back on my life in the Walpole I can remember two things that
affected me, I used to wear a very warm little anorak thing which kept the
upper part of me nice and snug though it did not really go down very far. 1T can
recall when we got in one day sitting down in the wardroom and dozing off. VWher
I awoke I could not get out of my chair - I had more or less seized up. All the
doctors said it was a disc or something. IHowever after twenty-four hours of
warmth I had more or less recovered, though in fact it toock me some years to
throw off this trouhle. The other thing I remember was that when I joined
"Wallop'" my knowledge of ship handling was very limited. FKowever, after some
ponths and a number of not too serious bumps, I got hetter and better. One day,
for no apparent reason, I took Walpole out of Harwich backwards. Destroyers kave
great power and once you have confidence there is very little you canrot do with
them. The only person who was a bit affronted was the Chief, who said in ro

uncertain terms that I really should not have dons it without warning him first.

We did quite a lot of entertaining on board - coetly Wreas, and I think it

would te fair to say there was a tendency for us to entertain core of the Wren
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ratings than the officers. There was a host of ratings including plotters,
hoats! crew, drivers, cinema operators and so on. Many have often asked me way
I never got married in the war., I am not guite sure that I know the reason why,
T think I was afraid of getting married, having children and then getting bumped
off, partially because I felt that I was doing a good job and, 1if I were married,
I would te less good at it, and I suppose partially beeause possibly I never

found the right girl - though this did not prevent me irom trying.

As tha war crept on we were gradually moved over to do more and more work on
the European side and soon we were patrolling off the Scheldte. Looking back I
had heen very lucky during the war but it always seems that sooner or later the
dice will he loaded against one. Thus it was, on the evening of the 5th
Fenruary 1945, that in company with H,!.S.Rutherford we arrived on patrol 19
not too far from the Scheldte with Walpole stationed ahout a ﬁile to seaward.
This was on account of the recent number of midget submarine attacks that had
taken place in the general area. The patrol was uneventful until about 0740
on the following morning when the officer-of-the-watch, the First Lieutenant,
reported that there was something floating not far ahead. I was in the operatic.-
room at this moment but on my way to the bridge. He followed up his report by
saying that it was a mine. I heard the order "Starboard 30" followed almost
immediately by a tremendous explosion when the whole ship seemed to rise out of
the water. It was clear that the mine had hit the ship somewhere amidships.
An emergency signal was sent to Rutherford. Already the ship was heeling over
considerably. It was soon clear that MNumber 1 beiler room had been floodéd and
that all power had been lost. When an old ship such as Vealpole is hard hit there
is usually a considerable amount of damage. The Chief Engineroom Artificer, the
Chief having been left tehind, arranged to shore up the tulkhead between the
flooded boiler rcom and the next compartment. Although considerable efforts
were nmade to try and raise steam in the other two “oilers they mel with no success.
In due course %he ocean-soing tug Saucy took us in tow and we arrived in the
vicirity of Sheerness. Tragically we lost the crew of Numher 1 hoiler roon

and all the usual steps werc taken to inform the authorities and the next of Kin.

Alas, the end of Walprole was in sight and it was needless to say a sad
partins for us all. Two szall things are nerhaps worth recording. The first was
that some time before the wardroom hought some quite attractive prints of old
ships btut then could not get them framed. I was aslied if I could get then framed
sozehow. 1 asked ir.Clements, the nmanager of the Boat Yard if he could help and

he agreed to frame then in teak in exchange for a duty free tottle of gin.



This he did. When it was decided that the ship was to be scrapped I was asked
if I would now like to have the prints. I said I would and I still have then:
today. The other thing is that on one of the after screen doors was a brass
plate of ahout six or seven inches in diameter which showed a picture of a bell
reing Tung hy a band,. and in ths centre of the kell was another picture of a man
clasping or wringing his hands. Tﬁough at first we thought this was the crest
of the dgstroyers in the First Vorld War it now seems more likely that this was
in fact Walpole's own crest. It is now thought it was based on what Sir Rober:
Yalpole said in 1739 on the declaration of war with Spain "They now ring the
bells, but they will sooniring their hands", I took this crest off the after
screen and have it today.

The Navy is really guite unlike the Army which is basically based on the
regiment, In the MNavy your 'regiment” for, dare I say, a couple of years is
one's ship., After leaving your last ship you are soon in another and thus you
have virtually a new "regiment', 1If one is a specialist your real hoze is where
you took your specialist course. “If on the other hand you are what is termzd o
"salt-horse', a non-specialist, you have no basic establishment. In Walpole
there were two or three officers with whom I have kept in touch. There is Ted
Tooley who lived at Hessle near Hull and his wife. I have kept in touch with
the Tooleys all these years and am in fact godfather to one of their sons.
Fumphrey Juler, the doctor, was always a friend of mine and, strange to say,
vears later he recame my GP at Charlhury. Finally, only ahout a year ago whern
at a concert at Bryanston School, a chap came up to me and said "You don't
rememer me do you, sir?" It was indeed Simmons who is now a four-ringed
captain and had a son and daughter in the school. Simmons had been in Walpole
with me, How well he must have been trained! I said a little earlier how 5ad

it was to lose Walpole for ever and indeed it was a sad time for us all., Possihlw

the final signal from the Commander-in-Chief is worth quoting. It said "It is
sad to sce the passing of your fine ship. She has performed long and nohle

service and your commission has added lustre to her name'.

Cn looking tack over my two years in Walpole I feel I had heen most fortuant-.
I had left a French Chaser and H.M.S.Stanley just before hoth ships were lost il
all hands; I was sun in H.M.A.S.Nestor and suffered rot a scratch and thougn
bullets had passed through the “ridge in Walpole they had missed me. I had lea-n:
a lot as well. I had to contend with suhstantial pilotage problems,tides,currciu:d
and shoal water. I learnt how to handle a destroyer well and now had two years'
experience of Action Information and Plotting and had dealt successfully with -0
E “oat attacks. I also took part in one of the greatest invasions of Europe anc
lived to tell the story. Finally 7 !ad command 'of a happy and contented ship wiic™

]
wmr alrn ar officient unit of the Fleet,
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CHAPTER V

H.M,S.TENACIOUS ~ ARMISTICE

In the early spring of 1545 I was appointed to be "Spare Destroyer Commanding
Officer, Far East Fleet' and in due course embarked in a large troopship for
passage to far eastern waters. I shared a cabin, if.that is the right word, with
twenty-two others and, needless to ssy, space was tight. In addition to the
discomfort of the cramped conditions we had only two ﬁain meals a day which were
timed on the following basis. Those who had breakfast at 7 a.m. had the evening,
and last, meal at & p.m., and those who breakfasted at 7.45 a.m. had their last
meal at 4.45 p.m. and so on. Though the meals were substantial one was extremely
hungry by the time the next meal was due. This of course resulted in many,

including myself, taking away a fid of food to fill the gap.

Though there were mény senior cofficers on hoard I was appointed Officer
Commanding Troops which, with the enormous number of troops being carried, was
not an easy job, I did, of course, have some perks as it meant that I had an
office to myself and a secretary of sorts as well as access to the Supreme Officer

Commanding Troops, a Group Captain.

When we were in the Mediterranean the war in Europe ceased. After a long
hard struggle Victory Europe had arrived at last. The order "Splice theMainkrace"
was given and, strange to say, this Trooper had rum on hoard. I was thus faced
with issuing out rum to many thousand officers and men. The great snag was to
prevent the more foolhardyrfrom Ygoing round the buoy' and, with the numters
involved, this was a difficult tasl:. I, as usual, used the Royal Marines to
undertake the issue and I can remember quite clearly one Royal Marine Corporal

passing out, not from drinking rum but sinply from inhaling the fumes.

Among the many on board were a fair nunber of Australian troops and, when we
were one day out from Perth, the Officer Commanding Troops told me there would
he no leave ashore for anyene. I said I thought this was an unwise decision as
the Australians had been away from home for & long time and I doubted whether
they would accept such an order. leedless to say they did rot and simply marched
ashore past the sentries. The Officer Commanding then said that there was to he
a route march through Perth of all troops on board. Again I demurred and pointed
out that I did not think this was a wise idea hut again I was over-ruled. The
march started and, without exagerration, we lost nearly all the lower deck rates
of all three services as we marched past pu™ after puh, and a few officers es

well. 0.C.Troops was livid “ut, when he recalled my warning, hte did not dare



comment to me. In due course we arrived at Sydney and I was put up in the

Hotel Metropole. This hotel was much frequented hy the farming fraternity and
the food was not only substantial in quantity but of a very high standard,
Breakfast, for instanée, consisted of fruit juice, grapefruit, eggs and bacon,
with 2s many ezgs as you liked, plﬁs a large chop,with lashings of toast, honey
or marmalade, with coffee or tea, and this gave me a most favourable impression

of Australia after the stringent food rationing at home.

After a few weeks I vas ordered to join Tenacious at Manus in the Admiralty
Islands, New Guinea, and accordingly embarked on a trooping aircraft with many
others. I said this was a trooping flight, and I suppose it was, though most
of us had to sit on mail hags. Yhen we landed at Townsville to refuel we learnt
that one engine was defective. Tor three of four days we had to get down to
the airport at ahout 6.30 a.m., only to discover after an hour or so that all
was not well and there would he 2 further twenty-féur hours delay. However,

I made friends with a very charming Maval Chaplain and we passed the time
pleasantly enough discussing religion and many other topics. At last we arrived
at Manus and I was accommodated in the local mess until the next day wken

I arrived on board Tenacious to talke over from Lieutenant Commander D.F.Townsend.
Soon after I joined, the ship was alive with “"buzzes" and on the 5th of July

the Fleet came back from Australia and hurried preparations were made. The British
Tleet consisted of one battleship, three carriers, six cruisers and eighteen
destroyers, plus of course the Fleet Train Replenishment Force, yet none but

the very privileged knew our ultimate destination. The Qyartermaster was told

to steer 040 degrees and the revolutions for fifteen knots were rung on. On our
way to the north east I was told to refuel from the cruiser Achilles. All went
well to start with, but then it appeared that Tenacious was not steering the
course ordered and it was clear that unless immediate action was talen there

would he a collision. Ohviously something was seriously wrong so I decided to
steer outwards and hreak the oil hose. It then became evident that the gyro
compass rad gone "off the “oard". Refuelling at sea is not difficult provided

all poes well, htut when, unexpectedly, there is a failure as in this case, instant

action has to te taken to save the day.

While we continued on a north easterly course the secrecy of the operation
continued, many saying "We don't know where we're going 'til we get there'.
Then, at last, I was able to speali to the ship's coapany and tell thea that the
British Fleet was proceeding to join up with the American Fleet under Admiral

lalsey, for operations azainst Japan. It would thus be our duty to attack,
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withdraw to replenish, and then attack again. On the 6th July we met up with
the American Fleet to become the Lith Task Group. It was indeed a thrilling and
imposing display of allied naval strength, Thus for the remainder of July and
into August we struck the Japanese hour after hour. Over one thousand aeroplanes
took part in the day strikes zlone ‘and, at the same time, the B29 Force from

the U.S.Army Air Base commenced their destructive attacks, So strike after
strike took place with only a short respite for replenishment., The destrovers
during replenishment were #ery ~usy indeed. They had, of course, to refuel and
replenish themselves and then to ferry all manner &f items including spare parts
for the aircraft, food, mail and everything imaginable to the carriers and
cruisers. In fact it was a relief when night fell. Days lengthened into weeks
and still we persisted in our attacks against the enemy. Then one day we had a
breaik when we, in company with Terpsichore, Termagant, Newfoundland and Gambia,
were detailed to take part in the first bombardment of the Japanese coast. Qur
target was the industrial centre of Ramaish. It was a tense moment as we.
approached the shores of the Japanese mainldhd on the morning of the 9th of
August, particularly as Tenacious was the leading ship of the line. As the
coast came nearer and nearer we expected the shore batteries to open fire at any
toment. At last at about 12.45 we turned into line at a distance of about two
miles, which to us seemed very much closer. At the same time the heavy American
ships opened fire and the noise and concussion were enormous, At the same time
it was not possible to see exactly how successful we had been, tut we were soon
to learn that amerial reconnaissance indicated that our major homhardment had
heen a great success. In all I suppose the bomhardment had lasted for about

two hours, and, as far as I can recall, we were not attacked at all, though there
were a few spasmodic attacka on the American hattleships. Sooa after this
operation we rejoined the Fleet and went about our normal, or almost normal,

duties.

Though the two atomic bomb attacks actually took place on the 6th and 9th
August I caanot recall hearing ahout them - perhaps they were not so descrived -
but there were rumours that Japan might be considering swrender and at six
o'clock in the corning, when our aeroplanes were on their way to bhozb Kode,
we heard that the Japanese had surrender:d unconditionally. At eleven o'clock,
the time of the official Cease Fire, Admiral Halsey broadcast to the Fleet.

No sooner had he started thar there was a '"Flash Red" and shortly afterwvards
a Japanezse aircraft was seen diving vertically downwards towards thke Tritish
carrier Indefatigahle. Luckily it missed astern tut this attack was sufficient

to keep us on our toes - surrender or no surrender.
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Ye thought it would be only a short time before we would all be sailing into
Tokyo harbour, but this was not to be just yet. While we were waiting we ran
into a typhoon., This was an awful day for us all and it is, so far as I am
concerned, imﬁossible to describe adequately. The wind rose, the sea rose, the
rain?poured down and, in a very short time, it was impossihle to keep station
or indeed to see anything at all. Radar was, of course, completely hHlotted out.
There mre rules for avoiding typhoons and I can only conclude that these were not
obeyed. What I can say is that the conditions were so terrible that fighting
was impessible. It was not even safe for anyone to attempt to cross the iron
deck, All the British destroyers suffered some damage such as loss of boats
and various equipment washed over the side. Those who have served in destroyers
will know how uncomfortable they are in rough weather. Few will, I feel sure,
nave passed almost through the centre of a typhoon. I have heard many stories
about typhoons and even heard some say that the centre is a flat calm. From ry
ovm experience this is simply not trus. It was extremely rough and tempestuous
“weather and I had to decide how best to cope with this ghastly situation.I stopped
all personnel movements on deck and then manceuvred the ship on to the most
comfortable course I could find and decided to ride the storm out., All things
eventually come to an end and finally the weather hegan to improve, the wind
eased, the rain stopped and the sea became less rough. From this experience I
decided that if ever I were in command of a group of ships faced with the approach
of a typhoon I would, as far as I could, follow the rules and avoid passing

through the dangerous quadrant.

Once the typhoon had passed we reformed and things went on as ususl., It was
thus with relief that, at the end of August, Tenacious was sent round the fleet
collecting mails, etc. and was then detached to proceed into Tolyo Bay. Early on

the first of September, after sizty days at sea, we entered Tokyo and anchored in

Sagami Bay.

The signing of the surrender too% place in U.S.S.Missouri on the next day
and, although we were only about a mile from her, it was not easy to see ruch in
detail. Yowever, with binoculars, I was able to watch the Japanese Generals
and naval equivalents come on board. Clearly it was a great day for the Allies -
the war, after so long and some disastrous occasions, had ended. I, for one,
was deeply relieved. The Pritish Commander-in-Chief was Admiral Pruce Fraser
and on the night of the surrender he held a party in the {ing George V. To this
partv were invited all the Coowonwealth (en expression not used at this time)

Sirnatories, Cencral Percival who surrendered at Singapore, a Captain of &
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carrier, support carrier, cruiser, destroyer and a Captain from the Fleet Train.
T was astonished to find that I was the destroyer Commanding Officer invited to
attend this great dinner. Though this a1l took place over thirty-six years ago
I can remember it all very clearly. The war had ended and we were, to put it
mildly, relieved and thrilled. I sat next to an Air Commodore who Qas the Wew
Zealand signatory and I asked him what it was like at the surrender. He said
it had heen most impressive to see all the high-ranking Japanese commanders
coming in, saluting and hending over their swords. He said one could not help
fealing very proud that we, the Allies, had won the day. Tew Zealand, heing
the most junior mem-er of the Commonwealth, had to sign last. FHe explained that
he had to sign three times, and when his turn came there were only two pens on
the table. He had signed with the two pens and then taken his own fountain pen,
a Parker, out of his vocket and signed the third paper with that. He was just
about to put it away when the white-gloved hand of a U.S.Marine descended and

voice said V'I am sorry, sir, but that pen has to go into the museum'', It was

m

a great dinner and I, and I dare say a few others, got a bit pixilated. Various
high-ups’ made speeches and so I thought thai perhaps I should propose a toast
too. So I stood up and proposed the toast of His Majesty's Ship, King George V.

No one laughed so I thinik T got away with it.

For our next jo» we were sent to South Japan to bring out Allied prisoners
of war. We arrived at Hammamatsu, where there was a large camp, and emharked
a considerahle numher of ex-prisoners of war. Though we were all so relieved
that the war was over and our morale was high, it was certainly shaken when we
saw these emaciated mer all of whom had heen underfed and many brutally assaulted.
It had a very so“ering effect on me when I realised how much these prisoners had
suffered and how many had in fact died in captivity. After returning to Tokyo
Pay with these ex-prisoners of war we were sent up to North Chima to bring out
a large number 'of people who had »een interned. On arriving at a port in the
vicinity of Chingwanztoa I met a lJonsul wiw offered me a drink, saying that all
he hiad to offer me was Russina vodka. So far as I knew I had never had vodic
before and thought it would he rather fua to try it. The first glass did net
seen to taste of anything much, so I did not hesitate to have another and then
another, After the third I suddenly realised that it was a lot stronger than I
had originally thought - I saw “he red light and escaped with oy life. We emrerked
a large nunber of internees aged anything frox over eighty down to a few weels.
Amongst them was the Pishop of Shantung and though we were obviously short of
cabins it was thought he should he allocated one, We loaded up with our valuatle

human cargo and set sail for Hong Kong. The next morning the First Lieutenant
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came to me and said that the 3Dishop was not feeling too well and wondered

whether he could have a tot of rum. I, perhaps rather stupidly, felt sorry for
him and so he got his tot. However, when the request gas repeated the next day,

I had my suspicions and, though I am a strong supporter. of the church, T felt
that.even bishops know é thing or two and so, unfortunately for him, the bishop
did not have his second tot, It was a great experience bringing out the interneces
and, generally speaking, they were in far better condition than the British end

Colonial prisoners of war we had brought out from South Japan.

During the period immediately after the signing of the armistice in Tokyo
Tenacious was sent into Shanghai, On this occasion we were, I believe, only the
third or fourth ship into the Wangpoo and there were no pilots. A destroyer
does not draw much water so the risk of running aground is not so great as it
would be in a cruiser, I kept to the middle of the river and, with a praver on
my livs, arrived safely. The tide runs very fast al Shanghai ‘except at slack
water, and by careful planning we managed to turn round and secure hefore the
rush of the flood tide. I knew two families in Shanghai. My cousins, Bernard
and Joyce Crowley lived in a pleasant house a little way from the main centre.

He was tne manager of Dutterfield and Swire, but as the war progressed they were
ultimately told that they would be interned within twenty-four hours, so they put
all their valuable possessions in a case and buried it in the garden, just in
time as they wére interned the next day. They said that life in internment was
safe Lut dreadfully boring and that food was very short, but their Chinese
servants loyally came once a week and gave them extra food which greatly relieved
the pangs of hunger. The cther couple that I knew was the Manager of the Trams
and his wife whom I had met, I think, coming out to New Zealand many years hefore.
They were hoth Scots and very kind and hospitahle. They too, like my cousins,
had been interned and were now endeavouring to get their organisation running
again. We had a very hapov time as I frequently had them on hoard. The Manager
of Trams and his wife were wridge players so we had several games of hridge when
trev dined with me. Mv cahin was on 2 deck ahove the “athroom and lavatories
and, in nv stupidity, we men went "elow to relieve ourselves leaving the women

to use the tinyljttle closet wnich had no lavatory, only a wash tasin. They
politely pointed out their difficulty and a rather red-faced Lieutenant Commander
had to put matters to rights. Needless to say one only makes this sort of

nistalke once,

\Mhile we were in Shangnai we speat a lot of our time repairing buildings,

such as various clubs. llaving a shipwright and several engine-rooa artificers




as well as some amateurish help, we soon made guite an impact. Eventually our

time to leave arrived and we set sail for #Jong Kong. By the time we returned

there, great stirides had been made to get the place btack into some sort of

recognisale shape, and the ship's company and officers had an opportunity to

play games.

Pefore sailing south back to Australia I was asited to take two old

nissicnaries with me - a brother and sister, both over eighty and the sister

crippled with artiritis.

After careful thought and, knowing the weather and life

at sea in destroyers, I reluctantly declined, recommending that they go in a

larger ship. The brothaer came to see me and hegged me to take them. I said that

it would we wvery diffieult as there were no lavatories near my cabin, and for

someone who could hardly walk it seemed to me it would be impossible. He then

asked me whetner I had any idea of what the life of & missionary was like, let

alone what it was like to ke interned Wy a nation which did not helieve in

Christianity. T gave in and said we would do our best to make them comfortable.

In due course they arrived in a hoat and then the trouhle hegan since a destroyer's

ladder is not designed to be climbed by someone suffering from arthritis. We

rigged the torpedo davit and attached a chair to the end, instead of the usual

fitting, and up she came.

She was then carried to my cahin., I, possibly somewhat

emharrassed, explained that there were no lavatories on this deck and no other

woman aboard to help. She just laughed and said something like this "I have

suffered more privations than you would imagine and the fact that you are going

to talke us to Australia is a wonderful thing'.

She went on to say that Ledpans

or pots would be ideal and that she would make friends not only with the Sick

Berth Attendant but with the whole ship's company. I learnt a lesson that I shall

never forget. The sequel to
south but Mrs.Missionary, as

memer of the ship's company

—t

this story is that it was fairly rough on the way
I called her, was not sick and held court to every

who were all charmed ty her.

can rememher most clearly on one occasion, soon after berthing at Hong Koar,

we were instructed to proceed with all dispatch to search for a ditched R.A.A.T.

Daliota. It had left Hong Yong that morning hound for Sydney and it was believed

to have crashed somewhere in the vicinity of Yainan Islard. When instructed to

proceed "with dispatch' we did exactly that.

We left at high speed and

proceeded through Leirun Poss at twenty-four Ymots, causing a certain amount of

consternation to the many water craft in the vicinity. In conjunction with tie

ravigator, Chick Thornton, we decided to start the searci well to the windward

of the hest known position of the crashed aircraft and then to search down wind.
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Though it was a rough weather day we had the sea hehind us and this saved us from
damaging our ship. By the time we arrived at our starting point it was dark.

I placed many loockouts and prepared fo use starshell and searchlights. We were
lucky hecause it was .not too long before someone sighted a light and in a short
time we had saved six survivors which was a great relief to us all. Three other

destroyers joined us and a more thorough search was conducted, hut unfortunately

with no success.

I am always amazed how almost every ship in which I have served seems to have
the ahility to produce excellent entertainment. Sometimes this is in the form
of a pantomime, a thrilling play, pure comedy and even a so-called '"radio
programme''. In Tenacious we were extremely fortunate as the Gunner (T),
Hr.V;lentine, was an ace at producing not only a pantomime but also 'Radio
Tenacious''. One Christmas pantomime at Shanghai was a real masterpiece. It was
strongly supported by the Shanghai Dramatic Society and was really funny - nobody
who saw it will forget Squire Turpentine and many others. Such forms of
entertainment which involve a fair numher of the ship's company are really

worthwhile and everyone, almost without exception, thoroughly enjoys them.

Time marches on and, at last, we were almost on our way home. We reached
Shanghai on New Year's Eve. The Yangpoo was ablaze with the signal "Happy New
Year' flying from every yardarm as we entered and moved towards our herth. We
only stayed a few hours in Shanghai and then slipped and sailed past the Telfast.
"is was a stirring moment as she gave us a great cheer as we left. So, in
company with another destroyer, we sailed home stopping at Hong Xeng, Darwin and
down through the Creat larrier Reef. This was quite an experience as many of
the normal navigational aids were still missing. By placing good lockouts with
strict instructions to report any possihle sign of shoal waters we managed to
get through what was really a most fascinating trip without any trouble. Ve

arrived at Sydney where we stayed for a few days and then sailed for Melbourne.

Even today I am amazed at the variety of duties ships are called on to
perform. A good example is to record what happened when we were at Meldbourne.
Ye were told to take ~ nmillion pouads in gold back to England. A little man
caze on board to explain what we had to do. 1 decided that we would place the
gEold in one of the magazines and I had a special awning rigged under the hrow
(hangway) and although eact “az was heavy we counted them twice, once when they
arrived at the “row and agair when they were passed down into the magazine.

In due course all the “oxes were em“arked and stowed down the magazine which was
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locked and the key given to me. The little man then came to my cabin and asked
for my signature for receiving one million pounds in gold for passége to the
Tnited Xingdom. I explained to him that I could not very well sign as all T
knew was that we had received so many hoxes said to contain gold, hut of course
I did not know what in fact each hox contained. We had clearly reached an
impasse. -Finally he said that if T lost only'one of the boxes I would never

be able to pay for it. Eventually after a drink or two I dscided that I had
better sign. I then had a few weeks to decide what to do when we finally got
back to Devonport. W%hen we did in fact arrive there a van came alongside with
a motor bicycle police escort. A man came on board and said that he was from
the Zank of England and had come for the gold. I said to him that, before w=z
started to disembark the gold,he must of course he prepared to sign a statement
to the effect that he had received one million pounds in gold. He said, as I
had done previously, that this was quite impossible. I then said that unless
he signed or I was given a direct order to hand the zold over we could get no
further. Drink is a wonderful lubricant in difficult situations because.éfter
two, or was it three, he signed and the gold was finally disemharked. That is

the closest I have Yeen to teing, at least temporarily, a millionaire.

We only had five days at Melrourne when we emvarked food for ‘ritain,
followed hy only two days at Freemantle where ncst of us topped up with food
and 'goodies" for our families before we said Goodbye to Australia. Ye then
had that long voyage across the Indian Ocean., Here, through the tireless
efforts of the Gunner (T), entertainment-abounded. He ran fancy dress parades,
impromptu concerts, tug-of-war contests and every conceivahle amusement. Ue
stayed only two days in Ceylon and to everyone's great joy it was spent at
Colomho and not at Trincomalee. Here many bought tea, sandals and presents
hefore we sred on to Aden via Jombay. We had only a few hours at Aden en route
to Port Said, Thourh it was a Sunday it was agreed tiat we should paint shin
as this would be thie last opportunity before arriving in the United Kingdom.
Here there was a slight sethaclc as one of the rating passengers was a2 trouhle
maker ant he aroused some of the ship's company to object to working on Sundav,
Fowever, hy diplomatic handling, all turned out well. On arrival in the
United Wingdom there was, hoﬁever, a ‘oard of Enqguiry and in Aue course 1
received a nild re-uke from Their Lords of the Adnmiralty. The Commander-in-
Chief, Plynouth sent for re and said "TCon't worry, we all get these sort of
things from time to time and who knows they at least keep you in the Puhlic
Sye''. A rather encouraging outlook I thought. After a fairly straightforward

trip through the tlediterranean we firally arrived at Devonport and here, at last,
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were our family and friends waiting on the jetty. This was a great home-coming
for us 2ll.

I suppose it is easy for a captain of a ship to say what a splendid ship
she was but, on this occasion, I earnestly believe she was a fine ship and that
we really were a first.class team. The ship's officers, excluding me, wrote a
little boolklet called "H.!.S.Tenacious, Her Story", and I thought I would quofe
a piece of verse at the end of it which rather sums up the feelings of us all.
it is:i-

The Roger Forty-Five

Before you sleep tonight, my son, just listen to this stery
Ahout 2 ship which did a joh, and gained no fame or glory,

I sailed in her from Portsmouth and the Tyme,

Her Lines were smart, her funnel raked, a warship of the line,
The Twenty-fourth Flotilla, and as sure as I'm alive,

There weren't a finer ship, my lad, than Roger Forty-Five.

We sailed in fog and snow and sleet from Pompey's muddy shores,

To fight a foe with slitted eyes who saw some fun in ware.

Put it weren't no fun for us, my -oy, to leave our friends at home.
“our mother cried, I know it well, when left upon ner own.

"~ut the Mavy asks no cuestions, we heard her engines drive,

And off we went through Suez in the Roger Forty-Five.

We called in all them foreign ports, with niggers, Yanks and Wogs,
But give me good old London; yes, even with its fogs.

Kids we were, or very nearly; some had never heen to sea.

Tt wasn't long before they learnt that the passage wasn't free.
For months we practised, fired the guns and saw our targets dive,
And sometimes, just a little, we cursed that Roger Forty-Five.

Vle steamed her on to Aden, and blimey was it hot,

The poor old greasers down below lost all the sweat they'd got.
Across the Indian Ocean to Trinco in Ceylon,

lle went ashore and had some beer and found our pay had gone.

Rut the gods they had some pity, the fates they must have sighed,
For they sailed us down to Sydnexr in the Roger Forty-Five.

Ten days we had in Sydney; it hucked us up a lot,

Drinking, dancing, laughing and all that 'silly rot',

rut it couldn't last for ever, we knew it had to end,

And they shoved us up to lManus, without a make-and-mend.

Working up and exercises, wa were only just alive,

When they sent a signal,"Join the Fleet'", to the Roger Forty-Five.

Mos% of us were glad 'y then, to know the time had come

"o test our strength and prove our worth, and down the Rising Sun.
And we too our place at the end of Mar with all the other ships,
™ut we never saw much fun and we never saw the HNips.

So we started off o rumour, it spread like honey in a hive,

That no Jap would ever wait to read our Roger Forty-Five.




A month in harbour cleaning up, then off to sea again,

Full of hope to get a crack and give the Japs some pain,

And though we sailed arocund for weeks,seven and fifty days at sea
Wie never won no medals nor gained the D.S.C. ' ,
Fuelling,striking, fuelling,striking, on and on it went,

And Hoger Forty-Five, poor thing, was very nesarly spent.

But the Japs had had enough by then, their last few hours had cone,
So we celebrated victory with an extra tot of rum.

They signed the peace in Tokyo Bay, ancd we vere there to see

That the Allied prisoners and wonen were set free.

And though they talked of Atom Bombs, how could the Japs survive
Y'hen they had to deal with ships like the Roger Forty-Five.

We did some time in China - a costly Jjob it were -

And met a Chinese maiden, and spent a lot on her,

Mut vou didn't have to worry, it weren't no use to save

So we spent the lot and laughed it off, none hlamed the price he paid.
The ship was painted overall and packed for home in Spring,

Our Roger Fortv-Five hv then was wearing pretty thin.

In Darwin, Sydney, Mel-rourne, Perth, we'd friends in every port,
Some had girls and some had aunts, none were the bachelor sort,
And many a tear was shed the day we left the Heads behind

And some darmn fool sits down and writes that sailormen don't mind.
/e minded then, I'm telling you, the facts some tried to hide,

Dut homeward bound we soon forgot in Roger Forty-rive.

Wle'd sailed that ship around the world and felt in her a pride
When we sailed her into Plymouth on the early morning tide.

They stripped her down, took out her heart and stuck her on a heap.
And now, my son, you're tired I see, so you must get some sleep,
But remember what I've told you, for as long as I'm alive,

There weren't a better ship, my lad, than Roger Forty-Five.

~ao0oo~-
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CHARTER VI

PEACETIME

After arrival %wack home I was, lilkte the rest of my ship's company, given

foreign service leave which I spent largely at home at Hartfield.

-

At the age of about twelve I got approval from my father to buy a four ten
shot gun which I had found at a little gun and sports shop at Forest Row. It was
a Belgian gun and in those days cost ne only £1.17.6., You can probably imagine
my delight when I shot a rabbit that very evening. 1 had spert quite a lot of
my youth fishing, either in what we called Wright's Pond or else in the strean
a mile or perhaps less below us. Pooh's Bridge may ring a bell. It was in fact
a bridge long before A.A.Milne came to live at Cotchford Farm and even I can
remenher Christopher Robin in his pram. HMost of my fishing was for coarse fish
though occasionally we caught a trout in the stream. 1 was persuaded, largely
by my godfather, Teddy Dibtdin, that I might enjoy some real trout fishing and he
very kindly gave me a rod and reel. Thus equipped T went down to the East Dart:
Hotel at Postbridge on Dartmoor where I started to learn to fish, teaching myself
as best I could. However, the water bailiff came along and helped me a lot and

this was thus the teginning of my great interest in fly-fishing.

After mv leave I was appointed to H.M.S.Dryad to start up their new Small
Ships Action Plotting Organisation. This was really up my street as I had had
a lot of this sort of experience in Walpole. I would like to fthink that at least
I contributed something. I remember lecturing three senior officers, one of whon
was Rear Admiral Mountbatten, and a few days after this I read in the papers that
he was going as the new Viceroy to India. A long time before 1 had applied for
the Naval Staff Course and I was delighted, after only one year in Dryad, to
receive my next appointment to Greenwich for this six menth course on which there
were only about thirty-five of us., Apart from learning some straightforward staff
worlk we also had some really excellent lectures. The Director was Captain Hutton

whose younger son served under me in the Newfoundland a few years later.

After the staff course I was sent to Chatham to serve as Staff Officer
Movements on the staff of the Cormander-in-Chief of The Nore, a rather nice

admiral called Sir Herold Purrough.

Vere T think I must “reak off to deal with a rather different part of my
life. We lived, as I have said, at Cotchford Wood at Hartfield and I suppose

ahout half a mile away down the road a new house was built just before the war.
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During the war the army occupied it, but they left in about 1944 and it was
hought by Mr.and Mrs.Jelf. Thera was one daughter called Una who had some very
secret Jjob in the Virens to do with cypher breaking, fter Victory Europe she
decided she would like a different job and went out to Ceylon whare she remainsd
until after the end of tae war in the Far East., She had become engaged to 2
Caradian and thus, when I got back from Tenacious on leave, she was shortly due
to go to Canada to s=ze for herself what if was like there. &he went to Canada
and when she came “ack the huzz spread that she had decided to “reak off her
engagement. I was in any case interesied and it was not long after that I popped
the guestion. ©5She maid that she nust have time to think about it but a few days
later she said she would like to marry me. On the S5th June 1943 we were married
at Haritfield Churci. I rad a lot of naval friends and we were all in uniforn

s0, wnen we left the church, there were plenty of swords making a lovely arch

for us. As I left the church someone said to me "Do you know who won the Derihy M
I said I did not even know it was Derby Day and I did not really know much about
racing. "Well, you may remember the name of this winner - it was My Love'.

This at least gave me something te say 5t the inevitabhle speech., ¥Finally we weni

ky air to Juan-les-Pins.

After our honeymoon we returned to Chatham. One of the problems was that
rented accommodation was expensive and we were not all that wealthy so we finally
decided to take two rooms at & place called Conies, a few miles out. Conies
telonged to Mrs.Peters, a widow, who was terribly kind to us., Our two rooms
were not palatial 'y any reans. There was no electric light and we relied on a
varaffin lazmp. There was only one loo and that was in the tathroom -~ for a
Crowley almost a calamity - and our bedroom was rather damp. Despite everything
we were very happy there and very scon I had rigged up 2 gas light in the sitting
room. I was not on the C-in-C's staff very loag when at short notice I was noved
to London as the junior naval adviser to a committee called the Joint Intelligence
Committee. Our jo» was to write papers on any subject we were givan. we then
went back to our Ministiies to find out all we could, after which we pul all our
views together to produce a draft. VWnen we had conpleted our werXx it went on
to the Committee., Our tean consisted of Haval, Army and Alr Force officers,

a member of the Joint Intelligence Pureau, which dealt with logzistics, and a

"
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member of the Foreign Service with access to M15 and M15. The first thing we
to do was to find somewhere to live and {or o few weeks we lived in vart of a
flat in Ehury Street., As luck would bave it a friend of mine, “runo Prown, was
moving out of his flat in High Park Noad in Kew, so we roved there. This flat

was in many ways rather nice. True it was small, rut coafortahle and, rot only




that, but it was very close to Kew Gardens and there is always something 7lowering

at its best there irrespective of the time of year.

I enjoyed my job very much. My senior was a Commander Thomson who was
highly efficient, but he was for many not an easy man to get on with, however if
you were in the right vyou were half way home, and I managed to cope with him.

During my two years we had to write many papers, some of them on the most

-t~

i

difficult subjects. I think it would be fair to say that we were not always righ

Yut one must bear in mind that we were entirely dependent on what intelligence

ve were given and a good guess which could not he supported hy evidence was not

acceptahle,

Tt was not long hefore Una was pregnant and on the 20th July 649 Patrick
vas bhorn. The extraordinary thing was that he had auburn hair, when Loth Una
and I are basically mouse or the next baést thing to that colour. My mother was
darl:ish but all her brothers and sisters had auburn hair, Patrick was born at
a nursing home at Hartfield. In due course Commander Thomsoen was passed over and
I think he managed to get a job with '35 -~ when Thomson wanted something he
invariably got his way. Over nigiht I became a highly efficient chap and was
clearly just the man to be given the acting rank of Commander so that I could he
his reliefi This was exactly what happened. I was promoted for my second year

to the number one position. The most important thing in this job was to have

good relations with the representatives of the other two services.

After my two years I was sent to the Joint Services Staff Course at Latirer,
It seemed in 2 way to he rather odd to send me to that course since I had jusi
comnpleted two vears of solid joint work. I forgot to mention that hy this time
we had tought a tinv little house at Oxted in Surrey, needless to say on a
mortcage, so when 1 went to the JSSC we were kack at Little Orchard, I was ver:
lucikr “ecauze my course at Latimer was a full sunmer course and the weather on
the whole was good. One of the great attractions of this course for me was trout
fishing. Part of the estaie consisted of a glorious river running through tuo
lalies and there were a great many fish. I did say that I thought a fee of a round

a term, uwhichi enalled us to fish every day, was a silly charge and that it would

o of

ray the College te charse a muc! highe
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rate., I was right %Bccause it was not

»
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after this that ve loct the fishini., T did eajoy it very nmuch and actunlly

aught some good izl several of wileh ware of quite a cdecent size. 1% irritated

,

N
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2 Hit to see the cdd neron playing hovos with thre trout, They never scered to

e satisfied witii just one fish. The course was geod and despite mv previous
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experience it was very helpful. There is no douut that it is good for one to
have to argue in defence of one's own point of view - and sometimes one can be
wronge. It was some time towards the end of 1950 that Unz was pregnant again,
and after careful thought we decided to get a Swiss girl and we were extromely
lucky to find Alice Crausez who was sweet. Her father was 2 small-time farmer
in the French part of Switzerland and her uncle, who left Suitzerland as quite =
young wan, was then Rector of Pitishurg University in America. Roger was bhora
at Little Orchard and Alice saw hin when he was not pore than half an hour old.
She stayed with us for a year Lefore going back to Swiizerland. After a hreask
she went to America and u~as there for over two years. £11 this time she had a
voy friend in Switzerland and when she returnsd from the States she married him,
[le wizs in charge of the workings of a dentzl factory situated in the country.
Alice had two children - the Yoy is now studying to “e a doctor and the girl is

also training to be a special kind of nurse.

During the Joint Services Staff Course I was promoted to Commander. T waz
again lucky as the promotion was announced when we were on a short leave thus,
thank goodness, I did not have to stand the whole course drinks. After the course
I was appointed to the staff of the Commander-in-Chief, Portsmouth, as the NAZQ
Planner. Our first difficulty wes to find a house. Ve thought, like many others,
that we would live about six or seven miles out on the Portsmouth side but, alas,
we could fiad rothing in our price rangs. Everyone in the Navy lives at
Alverstolie once in their Jives and so we eventually found a house there in
Vestern Way. Alverstolke is, of course, the other side of the harbour which means
you eitier have to cross by ferry or motor some miles round. UMow I was a
Commander I thought perhaps work would slacken a bit hut there was no chance of
that as I was always busy, not only thinking out what the British views should
5e, it teing as tactful as T could to our French and Dutch opposite numbers.

This was not too difficult so far as the Dutch were concerned as they invaria™~l-
too% a cractical view, The French were less easy as there did not seem to e
mach, in their eves, which did not have some political flavour. I did however

ret oon well with “oth my "ATO partners. I must relate a story a'out one o

ey

the
:t¢h officers who looked after the anti-sumarine side of the husiness. Tefore
the war Le was in South Africa, doins a mining job as a civilian., Vhen ke was
called up he was asked by the Interviewing Officer what he had done in South
Africa, to which he replied Y1 was involved in a nining firz'. "0a that's easy,
said the iaterviever,“you will 7o into the mining side™. Apart fronm the day to-
amiing Iowas also heavily involved in NATO exercizes. These hiad to e

or;anizad so that all rmembers f2lt that they were taking an equal part and that
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sought authority to have a bar up there. On the great day we &l) sat in comfort,
possikly sipping some lethal drink, getting a parfect view of this wonderful
event. The other great thing that took vlace at ahout this tine was the Maval
Coronation Review at Spithead. MNaval ships from all over the world massed in

Spithead ready for the great occasion. Much of the planning was done by the

r

Commander-in-Chief's Stzff with the assistance of a few extra officers. It was

a splendid day and one we all enjoyed. H.H.5.5urprise with the Queen and Prince
Philip on board sailed round the Yleet and as she passed each ship she was loudliy
cheered by the ships' componies which were all fallen in in what is termed the

iip position’. Unz and T were lucky enough to have ssais

Ot

‘_l

in H.il.8,

Boxer 50 we had a splendid view of the proceedings,

In the evening there was a Coronation MNaval Review Ball to which we and
many others were invited., This was really a slap-up Ydo'' held in the Maval

Earraciis at Portszmouth. In addifion to a large number of officers from ths Nova

1
Mavy tiere were also many from foreinn navies and we had two from the Turl:iszh
Mavy to look after, This proved quite a task as neither Una nor I is ahle to

spealr 2 word of Turkish and they could speak no Znglisn. Communication thus w

]
[}

difficult. There was another problem as neither of them appeared to he all ik

Q&
<l

numan. Though patience is a virtue I decided after a veriod that ours was
exhausted so we left them, possitly a hit tipsy, and went our own way. I said
this was a slap-up '"do''. BEveryons was drezsed in their very rest naval evening
dress, the food was ninply excellent; in fact I would say, possibly with the
exception of oysters (it was after all June!l), thers was nothing you could not
have. There was also an enormous choice of drinks., 1t was in fact the whalc of

a party of the very highest standard.

Pernans 1 shoulad mention sometiing ahout = W0 cartners. Tirsi there was

1 2taft Officer, a very frifendly chap by the nasme of Fevnin Lehalleur.

(!

I sould say that his knowledze of things nautical was less pronouncad than Nis
concern with the imprortance of the molitical asrtecis. We all lied Rim wery -uch
e once gave a wonderful party at his "Z:ozlish" herme where drinit an
supery French {ood ahounded, Ny Dutch colleague was egually nice. He was calle”d
Vos von Steinweik. He was ruich more interested in the nautical aspeczt and of
course in the nart that the Duteh lavy was going to play. Ve had no regular
“elpinn reoresentative. Tull MWTQ meatings wers usuzlly held in Epngland, racis
or The 'lague. T strange coincidence the Dutch neetings always took place a-
tulip time and at these full meetings the heads of VATO altended, ‘ie usually

kad akout fiftesn minutes to spare so that we could getl a good look at the tulins
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from the air before we were due to land. Sometimes after the meeting, which was

a pretiy formal affair, we would have about forty or fifty minutes in a car seeing
tulips at close quarters. Tne meetings in Paris were also fun. The only snag
here, at least as far as I was concerned, was that much of the business was
conducted in French. Nounthatten was an excellent linguist and I used just to
keep my head ahove water. On one occasion I was invited to sit next to the

French Naval Chief of Staff, and my heart sank, but he was so kind and spoke to me

entirely in excellent English. The meals in Paris were, needless to say, superh.

Though the staff of the C-in-C was large when one included Medical, Dental
and Marine officers, the Head Minewatcher and many others, the actual executive
team was small. The Chief of Staff was a pleasant and able man by the name of
Rear Admiral Reid who later finished up as a full admiral, My iomediate boss was
a Cantain "Sandy™ Gordon-Lennox assisted by a commander, Philip Sharp, who played
a major part in the planning of our command. Then there was another commander
who was the Staff Officer Qperations who ran the day to day operations,movements
etc,, myself who did the NATQ work, a Staff Communicator and a Lieutenant Commander
who handled a lot of the MATO exercises. Ginally there were two others: Sandy
Carrpbell, a Ying Commander, who was extremely nice and, last but not least, the
linewatching King., He was a charming man called Liveing who was more of a friend

to us than a staff officer.

On leaving Portsmouth we moved %“ack to Little Orchard at Oxted, I was then
appointed to I.M,S.MNewfoundland as the Commander, that is the Second-in-Command
and Frecutive Officer. I prepared myself to fly out to Singapore and packed what
I considered to ‘e a small trunk. I stayed the night at the United Services Clud
wiren it was pointed out to me that perhaps the trunk would te a hit %ig for the
aircraft. Uext morning I rushed un to Marks and Spencer and bought three large
expandatle suitcases and repacked in the Club and sent off the empty trunk bach
home. Ve had & safe and uneventful journey out to Singapore. My new Captain was
Captain l.G.Goodenough (Milie). iany people said to me that he was not the easiest
"cup of tea'" and that I had hetter know my stuff, I should eay that his bark was
rmuch worse than his bite. Dy warning many of his defaulters and not punishing
them he kept his punishment reiurn very low. lewfoundland was in dry dock and
was ahout three-quarters of the way through a refit. T took over from oy
nredecessor and very soon after the Captain told me that he was being sent up
tre rfersian Gulf to be President of a Court Martial. Eis parting words to rme
were '"Be sure you do not over punisr | often a warning is better than punistment.”

Away he weat for a~out fow tean days. Uot long after his departure, three men,
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two seamen and a marine, were caught.drinking some potent stuff in one of the
rathrooms in "Newfie'. They were brought refore the Officer of the Day who
immediately placed them on the Commander's Report. I had already discovered that
discipline in the ship was on the lax side. They all received warrant punishment
and the local Admiral approved that they should receive five days' cells. I then
heard one or two buzzes that the new Commander was considered to be tough,that

it was no good expecting to get away lightly, and two Chief Petty Officers were
even heard to say "Thank goodness we now have someone who knows what he is about.”
In due course the Captain arrived back énd'his first words to me were '"Have you
had many punishments, Commander ?''. I said that we had had a few including three
warrant punishments of cells., I thought he was going to take off. However, when
T explained the situation to him he calmed down and I think I actually scored a
"oull's eye'l,

My general experience of hig ships was limited but what makes a happy ship
is really the same whether you are Berving in a big or small unit. I got the
Commanders together and we agreed that if we pulled together this would in fact
indicate good leadership, Probably my best friend was the Pusser Commander, a
splendid man called Geoff Henderson. He always seemed to have his ear to the
ground and was always wise in his advice. The Engineer Commander was Geoffeey
Pearce, and though I liked him he was not really a very dynamic person. The Doctor
was a charming man and very helpful and the Electrical Commander was equally

pleasant and supported us well.

It was not too long before we had the pleasant duty of escorting the Gothic
with the Queen and Prince Philip on board. I always remember she had Pamela
Mounthatten as one of her Ladies in Waiting. The mbtor boat was alongside the
Gothic and down the ship's ladder came the Lady in Waiting carrying a yellow
sunshade. Relieve this or not she accidentally dropped the sunshade which fell
into the sea, and as far as I could sec completely disappeared. She hurried up
the ladder hrack on hoard when there was a trief discussion a%out, I assuzme, what
to do next. 1In due course she came down again, with no sunshade this time, followed
v the CQueen and Prince Pnilip. When we arrived at Colosho they were invited to
lunch on roard. Here I discovered something I did not know, that you cannot choose
what is on the menu, as this has to bte arranged by the Queen's advisers, A marine
guard was paraded on the jetty, our Admiral, Sir William Slater, and our Captain
were also there ready to receive the Queen. The Captain had already had a couple
of dress rehearsals and he had told us all that, if by any chance he forgot anyona's

name he would make one up quickly and that person was to hang on to that raze.
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The Queen was wearing an attractive white dpess and white sling-hack shoes. As

she came over the brow, the ship's gangway, one sling slipped hetwsen her heel

and her shoe and she was sort of pawing the ground slightly. Prince Philip said
NTf T were you, darling, I would stoop down and'put it on correctly." This she did.
:be 1upch went well hut, alas, I was, not invited. We all, that is the whole ship's
company, mustered on the forecastle for a photograph. The Queen was introduced

to all the officers and also to a selected number of the ship's company including
at least two Somalis. We had a numbér of them on board to do some of the cleaning
work in the ship; amongst them we alsoc had some so-called "sweepers"” who

I understood were a class below the ordinary Somali.

I liked Admiral Slater very much indeed. He was pleasant, able and hlessed
with a sense of humour. Vhen we were cruising ropnd the Indian Ocean he was often
accompanied by Lady Slater and sometimes, when at sea, the Quarterdeck Awning used
to be rigged so that she could sit on deck in the shadé. I remember once when I
met the Admiral on deck he asked if T would have the awning put up for Lady Slater.
I had learnt hy this time that the wise thing was to do as I was told. Accordingly
I piped "Clear Lower Deck" and proceeded to erect the awning. In a feﬁlminutes
I was sent for hy the Captain and asked why I was erecting the Quarterdeck Awning
and I said vecause Admiral Slater had asked me to rig it, "Take it down', he
ordered, and this is what I did, When I next saw the admiral he said "I thought
I asked you to rig the Quarterdeck Awning." "Yes", I replied, "but the Captain
told me to take it down'", The Admiral then went on to the bridge where there was
evidently a discussion between him and the Captain. The net result was that the
Quarterdeck Awning remained down. I often used to say that Captain Goodenough was
six feet pix inches tall in harbour but a small man at sea. His ship handling

was poor to say the least.

Though perhaps 1 have been a bit critical, I nevertheless respected Captain
Goodenough who was a great Staff Officer and a man to be reckoned with. We all
knew that he was due to be relicved soon, and so we decided to hold a farewell
dinner for him before we left Trincomalee in Ceylon. It was a gay evening and we
all hoped he enjoyed it. There was I am glad to say a good menu of Conéomme a la
Celestine, Smoked Fillets of Salmon, Roast Duck, Madeira Sauce, Game Chips,
Cauliflower and Green Peas, Iced Caramel Masket, Asparagus and "utter Sauce,

Dessert and Coffee. Weedless to say there was anople to drink as well,

Wren we were at Trinco we used to have a sort of competition during the
) &

afternoon when we made every endeavour to get as many of the ship's coopany to
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take part as possible. There were all sorts of competitions such as running and
then stepping on to the seat of a chair and over, usually there were about three
chairs; a race with a tin plate on your head and a weoden club in your right hand
which -you had to wave around and if the tin plate fell off you had to start againj
a hop, skip and jump competition; a sack race, a three-legged race and many others.
I got a lot of officers to take part including myself. There was also beer availahle
at a small cost. Ve had-I. thinlk three competitions and they were very popular,
There is a small island czlled Soher Island and on Sundays, provided you hooked,
you could get a tip top curry. There was also bathing, sailing and picnics.

The Mavy also had a camp up country and this was where we sent ihe ship's company
for a few days' rest. I went to a place above this camp with Arthur jlutton to fish
for trout., We caught a number of them which had been introduced by Pritish
settlers many years before. Some of the pools and bends had some rather alarming
names such as Skeleton Pool and Leopards Beware but, thank goodness, we did not

see any alarming creatures. Ve stayed in a wooden hut and more or less looked

after ourselves.

On our way to Aden I was shown my Confidential Report, 85206, which was very
good. Captain Goodenough always showed his officers what he had written in these
reports, tut I never agreed with this scheme as there was a tendency not always to
change the report downwards if the person deserved it. After we arrived at Aden
Captain E.L.Thomas, Captain Goodenough's relief, was there waiting. We said
goodhye to our Captain and soon after sailed with Captain Thomas in charge. 1 liked
him very much indeed. He was a much quider man than his predecessor and also ahle.

He had once heen a qualified navigator and his ship handling was excellent.

Possibly one of the more interesting things we had to do was to take part
in a great parade in Penang. Ve now had an equally nice Admiral on board, Admiral
Gerald Gladstone, a man I had had dealings with before when he was Cantain of the
Plack Prince. This parade was o tri-service function and contained rative troops
as well as our own. BEecause we had the Flag on board it was up to MNewfoundland
to organise this substantial parade, and it suddenly dawned on me that I would
have to be Parade Commander. 1 got hold of the Gunnery Officer, an excellent nan
called Mitchell, and said that while I appreciated that I would have to be in
total charge I would prefer to give the minimum of orders. We had a quick dusny
run and I then realised how well he had organised the whole affair, as I would ir
fact bave to give only two orders. The first was a General Salute of Present
Arcs when the Governor arrived on the dais, and the second to order the whole

varade to step off at the quick; thereafter I would station myself on the right
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of the dais and hope all would go well. The parade did in fact go off very well
indeed. In the evening the Newfoundland had agreed to darken ship and put on a
firework display: another job for the Guunnery Officer. This too was pretty
successful but there was one hitch. In order to prepare for this display a large
number of rockets were laid on the forecastle réady for immediate firing.
Unfortunately one forework fell to thé ground and set the whole lot of ready
rockets alight. I was with the Captain on the bridge and we wondered what on earth
had happened when we saw this terrific blaze. The total effect ashore was terrific
as it was a most spectacular sight. With great skill it was possible to save the
day and complete the display. ZEarlier a cousin of Una's, Miles Hudson, came on
board to see me. He asked me to come ashore after the display for a drink and

some supper. So when the hiatus had sobered down I excused myself and met him

at some prearranged spot in Penang.

When at long Kong the commanders tried hard to give our Céptain, Thomas,
a dinner ashore. IUnfortunately it was the monsoon or typhoon season and at the

last minute he decided that he must rewmain on hoard.

I suppose my memoirs would not be complete without a mention of Japan.
I had of course heen there before, immediately after the war ended, but now peace
had reigned for a few years and the situation had improved. 1 might say that I
have never really liked the Japanese men, though whether they hide their real
feelings it is difficult to know. On this visit to Toltyo we all, I suppose,
browsed round the shops and bought a few things. It was interesting to note that
Japenese goods in Hong Kong were in fact a Iittle cheaper that they were in Japan.
Many people had one of the special hot baths, including the Captéin, but I did not,
for some reason or other. A group of about four or possibly five Commanders,
including our Major of Marines, all sought oul one of those female nudist displays

which was auite fun.

We also had a hrief visit to Karachi where we had to take part in a small
rowing regatta against the Pakistanis. We had not had much time to practise “ut
we were determined to win, so that really strenuous efforts were made and victory
was ours. One day we put on & rifle drill display followed by FPeating the Retreat.
This proved very popular. I rust recerd a silly story when we went to lombay.
Ye were, or rather the Wardroom were, asked to a drinks party given by ti.e Europeans.
M we were anchored out we all had to coze in by boat, and in due course we arrived
tozether at, I suppose, a polite fifteen minutes late. There were only two of our

rosts there and they apologised profusely saying that the others would bte along
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shortly with the hooze, FEvidently Furopeans by signing some chit or other were
allowed a reasonahle ration of drink. Within fifteen minutes all the hosts arrived

and believe me there was no shortage of hooch that night.

Our next assignment was a cruise up the Persian Gulf. By this time Admiral
Slater had left and was relieved by Admiral Charles Horris. He was a great man
for after dinner games and on one occasion, when at Trinco, he organised a game
at which there were two a side and, as far as I gathered, you hurled, or perhaps
you hit, a ball over a net. After a few minutes he complained that the game was
going too slowly. The next time the ball went over the net towards the Admiral
it hit him fair and squere on the head and he went down like a log, knocked out,

and it took him some weeks hefore he was bhack to square one.

Ye had an interesting time in the Persian Gulf. This was a part of the
vorld new to me. I remember most clearly when we arrived at Muscat in Oman. The
first Ehing I noticed was that on the peak or rocky hill on the left were painted
many of the names of W.M.Ships that had visited here previously. It was not long
hefore '"Mewfoundland" 's name was among them. The regulations ashore were very
strict. Everyone had to wear a hat and no smoking or drinking was allowed. One
evening we had the Sultan - in fact his deputy arrived in his place - plus about
six or seven high-ups for drinks, buffet supper and a film. The Admiral said to
re "I don't expect our visitors will drink anything except soft drinks, but you
must have some hard drinks behind the turret because ve have got to keep going."

In due course they arrived and I approached the senior man, "What would you like to
drink,Sir," I enquired, 'We have lemon and orange squash and tomato juice availahle'l
He replied "Haven't you got anything stronger ?" "Yes, of course we have, Sir.

What would you like ?” To which he replied that he would like a double whisky and
soda. In fact they all drank hard drinks. I asked him how I was that they were

so strict ashore and yet behaved a little differently in the Newfoundland. "“Ah,"

he said, Yhut I am not ashore now and we all have to go to the South of France

for at least two months in the year to prepare for the next ten."

Everywhere we went the sheiks, at least the head ones, all came on hoard
and were received by the Adairal, shown the ship and occasinnally allowed to fire
off a saluting gun. In a few places such as Kuwait, the ruler, Sheik Sir Abdulla,
rossibly one of the richest @ n in the Gulf, was preceeded by his own body guard.
They wore blue trousers, scarlet tunics with ahout ten brass buttons down the
front, buttoned to the neck, with a two inch wide white belt and a white turban

affair. They looked very smart.
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Whern we afrived at the Truclal States the Political Agent who was English
arrived on board first, followed by no less than four local boats each one biringinT
representatives on board. On this occasion we did a little trip at sea for thew.
We tried to put on what we call a "'shop window'" hut this is not easy with only one
ship present. However.we did do some anti-aircraft shooting at a smoke burst,
discharged a depth charge, dropped lifebuoys and picked them up with seaboats, as
well as giving them a Cooks' Tour of the ship. One of the visitors was a young
lad aged eight, dressed in white with a very large dagger affair strapped to his
waist, Ue was, we were told, the ruler of Sharjah, son of the Sultan. On one
occasion the Admiral and one other officer were invited to a supper in, I think,
Saudi Arabia. The Captain did not wish to go and so I was asked to take his placc.
0ff we went. It was not all that easy as the head man did not seem to be able to
speak much English and our Saudi-Arabian was non-existent. Finally when we got to
the dessert stage I did say to him "How nice it is, Sir; to have so ruch lovely
fruit.' Whereupon he stretched forth and put an enormous bunch of grapes on my
plate. I did not really know what to do but thought it would be rude to put any
nack, so I had to piﬁg on and eat the lot.

OQur time was drawing out and it was not long before we sailed westwards,
homeward bound, with our paying-off pennant flying from the mainmast. In due
course we arrived safely at Portsmouth and secured alongside. On the jetty were
hordes of friends and relations but, alas, no Una as the boys had measles. Among
the many was Mike Goodenough; now Rear Admiral, with his wife. He came on hoard
and immediately asked my wife and myself to lunch at the Queen's Hotel. As Una
was not there I wondered whether I should go by myself. "Of course you must come,"
he said. So I went and had a superlative lunch. Whatever one may say there would
not Re all that many Rear Admirals who would come down to welcome their old shirs

hone.

In the evening Una rang me to say that she would be down the next day as
she had found a friend to look after the boys for twenty-four hours., T booked us
into tne Nuffield Club and immediately began organising a dinner party on bhoard.
As the Captain had left I was able to use his, or indeed the Adairal's, cabin for
this affair. I had Geoff llenderson the Pusser Coamander, our Marine Officer and
his wife, Major and Mrs. Jack Cprter, and I think one other whose nace seems rather
illusive. We had a lovely dinner and everyone enjoyed it very much. I was sorry
indecd to hear that Captain Thomas was not staying on, a fact that he had concecaled

from everyone.
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After Foreign Service leave I was told that my next job would be as
Drafting Commander at Chatham. The Drafting Commander has a team of Drafting
Officers and Senior Writers and is -esponsible for the fair "drafting" of ratings
to and from their joks. We then decided to sell Little Orchard as it was already
getiing too small for us, and T went down to Chatham and live¢ in harracks to
start with, We had already decided if possible to live a2 few miles out of Chathan
and I started to scout ound and finally went to look at Clare Corner at Last
Malling. T knoclked at the door of Clare Cottage, wnich incidentally was much nore
than a cottage. A lady came to the door, dressed in a smart white dress but with
no stockings or shoes on. I explained that I was looking for somewhere to live
and she told me to follow her. So, still without any shoes or stockings, she
marched up the road to Clare Corner which was next door. This seemed a possibility
and she then explained that she had plans to &o a few things to the house hut we
could if we wished live with them - "then" being her husband, -a doctor, and four
children - in Clare Cottage. Ve decided to accept. This lady was called Bronuen
and.ﬁas, without any douht, a character. OQur two children went to similar schools
as the others and sometimes we would have to get breakfast for the lot, teing six
children and ourselves, At other times a whirlwind would appear in the shape of
"ronwen who would immediately start cooking hbacon and eggs for us all. She was a
very clever woman and we can rememher how she hought a huge house next door or
almost next door and proceeded to turn it into flats, deciding on all the colours,
furniture etc., none of which was, to my mind, of the cheapest. Once she got her
teeth into anything she went flat out for it to the exclusion of such things as
ner family. Ve liked her in moderation and she could be extremely funny. In fact

one never knew what the latest gimmick would bhe.

I enjoyed being a Drafting Commander and lilied hoth the two Comrmodores of
the Darracks to whom I was resronsible. The first was Captain Collard who was
extremely nice to work under. The second was Charles Coleridgze. le was very
different from Collard but egqually nice. I always remenber that he had a dinner
party for about a dozen or so guests including the Commander-in-Chief and his wife.
They all sat down and dinner was just akout to start when the Commander-in-Chiel
said to Mrs, Coleridge "Why is it that T an sitting next to my wife?' She then sai-
"I'm afraid an error has crept in.' She then tappecd the tatle and said that the
seating plan for the dinner was not quite right and would everyone wove round,

“ut under no circumstances was anyone to sit next to his wife.

I had a good team to run the Chatham drafting and I like to think we did it

as well as possible. It was clear to us all that lecause there were four crafting




auvthorities, Chatham,Portsmouth,Devonport and Lee (for the air world) it would e
advantageous if one day they could all be combined intc one unit, say under a
Conmodore Naval Drafting. Plans were started and in due course all the four
drafting organisations were welded together at Haslemere. It was just at that

time that T heard I was to be promoted to the rank of Captain. We were already
think&ng about buying énother house, probably in the Limpsfield area, and eventuall+
we found a Victorian gardener's cottage heyond Home FPlace. It was a hungalow with
grite a numher of small rooms. We originally thought we might knock some of the
rooms together and possibly »uild on one more. It then became obvious that if we
rulled the main chimney down, which in fact acted for several fireplaces, the rool
would collapse. After careful tnought we decided to take off the top of the house
and huild upwards. We c¢mployed a builder and decided that we would try to do this
witiiout an architect. Once we had started work I got slightly cold feet. Vhat

on earth was I doirn; ? Was I being seen off ? By luck I found a surveyor for a
hrewery in London who lived in Oxted. I called on him and asked him what he would -
charge to come down once a weelk to check the work and the final bill. He said
twenty-five pounds in cash. I was so-surprised and pleased that I said "Done.”

He saved me a lot of money and we eventually finished up with a very nice house

called Home Place Cottage.
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CHAPTER VII
CLIMEAZX

There are always some hurdles to he taken even in the Navy., The first and
prohahly the most important is to bhecome a Commander and the second is to get
promoted to Captain. While you can say there is qlso a hurdle to take to become
a Rear Admiral and upwards, these in a way are . less pronounced. I was, needles.
to say, delighted to hecome a Captain, I was only sorry my Father was not alive
as he was always interested in how I got on in the Mavy. My new appointment vas
as Assistant Director Plans (Allies). To get a post in Plans Division is always
a plus and so I was very pleased. I commuted from Hurst Green, which was one
station tefore Oxted, and I soon met Jack Howson who was my main contact in France
and went to Paris with him. It was now clear that my main task would be dealing
with BATO and my irmediate boss would be Rear Admiral Desmond Dreyer. I had
already had some experience of NATO planning and had a good idea of how important
it was to get on with my French and Dutch colleagues., One of tﬁe most complicated
things in NATO was the Channel Command which was only a small area and, in many
ways, hardly deserved a triple or even quadruple set-up to run it. On the other
hand clearly we had to go along with this arranzement as anything that indicated
that Britain was running the whole command would not have been over popular. Ths
work was quite hard and involved quite a lot of trevellinz, particularly to Paris
and The Hague, with an occasional visit to Oslo. In Plans Division I took over
from Philip Culmer who was an ahle man. He felt, as indeed many of us did, that
the pay we got in the Navy was poor compared with industrial salaries, particulariy
when one's career was not all that long. Ue felt so strongly that he asked to seoe2
the First Sea Lord who was Mountbatten. To him he explained his views and those
of manv others. This manceuvre led to a complete and upward revision of the pay

for all the armed forces.

Although I was an Assistant Director of Plans I was also under the Assistan*
Chief of Naval Staff, Rear Admiral Desmond Dreyer, and he would take the chair of
the normal day to day NATO meetinzs. The full NATO meetings were normally chaired
by the First Sea Lord for meetings in the United Kingdom and by the other Chiefc
of Kaval Staff when in Paris or The Eague. Looking back I do not thirnk these
neetings were really of ruch importance. During my time in this post T went to
Paris and The Hague frequently, both for the Full Heetings and also for some
discussions. I took Una to Paris on one occasion when we stayed the night with
Kenneth Hamilton who had teen at Fanghourne with me. We had a very good tire
including & super dinner at some small ut excellent French restaurant. Ve also

had a family holiday in Trittany at a place called Neg-Meil where we stayed at




guite a nice small hotel called the Hotel de la Plage. Though we were a total of
four we all shared one enormous room and strangely enough this was a great success.
We toolt the car to France by the Cherbourg crossing and then motored down. We zll
thoroughly enjoyed Beg-Meil and the boys spent hours and hours on the beach.

I can remember when on éme‘occasion,-fairly early in the morning, Patrick and I
went down to the beach, and on the way back we saw a Frenchman cérrying the biggesrs

loster I have ever seen in my life. The boys went to sleep fairly early leaving

us free for the evening, the hoiel agreeing to keep an eye out for the chiildren.

A1) this time we were in Home Place Cottage which was lovely. The only
snag was the garden which was a full acre. I never got bhack in the evenings until
zhout eight o'clock and was then too tired to do any gardening, which to be hones:
I did, hut never really loved it. If it was wet on the Saturday I then had a2 major

task on Sunday. I had a hopeless gardener who was little more than a pain in the

neck.

Patrick was now eight and rising to ten, while Roger was two years younger.
We sent Patrick to Streete Court which was only a couple of miles away so.he vas

able to go as a day-boy, and Roger went to a smaller school in Oxted.

After two years in Plans Division I was appointed as Captain Destroyers
7th Destroyer Squadron and in command of H.M.S.Trafalgar. To anyone who had spent
as much time as I had done in small ships it was a great thrill to think that I woz
now going to be a Captain (D). We commissioned the ship at Portsmouth in Novembver
1959 and I had a Lieutenant Commander Ian Pearse as my First Lieutenant. He was
as far as 1 was concerned a good Number One but I did not think he was everybody's
cup of tea. Very shortly after cohmissioning the squadron moved down to Portland
to worlk up. The Mavy had produced a work up base there and the object was to
assist ships to worlt themselves up into efficient units. The base was under an
fdmiral with a fully trained staff and each ship of the sgindron was worked up to
a set routine finishing with a grand exercise known as "Squarebash''. I had never
haen officially worked up hefore and T decided that this was an excelleant arrange~-
In the war there used to *e a work up )ase at Mull in Scotland under a Rear Adanirat
Gilhert Stevenson. le was a terror and he always kept ships on their toes which
incidentally is exactly what is needed. On one occasion in the dead of night
Adniral Stevenson crept on board a small ship froo a dinghy and threw his cap on
deck shouting "“Fire!" The quartermaster, a leading seaman, then kicked the can
over the side. Adniral Stevenson then said “Man overtoard - and you will bleody
well get it." Rear Adniral, later Sir Gilkert Stevenson, died at the age ol about

ninety-six.
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Our sguadron consisted of HgM;S.Trafalgar, my ship; H.M.S.Dunkirk;
H.M.S.Jutland - all of the Battle Class - H.M.S.Scorpion and H.M.S.Battleaxe, of
the Weapon Class. The most interesting Commanc.ig Officer was Henry Leach in
Jutland. He was a most zealous and efficient person, blessed with a sense of

humour and in due course hé became not only an Admiral but First Sea Lord.

I.waslwell served by the Squadron Staff, most of whom were also ships'
offﬂcers. ihey were Simon Cassells, the Navigator who became a Vice-Admiral, and
ray well go further, Alistair Wemyss, the Squadron Torpedo and Anti-Submarine
Officer;: Ollver_Stoney the Guniery Officer and Kennon the Supply and Secreterizi
Officer, an excellent man who also btecame an Admiral. Then there was Rill Basacaz,
the Engineer Commander, whom we all liked. I appointed Wemyss as the Staff Ofiicor
Operations and he was thus responsible for arranging draft programmes and, akove

all, for keeping me informed of things official and unofficial..

We a2ll survived the work-up and finally sailed for the Mediterranean. On
the way out we did exercises and usually at 1600 hours (4 p.m.) we would have soxz>
small exercise such as dropping a lifehuoy and recovering it. I never let on to
my own First Lieutenant what was afoot as I tried to make everything as fair as
possible. - Fron tlme to t1me We would have a general drill ‘and on these occasions
I used to run then from another Shlp and never from Trafalgar. This was also to
demonstrate that I ‘was not giving my .own. Shlp any spec1al treatment. On one
occasion we plcked up the pilot and his crew of a ditched TFleet Air Arm plane and
had a very nlce letter from him after he had left us. tle also had quite an amusir:
time when at Malta. Several Spanlsh warshlps were in and Una and T went on hoar¢
one of them $eva drinks parﬁy. Tt was great fun and we could all drink sherry or
Spanish wine. It was sometimes a little hard to know what to say next and, on onc
occasioh;'Una said to one of the Spanish officers how nice it was to have really
good Spanish sherry out of proper Spanish sherry glasses, A day or two later w2
had, I think, four Spanish officers off to lunch. To my utter amazement they,
terrinly kindly, hrought us twelve Spanish sherry glasces with the ship's crest
on them." We still have most of them now. Oa another occasion we had Lord
Carringtpn,ﬂwpom‘I h&d&mgtlbggp?e,_fgrﬁguyrip_éf_pqq.ﬁ\ﬁg,.thmrI have always likz-.
transferred at sea from éhib to ship and was accompanied by Frank Twiss, a Pear
Admiral and the Naval Secretary.

Ve wvere going to be at Sliema, Malta on the 21st October, Trafalgar Day,
and I astied the Governor, Admiral Sir Guy Granthaxz, if he could spare the time to
dine with us that night. When he accepted we decided to take him from the jetty
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Admiral Sir Guy Grantham arriving on board H.M.S.Trafalgar, 1960
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in a wkhaler manned by sailors all dressed in Nelsonic rig. On arrival on “oard
the Ypiping par=y" was all similarly dressed. It was a great success. After
dinner somethingloccurred of which I knew nothing. We were standing on the fore -
castle when suddenly two boats all rigged as sailing ships of the Nelson era cams:
down-with the crews suitably dressed, and just off our rows there was a Gvattle
royal with Very lights and exploding fireworks. It was great fun and needless to
say this was all arranged by Henry Leach. After their display the crews all carms

on board for drinks and to peet Admiral Grantham.

Trafalgar had a short refit in Malta and Una came out for about three
vontns and we lived in a flat in Sliema. The boys also came out for their suwrazz
holideys. YWe hired a car, not exactly a Rolls Royce, and -aw much of the island
including going to Gozo where I, at any rate, slept in one of the most uncomforiahl-

heds ever,

After refitting we went to Naples and I was lucky enough to fly Una over.
Ve stayed at the Italian Armed Forces Club for only five shillings a day, which
wzs certainly a gift. During our stay we went to Pompeii, Herculaneum and also
took a troat to Capri. Later we went to Athens and Una flew over again. This tir
wve staved as guests of our Military Attache. TI.t ship also visited Narcelona
wnich we much enjoyed. It is curious in Spain because the evening meal is very

late, sometimes in the region of 11 p.m. or even later.,

When I joined the Navy meals were definitely poor and this resulted in
recruiting the less good material intoc the Cooking Department. I am frequently
anazed at the standard of meals in the llavy today. llow there has been a radical
change in the standard of food. This has meant that the morale of the coolis has
risen and has resulted in a definite improvement in the standard of coolt entries.
I have just been refreshing my memory on the Christmas dinner in Trafalgar.

It consisted of a good quality home-made soup; roast turkey with sausage stuffin--

7
paTmon; roast popatoes, garden peas and brussels sprouts; Caristwas rudding wi=zh
»uny sauce followed by fruit and nuis. Sowme years later T went to Lossiemouth

and, ‘eing the Director General Personnel Services, I wanted to see what the focd
vas like. I was astonished to see a large menu which included grilled stezk,
mushroomn omelettes and geveral other hot dishes with a wide choice of vegetahles.
There was also a good seleclion of sweets or cheese. I was surprised and delizhi:z"
to see that they had a codern nicro-wave coolter so that your steak or omelette won
not cooked hours before. I aslked the Supoly Commander how he had got the micre-
vave cooker and he said they had bhoupght it oul of coney received froa selling
"eash!" and a s:aall subscriptioz from the Welfare Fund. Good food is certainly =

ovlus,




I had a good inspection from Flag Officer Flotillas who was Desmond Dreyer

)
3
2

so0, after a little less than two years, we sailed home having much enjoyed

L3 COmMMISSion.

After Foreign Service leave I was appointed to H.M.S.Raleigh situated at
Torpoint just over the horder into Cornwall., H.M.S.Ganges at Shotley took in the
vounger entries, H.M.S8.Raleigh dealing with those retween seventeen and thirtv-two,

trough the majority would he hretween eighteen and twenty~five.

Una and I arrived at H.M.S.Raleigh and we were put up by the Captain of
H-1.8,Fisgard, John Pearsall., H.M.S.Fisgard was the Apprentices' Training College
vhich was situated immediately oprosite Raleigh. Next day I took over and moved
into Trevol House, the Captain's residence for H.M.3,Raleigh. Trevol was a lovely
Georgian house, though like so may similar naval liouses, it really needed central
hrating. Ye had a Petty Officer Steward, a Leading Cook and one Mechanical
Tngineer named Knight, a first <’ass chap. I was exceedingly lucky to catch the
P.0.Steward pinching my sherry on my second night. I did not punish hinm but {old

him that if I ever caught him again he would almost certainly be disrated to Stewcz’

I had never hreen involved in training before so theoretically I should have

found it a difficult job,but in fact I discovered that sound commonsense was all
that was really needed.

Entries arriving at H.M.S.Raleigh, if seamen, usually did a period of ahout
fourteen weeks of which they all had about a week at &ea. Those selected for the
Supply and Secretariat, Mechanical and Electrical Epgineering side usually did
only about six weels before going on to their specialist training establishments.
Tine was thus short. The establishment was divided into two parts, Part I which
dealt with introducing entries into the service, teaching them to look after
themselves and learning the outline of discipline which also covered parade traini::
~iysical training and sport. Part 2 dealt in more detail with the work of seamen,
mave time in boats, and two courses of expedition training. Divisions were held
every day and involved a parade with our Poyal Marine Band, an Inspection by

Divisional Officerc and prayers lasting not more than five rinutes.

Thke entries were, as exvlained above, in two groups and in charge of ecach
group was a Lieutenant Commander. Each group was itself sub-divided into divisico-
roch with a Divisional Officer. There was a llew Entry wing under a New Entry

N Ticer and it was here that new entries were issued with their uniform and given
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their first introduction to the Mavy. They were also medically examined and
given instruction in how the estahlishmmnt worked. If it was clear that a new
entry simply would not fit, the matter was referred to the Captain, and my usual
decision was that we would review the whole matter at the end of Part I. Usually,
rui not always, new entries did settle down after a few weeks. Meals were good
and on a self-service hasis. There was however one golden rule and that was that
every person had to finish what he had taken; there was no question of weing

permitted to dispose of it in the gash hin.

One of the interesting and challenging things a*out Raleigh was that all
entries tended to te uneasy and some did not really know what to expect. I rememrer
most clearly a discussion with the head of the Admiralty Interview Foard. He said
they had a very scruffy lookinz entry with long hair and perhtps notquite as clesn
as one would have wisned. The Admiral said to this young man, who seemed quite
bright, "Do you really want to get into the Royal MNavy ?" "Yes, Sir," he said.
"Then why didn't you have your hair cut and attempt to look a bit smarter?' ths
Admiral asked. PWell, Sir, if I had cut my hair, cleansd myself up and then failed
for the Mavy I would really have lost the entire respect cof my group, If, on the
other hand, you do accept me I shall have my hair cut and shall look really quite
smart. After discussion they decided to take this young man and I often wonder
how ne got on. Ve in Raleigh had somewhat sinilar circumstances to deal with.

The fact that everyone is in the same hroat, the chaps are busy and, apart fronm a

certain amount of shouting, the entries are {reated fairly, all helps them to settle.

In the estaklishment we had the Commander who was second-in-command, the
Training Commander who was entirely responsihle for the training, a Paymaster
Commander wio ran the accounts, stores, feeding, supplies and so on, a Dental
Commander and a Medical Commander. We had a full and complete syllahus and if an

ntry was not doing well he was brougnt before his CGroup Officer, then poszibly zen®

tefore the Training Commander, and souetimes sent on to me. Thougin we clearly had

it

sore failures the aumler was net creat and the zeneral nerzle of the establishment
was hizh, There was alvays a iew Entry Guard at Divisions and this I feel vas a
rood thing. Entries in the Guard Rknew that they would e watched all the tige
whila in the guard and there is no dousbt that they tried very hard., At Sunday

Divisions I inspected a fair rumher of divisions huf usually could not do them 2

-t
[ 5

{

frart from the hasic insiruction, time was allowed for gazmes and every entre
tad to tate rart. Muite a lot of tire was spent down on the estuary where evervoo:

rad to learn to use an oar as well as to rig, unrig and sail a three-in-one whaler.
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There were two outward hound organisations° The first and more elementary was at
Pier Cellars. Here a division plus two officers would be moved to a place on the
coast a few miles down the way, where they arrived on Friday evening and stayed
until 1late Sunday night. They fed themselves and were fully occupied on the
Saturday and Sunday. They might be doing elementary cliff climking or something
equally challenging in boats. Sometimes they had a sing-song in the evanings and
in nearly all cases they enjoyed it. The second Outward Bound Organisaiion vas
usually held on Dartmoor. The aim of these exercises was to demonstrate to these
young people that they could look after themselves without much difficulty. One

nad to h2 careful on Dartmoor as there are many swanpy areas.
BY

Very soon after nmy arrival when I was having a glass of heer in the wardroen
hefore lunch an elderly parson introduced himself to me. He was Canon Penskin
who had a parish net too far away at St.John's. He said "I do hope now you are
here,S5ir, that I shall continue to be allowed to be an Honorarj Member of the Mess .
Ye was a great friend of mine for many years. I remember we had about three or
four dentists and one particular one was thoroughly bad, I said to the Surgeon
Commander (D) "I really think that this particular chap is a bit beyond the pale.”
"It's all right, Sir, the matter is already under way." Not only was this vad

dentist removed from Raleigh, he was, thank goodness, removed from the Havy.

When at Raleigh I was also in charge of the Trevol Rifle Range which was
quite close. This was a superd fange and one used considerably by the Navy and
Royal Marines. I have for years been interosted in shooting and found to my
amazerrent that I was a member of the establishment'!s rifle team. There were many
items in the various competitions such as deliberate firing at different ranges,
snap shooting at targets only visible for short periods as well as rapid firing
at various ranges. In addition to rifle shooting there was revolver shooting.

I used to visit the range almost every morning for ahout fifteen or twenty minutes
“efore Divisions and as the revolver competition approached I did even rore.

T %new the Cantain of the Gunnery School was determined to win this competition
and I thought that ray-e I, a Salt lorse, could give him a surprise. FHere again
there vere various different kinds of shooting, including deliberate and rapid at
various ranges, snap, et¢. To &y great delight I won this competition which,
thouzh it pleased me, showed the gunnery world that two can pley at this gare.

T reard that the followinz year, after I had left, he did win the competiticn.

Once a year we had the Jueen's Birthday Parade which involved a parade of

the wiole of H.M.S.Raleigh and an inspection by some Adnirad. I asied Adniral
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Desmond Dreyer whom I knew quite well. He was Flag Officer Air then and arrived

in a glorious bright green helicopter plus of course Lady Dreyer, who I always

thought was worth a guinea a minute, %e had a dinner party that night to which we

nad invited the Captain of H.M.5.Fisgard and his wife, the Commanders of the two
estahlishments and some others. 1 hesitate to say that the dinner was one hundred [
ver cent perfect hecause the main dish which was duck was almost inedible, Though
e had an excellent chef he had not realised that the duck, or this particular
duck, would e thoroughly tough., However we all survived and we think everyone

really enjoyed it wvery much.

In this estahlishment we had two Church of England priests, the senior cne
neing Geoff Thornley. Geoff's elder trother was at Pangbourne with me but was
unfortunately lzilled in the war, Geoff I liked very much. He was a great character
and was friendly with all, He has now left the Navy and runs a parish near Lincoln.
Then we had one Rocan Catholic priest whom I also liked, He and Geoff got on very
well and there was an air of cooperation between the two clhurches. Finally we had
a rree Churchman, an excellent man called Earsley-White. Ue had I suppose abouf—
eight Confirmations a year and our bishop was the Bishop of Truro. Ve used to ring
the changes a bit by having Crediton from the Exeter area. Ve normally had ahout
five minutes of prayers at Divisions except on Sundays when we had Communion at
A aLn. aﬁd morning service at about 10.30 a.m., all those under training had to
attend morning service on Sundays. It always seemed to me that the priests had a

good chance of making headway while at Raleigh.

I was asked by the Admiralty to invite Prince Chula who lived not too far
awnr, He was a Siamese who had married an English girl and they had one child.
Uecause he had married someone who was not Siamese he was not entitled to ascend
the throne; he did, however, go Lack to Siam from time to time., He came to Raleis:

twice in my time and took Divisions on each occasion. Una and I went to his home
¢~ lunch once. Later on he died of cancer. Some time later when I was at the
Parsten Hospital at Sutton I saw that there was a ward named after Princess Chula
Tvidently tuis ward was given Hy Frincess Chula after her hushand's death, to
¢hildren suffering from cancer.

Strange things happen in life. One of the Lieutenant Cemrmanders, a keen
siooter, asked tlhe Adziral Superintendent to come over one evening to snoot duck.
Yo cnre and the party all weat down to a creek where they parked the Admiral's car.
“istorv does rot remerher how rany duck they shot, hut the great host, though a
seanan, had forsotten that the tide comes in at high water. 1 leave vou to imagine

what oceurred when ther returned to the Adniral's car to find it avashl
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Over Christmas we used to close down the establishment for about fourteen
days, leaving only a small team for security and to deal with emergencies. On
Boxing Might 1962, I was woken by Una's Mother who said that water was dripping
through the ceiling. I realised that a pipe tad probahly burst as it had been
snowing hard. I then went up to the loft to see what the situation was and T
rememher touching a pipe and gettiﬁg an electric shock, I came to the conclusion
that any further investigation in the loft was not worth it. In the early morning
in deep snow I went up to the canmp, which incidentally was a hutted camp with the
exception of a few small brick huildings. I quickly discovered that a2 very large
numher of radiators had hurst. Some had just cracked and some had actually rurst
hrealting many windows. I decided to ring up the Manager of Mavy Works who had Leen
instructed to drain the whole system. I got on to him and said that a num'er of
radiators had crac%ed and some had »urst and that, as his department had drained
them, T thouzht I had better let him know., '"Don't worry me zhout a few radiators,
after all it is holiday time." I replied "It's not just a few radiators, it is
over two hundred and fifiy and unless Havy Works gets moving we will have no heat
for a loag time.” To say the least of it he was shocked. In fact it took about
two months before every radiator had been repaired or replaced. I often wondsr
/nat happened to whoever it was from Mavy Works who was respvonsible for draining

the system.

One morning I could not see very well and eventually went to see our
Surgeon Commander who said he thought I ought to see the eye specialist in the Havy
Hospital in Plwmouth., This I did and he said he thought it was only a temporary
defect and would get better. IUe never told me that he had written on my medical
rapers ''suspected dissepinated schlerosis'. Not only was he utterly wrong hut it
was very naughty of him not to have informed me. It was in fact a tumour in the

head which appeared again in 1954,

The Comrander of Jaleigh was a clever engineer called Pat Turner. He and
Fis wife Margaret were very relpful. She had Leen hrought up in France and spoi-e
fluent French and was also good at Gerrman. The Training Commander was a very
nleasant persown hy tihe name of Hugh Janion. He did a splendid jor and, theusl:: var-
different fron the Commandar, thwer both sot on famocusly. Hugh was parried te
Yonica. Later Yugh not only bDecame a Captain but 2lso a Rear Admiral serving as

Flagz Cfficer, Royal Yacht cnd wos lmighted on wetirement from this appointren

All ships and estanlishments are inswvected fron time to time and, anar: “re-
i . .
the Inspecting Officer 5 own views, bis stalf will examine 12 ezoze detail the
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part of the ship or esta®lishment. The Commander-in-Chief's signalled report on
his inspection read as follows:

""Please convey to all concerned my congratulations on a very satisfactory
inspection. I was particularly impressed with the smartness and enthusiasm of all
on parade and the cleanliness of all working and living spaces despite the

difficulties arising out of ageing buildings. Well Done.¥

Heedless to say I made quite sure that everyone in the whole of Raleigh was

o

informed of the Commander-in-Chief's views., I, at any rate, was pleased.

There is =a sa&ing that veriety is the spice of life and, though some might
say that the regimental system iz hest, others, and that includes me, consider the
naval system also has its merits., !Ny next aprointment was as Captain of the Fleet
in the Far East. The Captain of the Fleet (COF), under the Chief of Staff, is
raesponsihle for running the personnel, accommodation and general administration of
the Fleet. I flew out to Singapore to serve under the Chief of Staff, Rear Admiral
Prian Trayne-Micholls, whom I already knew. Una followed a few weeks later. Ve
were accommodated in a new house, 128 Kings Avenue. The house was modern and,
though adequate, did not compare with the older houses, We had basically three
Chinese servants. There was Lim, who might possibly take drugs a bhit, his wife
Ah Koan and one other, plus of course the usual hangers-on., They were guite
adequate., One of the rather extraordinary things about Lim was that his idea of a
Chinese meal was rice with a few bits of meat or vegetables in it. To do what I
call a Chinese neal seemed to be beyond him. If, on the other hand, you wanted an
English dish suclh as roast beef, there was no difficulty. About the time I arrived
the Head of the Dockyard was about to leave and he with another dozen were given a
super Chinese meal on the mainland. I was lucky enough to be one of the dozen and
it really was one of the best Chimese meals I have ever eaten. As far as I can

reremher rice was served last when few of us could possibly eat any rmore.

Soon after I had takea over, a team of ‘Yitish politicians came out and vere
~iven a Coos' Tour and a shop window demonstration. The only two I can rememer
ware Dennis !lealev and Lord Shepherd. The latter lived at Oxted so we krew hiz a
“it since our children and his went to the same school. lie was a Labour peer having
irherited the title from his father, an eninent trades unionist. I quite liked

Malcoln Skepherd in rmoderation.

T was anazed at some of the guestions various Caplains of shirs would ask
h

me. Some were easy to answWer and some were less casy because they had a sormewhal
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tricky social slant., I remembér when the Delhi came in with the Admiral on board
wno was none other than Chatterji {"Chatterboxt)., I called on arrival as was the
custom and it was really rather nice to see him again, He said to me "Do you think
you could cash a small cheque for me, as the allowance from the Indian Government
is only three pounds which will hardly get me into Singapore.' 'low much?'" I aslked
"fell, I was hoping for seventy.” I said I would certainly cash it if it was on an
English hank, which it was, T got the seventy pounds and paid in his cheque as
fast as I could - it did not hounce. Una and I went on board for a drinks party
staying on for supper afterwards, I thouzgnt the drinks side would never end. It

must have heen about 2215 (10.15 peu

)

.) before we went down for supper. To ny
horror there were vet more drinits but at last we sat down for the meal and was I
glad. I think I was less glad when it arrived as there was almost nothing to eat.
T believe there were six or so of us and a dish came round containing four sardines
and a scrap of lettuce., There was eventually something else, but not too much

of it. Chatterji, who was clever, did in due course finish up as head of the

Indian Navy and I last heard be was in business in Delhi.

I had some good friends in Singapore as both Trian and Wendy RBrayne-
Nicholls were kind, Dicl and Steila Paige, the new head of the Naval Yard, were
great friends and Colin Madden, captain of one of the carriers was also very
friendly. Life was pretty busy and I was certainly enjoying it, The Mavy had a
sort of camp affair up in the hills known as Fraser Hills and we and a few others
all went up there for a few days. It was heaven because it was less hot and it did
not rain every day which seemed to be the drill in Singapore. Teing Captain of the
Fleet I thought I had better go to Hong Kong and so0 in due course Una and I flew
up, The plan, I thought, was for us to stay with the Commodore, George Simons,
for a few days and then to fend for ourselves. This plan only partially succeeded
as George would not hear of us staying anywhere except in his house. I had linown
Honz Kong fairly well for rany years but Ura had never been there before, It is
a fascinating place and one I love. The Commodore's house was very nice and ux»
towards the peall a bit. \Ue were lent a car and driver by a {riend of ry brother':

- the friend was nicknaned "China''.

As 5o often happens these doys there was soze industrial trouble in the
dockyard and steps had to *e taken to ensure that a1l European progerty was
saferunrded. I and one of the Admiralty civilians called lanman used to patrel
a heat at nighi. Though we were always expecting soneone to leap out of the %ushes
21l was quiet. The head man ir Singarore was a Chinese called Lee Xuan Yew (it

is ro% spelt like this hut this is the way it is prodommced). e was a clever man




- 95 -

who had been to one of our leading universities. There was a famous Admiral called
Lefanu. The story goes that he rang up Lee Kuan U and said ""Is that you Lee Kuan
You?!' '"Yes," was the renly, to which he answered "Well, this is Leff Fan Yew."

Our plans were to take a week's holiday amd fly up to Tangkok, Fut alas
it did not worl out this way. I was not seeing as well as I ougnht and saw the head

gi
naval doctor, Surgeon Captain Cujel, who said T should see the Army doctor as they
had¢ a hospital. 0ff I went and, after one consultation, he said he thought T ought
to see the RAT doctor as he had more experience in this sort of complaint, so off

I vent to see him. In the meanwhile Una was very anxious to go to Australia and

wa knew the General was fluying down there for ten days so we applied for a seat.

We were told it was full up. I, however, did not stop there and rang the General's
ADC and,after explaining the reasons, he said he would certainly give her a seat.
ilaving seen the RAF Doctor three times he said he did not feel he could do anytning
to help but felt sure it would improve. Because my papers had "suspected
disseminated schlerosis' on them tie three doctors all thought that this was the-
trouble. Tinally I went to see Admiral Dreyer and said to him that I must e
allowed to go home to see 2 tip~top neurologist and a tip-top opthalmic specialist
and could I please make a signal to that effect. He agreed ancd I wrole off a signal
seying that 1T was on my way home and that the necessary appointments must hHe made
with ecivilian specialists. I saw the reurologist very quickly, a charming man
called Dr. Gooddy. MHe, having looked a2t me and examined me, said that I should e
in hospital and within a few rours I was in the National liospital, Queen Square.

I ked already convinced (Ina that she must go on her Australian trip come what may.
After several minor operations and various tests I was operated on for a tumour -y
the ‘est surgeon for this sort of thing in the country. Una first heard yhat had
nappened when she got to Perth on her way back, She went on to Singapore, had a
“are twentv-four hours to pack up and get a plane back to England. On arrival at
ifcathrovw she was paged and there were my vrother John and Patrick with a sailor
driver. She was driven straicht to the hosnital and there I was, well tut very

drovusy.

In duc course I recovered and vas wnoved to Joun's house and had several
months sicl: leave. Meanuwhile we had aslied Geoff Fearce to sell our car which he
did awfudly well. 'When I had been excnined by the laval docters and seen Dr.Goodd:y
azain I was finally pronounced it enough te be given another ioh. On this occasiern
thov sent me to the Defence Neosearch Estahlishnment at West Tyfleet. T was suvpposed
te a2 an adviger “ut there did not seen much oprortunity to advise and I was rore

tran groteful to leave., 1 was then seat as the Senior MNaval Adviser on the Staff

[a——



of the team running Unison 1965. This was an annual eXercise neld in turn hy each

service. In 1965 it was the turn of the Royal Air Force to do the honours, Ve
started planning in London and I got on well with ny Army and RAF colleagues and
liked the Acting Air Vice-iarshall. My main jo» was to advise on naval natters

and arrange the static display. I thought that this display must he good and I had
all the resources of the Royal lNavy Lehind me. The piece de resistance was a model,
life size, of Polaris and there was nco douht that this was a grest attraction.
Avart from the static display there was a live one as well, Here the Fleet Air Arn

put on a magnificent show and one which most of the guests will remember.

I was now somewhere nsar ths top of the Caplains' List and the ptlicy was
to write to thasz nearing the lop some monihs before seying they would be promoted,
their chances were even or they would not be promoted, Ohserving that I had heen
very seriously i1l I did not rate my chances as being very high. In due course
I got the even chances letter but, just hefore the end of Unison, I heard that I was
to e promoted Rear-Admiral and-was I pleased. I had iwo nice letters at the end
of Unison. Oue was from the Tirst Sea Lord which read as follows: '""Just a line
to say how good it was to see you hack in circulation and what a thoroughly good
iinison vou and your colleagues produced. With all good wishes.! The other was
from Vice Admiral Sir Frank Noplins congratulating ue all on what a splendid Urison

we bad produced.

In due course I was appointed as Director General Personal Services. There
were in fact two other Directors Geieral, one for Training and one for lMaanins,
I was responsible to the Second Sea Lord and, strangely enough, this was Adniral
Deomond Dreyer, As DGNPS I was responsible for the appointment of all officers up
to and including Commander and had a team of Captains and Commanders to assist me,
or in other words to do the job. I was hasically responsible for all matters to

do with the personnel, other than Manning and Training. It was in manv ways a jaot

%

right up my street as personnel had always teen nearest to my heart. I visited
ro3t of the raval establishments in tre United Kingdor and listened carefully to
what the various Captains had to say as tiis is often a good way to learn wrat are

Can aa

the feelings of the Flect.

"his was really the third occasion that I had served under Desmond Drever

2]

ard Fe was to me a friend and I often tiirk that he played a part in jetiins

promoted to Rear Adairal.

o

*

I visited Lossiemouth in the North of Scotland. Though in thke far rortih
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it was an excellent Naval Adir Station as the weather, though usually cold, was
good. I was interested to meet the Petty Officer "'Hawks''. These birds were floun
off over the field every morning and sometimes several times in order to c¢lear other
Lbirds away as these could sometimes get into a jet engine with disastrous results.

I have never been a great Ydouble-hedder' but at Lossie there was the most enormous
double hed I have ever seen and even I could find no fault with it. It evidently
care out of the old Royal Yacht and bad, of course, to have extra large sheets and
*lankets. I was most impressed with this air station and I discovered that most

of the ratings who worked there enjoved it too.

I had by now served a“out thirty~three years in the Loyal Havy aad felt thai
I really knew guite a lot ahoui what went on in it. Rum was first introduced inte
the Navy in the days when the food for the whole shiv's company was based on ship's
biscuits, dried meat and fish and so forth. Very often the biscuits were ful} of
weevils, Rum helped everyone along. In the war everyone got one eighth of a2 pint
of rum a day. Chief and Petty OIfficers had it neat while the junior rates had ii
a3 grog, that is their quota of rum was mixed with three parts of water. You had
of course to be over tweniy to get your ration., llost people tool: rum and often
sold their tot for the highest price they could get. Mavy rum is very strong and
an eighth of a pint is quite a lot of rum. Believe me when I tell you that if you
have only your quota at say noon, you are less well equipped to deal with all the
sophisticated equipment in ships today. Not only this, in the war the Chief and
Petty Officers were entitled to buy wines and beer and the junior rates were entitl
to buy reer. This could mean that in addition to your tot of rum you could also
have at least a pint of “eer., If it happened to he your hirthday the custom was to
£o round the messdecks asking for "sippers'. I decided that we were now pasti run
and that it should “e a“olisued, I wrote a carefully worded paper explaining =
arguments in favour of the aholition of rum. Some of my contenporaries said that
I would never, ever get this through and, if I did, it night lead to rmajor
discinlinary trouble in the TFleet. I was not to Ye put off and the parer went
forward to the Doard of Adniralty which was split on it. The First Sea Lord saild
“George, as long as I an First Sea Lord you will never get rid of ruz," He was
right, but when Admiral Lefanu took over from him, the 3oard of Adairalty agree
that rum should “e stopped. There were about two murmurs hut, as I had alwzys
thought, the Fleet agreed. I cannot recall exactly what the compensation was it
it was in the resion of three aillion pounds. A nice sum but many thought
incufficient. Yith this roney the Mavy has created a splendid club at Soutiwich
near Porismoutr for the use of tihe Lower Peck. The flect is now far hetter equiprze

than it ever was, even if I sar so,




We also had a Fleet Amenity Tund and there was a problem as how hest to
invest this monsy. I thought carefully ahbout this and then recommended an up and
coming small merchant rank. Some doubt was expressed over ihis hut, afier the
Second Sea Lord had seen one of the directors, agreement was reached and they
became responsiltle, sulject to one or two minor points, for the investment of this
Fund, which I hzlieve was in the region of a million pounds. In ny time it did
well and I was interested to learn years later that Admiral Sir Frank Twiss's

son was now worlting in this firm.

I was lucky enougl: to have a superh office in the old Admiralty Puildingz

which loo'ed over the Horse Guards farade. ifuch goes on there end I had a really

Rl =

first class ssat. The Trooping of the Colour was always very vepular and on two
occasions we not only had many guests including children at the main function hut
atso for the dress rehearsal., It was alsc possihle for ihose attending to have

same refresnnents.

The hours Tor working in the Admiralty and Ministry of Defence were, I
understood, from 10 a.m. to & p.m. Many, such as I, preferred to start much earlier
than 10 a.m. and so I used to catch a train at sbout § a.m. Ty the time T had
walked from Victoria through St.Jemes's Park I would arrive at ahout 9 a.m. fThis
meant that I had at least fifty clear minutes before the hustle and hustle of
business. One morning when I was walking dowm to the station I slipped on sone
ice, fell and put my arm out. Luckily I was quite close to the doctor I supported
and was in hospital in Oxted fairly quickly. I was then told it would he about
two hours nefore the right doctor could arrive. It was so painful that I hegged
that something e done earlier. A few minutes later a doctor arrived and in one
tuist my arm was back hut I had to stay in hospital for the rest of the day. A day
later I vas on ry way down to Torpoint as I had been asked to talte Divisions and
sreal: at the dinner on Trafaloar Fight., The Cartain of H,{.5.Raleigh was a persen
called Dick White, a most adle mar who finally finished up as a full adamiral. A&l

went well and I hoped =y sreech went down fairly well.

As ICUDS I was also involved in the Roval Yawval Cinema Corroration. 1 had
a strong allv in this in tro shape of Mounthatten in the Yavy and a very pleasant

san called Jicmy Carreras whe was later knighted. Our prohles was to get the rest

rJ
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! most up to date fil=ms for as little money as possitle. As Jinzy Carreras was

e

n the fila world lie was gery useful. The maniger of our fil~ Corporation was a
pleasant ran called Dertie Pizev. On 2y retirecent, with a aan called lir.Walter

Wipston who had helped us a lot we were given a larewell dinner at the lirahelle.
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As a result of my tumoﬁr I ¢onsidered I was very lucky, not only
to have largely recovered, but also tc have been promoted to Rear Admiral,
I. thought trat I would only get one job in this rank and so it was no surprise
to learn that, after leaving the appointment of the Directo General Personnel
Services, I was to ne placed on the retired list. I suppose it 1s only natural
to feel a little disappointed tut, to he honest, I think T was in fact quite '

happy to leave.

My career in the Royal Navy had lasted thirty-five years during which
time I had travelled throughout the world. I had served the whole war at sea
and nad not had a scratch. Furthermore I had enjoyed my time in the service

ver:ry much.

I have often told young people that one is very lucky indeed to enjoy
one's working iife to the full, and there were of course for me times less

pleasant than otkers.

The main reason why I had enjoyed my seagoing life was due to two
things. First of all T had wanted to join the Navy and enjoyed it, and secondly

I was extremely happily married to Una who more than played her part.
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